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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and non-executive Director
Mr. Wu Po Sum
Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Bing
Mr. Chen Aiguo
Mr. Duan Juwei

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) (resigned on 14 June 2024)
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024)

Mr. Xu Ying

Mr. Siu Chi Hung (retired on 30 May 2024)

Mr. Liu Dianchen (appointed on 31 May 2024)

Ms. Yan Yingchun (appointed on 27 December 2024)

BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit committee

Mr. Liu Dianchen (chairman, appointed on 31 May 2024)
Mr. Siu Chi Hung (chairman, retired on 30 May 2024)
Mr. Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024)

Mr. Xu Ying

Ms. Yan Yingchun (appointed on 27 December 2024)

Remuneration committee

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (chairman, resigned on 10 October 2024)

Ms. Yan Yingchun (chairman, appointed on 27 December 2024)
Mr. Wu Po Sum

Mr. Xu Ying

Nomination committee

Mr. Wu Po Sum (chairman)

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024)

Mr. Xu Ying

Ms. Yan Yingchun (appointed on 27 December 2024)

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Cricket Square
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P.O. Box 2681
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Cayman Islands
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND
HEADQUARTERS IN CHINA

Room 212, 313, Block C
Jianye Office Building
Nongye East Road
Zhengzhou City

Henan Province

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

HONG KONG REGISTERED UNDER PART 16
OF THE COMPANIES ORDINANCE

Address with effect from 6 May 2024:

Units 1602—1605, 16/F,

Tower 2, The Gateway,

Harbour City,

Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon,
Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.centralchinamgt.com

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ho Wing Nga (FCG HKFCG (PE))

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
(UNDER THE LISTING RULES)

Mr. Hu Bing
Ms. Ho Wing Nga

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFEH

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Everbright Bank, Zhengzhou Tianyun Street Sub-branch
Bank of China, Zhengzhou Jianye Road Sub-branch

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

LEGAL ADVISORS TO OUR COMPANY

As to Hong Kong law
Hogan Lovells
lu, Lai & Li Solicitors & Notaries with effect from 1 August 2024

As to Cayman Islands law
Conyers Dill & Pearman

COMPLIANCE ADVISOR

Opus Capital Limited
Ignite Capital (Asia Pacific) Limited with effect from
6 December 2024

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Prism Hong Kong Limited

With effect from 15 October 2024

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

Share listing
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Ordinary Shares (as at 31 December 2024)

Issued shares: 3,865,617,028 shares
Nominal value: HK$0.01 per share

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT

ir@centralchinamgt.com
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Central China Management Company Limited (hereinafter referred
to as “CCMGT” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”, stock code: 9982.HK) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 22 October 2020 as an exempt company with limited
liability, the shares of which were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
31 May 2021.

The project management business of the Group is primarily carried
out by Henan Zhongyuan Central China City Development Limited
(“Zhongyuan Jianye”) and Zhongyuan Central China (Hainan)
Management Services Co., Ltd. (“Zhongyuan Jianye (Hainan)”),
the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. After years of
development, CCMGT has possessed independent capital,
construction and management capabilities, and embarked on a path
of independent, national, large-scale and professional development,
especially in the business model, operation logic, engineering
construction and partner resource management.

As of 31 December 2024, CCMGT signed contracts on project
management projects in 136 counties and above-county-level cities
in 8 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions, and
cooperated with 237 partners on 449 projects. Its cumulative GFA
under management stood at approximately 55.61 million sq.m., with
the repeat cooperation rate of 62%. It served more than 500,000
property owners. CCMGT has a well-established marketing and
management team. With its mature development capability and
brand superiority, it has been able to bring higher premiums to its
partners, with average selling prices 10% higher than those of its
competitors.

Currently, CCMGT has four business segments, namely commercial
project management, government project management, capital
project management and management consulting. Traditional
commercial project management is its core business, with extensive
cooperation resources, high business proportion and strong profit
realization. With business development, the Company has begun to
focus on the government project management business, which
involves the traditional government project management model, the
joint venture platform model, and the equity trading model. At
present, the Company has forged strategic partnerships with 30
government platform companies and 8 state-owned enterprises in
Henan, including Zhoukou Chengtou, Finance Bureau of Shangcai
County, and Henan Airport Group. The corresponding projects are
intended to be followed up on.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
LR &N

The CCMGT City Partner Council was established in December
2022. With like-minded city partners gathering together, the Council
promotes cooperation among member companies, and ultimately
strives to push forward urbanization and all-round social progress in
Central China. In the course of operation, the Council utilizes credit
and financing tools to help member companies in terms of projects
and funding and integrate resources, and at the same time creates
quality products and provides quality services for customers.
Eventually, CCMGT sees rapid growth and takes root in Greater
Central China.

Relying on years of experience, CCMGT officially released in
September 2023 a brand-new project management trust system
called CCMGT C Platform. CCMGT C Platform is a revolutionary
exploration and attempt by CCMGT on the basis of its increased
brand premium and management capability. It built an institutional
partnership platform, a financial linking platform, a digital
management efficiency enhancement platform, a supply chain
empowerment platform, and a think-tank sharing platform.
Meanwhile, it introduced innovative cooperation models in area
development, capital project management, government project
management, and project revitalization to establish cooperation
advantages, create value through cooperation, and jointly win the
trust of property owners, governments, capital markets, partners,
clients, and industry players.

CCMGT, which values the communication and exchange with
partners, upholds the work standards of “ensuring that every project
is a success, every partner is satisfied, and cooperation is
sustainable” in the process of project management and sets forth
the goal of “each project is profitable, and each risk is eliminated” to
provide partners with more quality services. Once CCMGT enters a
city, it creates a new image for the city via every product it builds for
that city; creates a new lifestyle for local people; improves the
construction level of the city together with local developers; pays
more tax to local governments; becomes a good propagandist of the
city by fitting into them.
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CCMGT successfully won the bid of Wonderful Future
Community, a government project management project in
Pinggiao, Xinyang.

FREEKRDPIRESFERERRAEBRFREZIAR -

20 March 3820H R )

CCMGT came sixth among the Top 30 Chinese Real Estate
Enterprises in terms of Comprehensive Strength in Project
Management in 2023 selected by CRIC.
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21 March 38218 - »

CCMGT was honoured with one of the 2024 China
Outstanding Project Management Operation Real Estate
Companies and one of the 2024 China Outstanding
Government Project Management Operation Companies by
the China Index Academy.
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During the selection of the 2024 Chinese Project Management
Enterprises in terms of Comprehensive Strength organized by
EH Think Tank, CCMGT was honoured as one of the Top 6
Chinese Project Management Enterprises in terms of
Comprehensive Strength in 2024, a 2024 Excellent
Commercial Project Management Enterprise and a 2024
Excellent Urban Renewal Project Management Enterprise.
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MAJOR EVENTS
SEXER

2 April 482H

Guandian unveiled the list of Excellence Index — 2024
Superior Performance of Real Estate. The Company ranked
5th and 4th in the Excellence Index — 2024 Superior
Performance of Real Estate Project Management and
Excellence Index — 2024 Superior Performance of Housing
Management in Government Project Management,
respectively.
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10 April 453 10H

The signing ceremony for the project between CCMGT and
Kaifeng Mingxin Real Estate Co., Ltd. was wrapped up.
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18 April 45 18H »

CCMGT was invited to participate in the Agent-Construction
Summit.
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MAJOR EVENTS
KEAFL

16 May 58 16H

The China Index Academy released the research results of
the Top 10 Listed Chinese Real Estate Developers in 2024,
and CCMGT ranked fourth among the Outstanding Listed
Chinese Real Estate Companies in Project Management
Operation in 2024.
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15 August 8A15H

EH Think Tank hosted the 2024 China Real Estate Industry
Brand Value Summit. CCMGT, which stands out with its
strong product power and promotes the research,
development and launch of new product lineups, was
awarded the 2024 Top 5 Brand of China Project Management
Companies by virtue of its outstanding products and services.
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13 September 94 13H

The press conference for 2024 China Real Estate Brand
Value, hosted by China Enterprise Evaluation Association,
Institute of Real Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and
Information Technology Research Institute of Beijing China
Index Academy, and co-organized by China Real Estate
Top10 Research Group, was held in Xiong'an New Area.
CCMGT was named the 2024 Leading Brand of China Real
Estate Project Management Companies, 2024 Leading Brand
of China Real Estate Government Project Management
Companies, 2024 Leading Brand of China Real Estate
Residential Building Development — Green Project
Management by virtue of its robust business operation,
excellent deliverability, good reputation, constantly innovative
business model and continuously rising brand influence.
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14 September 98148 0

CCMGT successfully won the bid of the government project
management project on Huasheng Road in Shanggqiu City. It
will render full-process services covering development and
management for the client.
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28 November 11528H

The signing ceremony for CCMGT’s 15 projects and its
partner appreciation meeting were wrapped up in
Headquarters Gulf in Zhengzhou. The attendees include Mr.
Chen Aiguo, the rotating chairman of the CCMGT City Partner
Council, Mr. Duan Juwei, Mr. Xu Quanyu, Mr. Cao Wei, Mr.
Shi Hongwei, Mr. Jiao Qiang, Mr. Guo Wuquan, Mr. Liang
Zhijie and Mr. Li Yenmin, members of the Council, 21
CCMGT’s high-quality partners, Chairman Hu Bing, President
Wang Jun, Vice President Jin Feng, Vice President Song
Ziyu, Assistant President Shi Fan and relevant business
leaders of CCMGT.
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2024 CHINA OUTSTANDING
PROJECT MANAGEMENT
OPERATION REAL ESTATE
COMPANIES

2024 hEEMEREES
BELE

March 2024 China Enterprise Evaluation
Association, Institute of Real Estate
Studies of Tsinghua University and
Information Technology Research Institute
of Beijing China Index Academy
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2024 CHINA OUTSTANDING
GOVERNMENT PROJECT

MANAGEMENT OPERATION
REAL ESTATE COMPANIES
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March 2024 China Enterprise Evaluation
Association, Institute of Real Estate
Studies of Tsinghua University and
Information Technology Research Institute
of Beijing China Index Academy
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On 20 March 2024, CRIC Research Centre
released the list of the Chinese Real Estate
Enterprises in terms of Comprehensive
Strength in Project Management in 2023.
CCMGT came sixth among the Top 30
Chinese Real Estate Enterprises in terms
of Comprehensive Strength in Project
Management in 2023.
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In March 2024, the Company was
honoured as one of the Top 6 Chinese
Project Management Enterprises in terms
of Comprehensive Strength in 2024, a
2024 Excellent Commercial Project
Management Enterprise and a 2024
Excellent Urban Renewal Project
Management Enterprise.
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In April 2024, CCMGT ranked 5th in the
Excellence Index — 2024 Superior
Performance of Real Estate and came 4th
in the Excellence Index — 2024 Superior
Performance of Housing Management in
Government Project Management.
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In May 2024, the Company ranked fourth
among the Outstanding Listed Chinese
Real Estate Companies in Project
Management Operation in 2024 at the
press conference for 2024 China Real
Estate Brand Value, hosted by China
Enterprise Evaluation Association, Institute
of Real Estate Studies of Tsinghua
University and Information Technology
Research Institute of Beijing China Index
Academy, and co-organized by China Real
Estate Top10 Research Group.
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On 15 August, EH Think Tank hosted the
2024 China Real Estate Industry Brand
Value Summit where attendees discussed
the trends about the real estate sector and
brand development. CCMGT, which stands
out with its strong product power and
promotes the research, development and
launch of new product lineups, was
awarded the 2024 Top 5 Brand of China
Project Management Companies by virtue
of its outstanding products and services.
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On 13 September 2024, the press
conference for 2024 China Real Estate
Brand Value, hosted by China Enterprise
Evaluation Association, Institute of Real
Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and
Information Technology Research Institute
of Beijing China Index Academy, and co-
organized by China Real Estate Top10
Research Group, was held in Xiong’'an
New Area.
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CCMGT was named the 2024 Leading
Brand of China Real Estate Project
Management Companies, 2024 Leading
Brand of China Real Estate Government
Project Management Companies, 2024
Leading Brand of China Real Estate
Residential Building Development —
Green Project Management by virtue of its
robust business operation, excellent
deliverability, good reputation, constantly
innovative business model and
continuously rising brand influence.

PREXREEENCELCE BFOR
NEAURBRTNTF O A8 A5
¥BEEX BERANREBYE N K&
[2024F B St = X R<E St b8 ] ~ [2024
FEEMEBRFREELRIE] - [20245
BEEMEFTERSEEBELRE — &6
R =m@gEsE.

1



CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « FIREZZFRA T )

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

FEHWE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company, |
am pleased to present a review of the Group’s results for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”) and the outlook for the future.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT AND INDUSTRY
BACKGROUND

In 2024, the global economy showed some resilience amidst
multiple challenges. Despite geopolitical tensions, volatile energy
prices and supply chain bottlenecks, policy fine-tuning and
technological innovation in major economies have provided new
impetus to economic growth. Under the combined effect of policy
regulation, economic transition, demographic change and
technological innovation, the real estate industry will enter a new
development stage with both challenges and opportunities.
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China’s economy maintained medium-to-high speed growth, and the
focus of real estate policies shifted from strict regulation in the past
to support for reasonable housing demand, especially for rigid
demand and improvement. The Chinese government has further
optimized the policies of purchase and loan restrictions, lowered the
threshold for home purchase, and at the same time increased its
support for indemnificatory housing and rental housing, so as to
promote the stable and sound development of the real estate
market. However, the decline in income growth and weak consumer
confidence constrained the growth in domestic demand. The real
estate market remained in a deep correction trajectory, putting
greater short-term downward pressure on all fronts.

Preliminary statistics show that the planned GFA of newly contracted
projects of project management companies in 2024 was estimated
to be 165 million sq.m., which remained high. The market
concentration of the leading companies lingered above 50%. In
2024, more than 100 companies entered the realm of project
management, further intensifying competition. From the point of
view of various project management companies, leading players
developed steadily and those in the middle part were on the rise.

REVIEW OF RESULTS FOR 2024

CCMGT has always adhered to the Greater Central China business
development strategy and stepped up presence in Central China. In
2024, the Company further increased the proportion of government
project management and continually optimized its business structure
to expand its business territory by signing strategic cooperation
agreements with government platform companies and state-owned
enterprises. The successful implementation of the innovative city
partnership model allowed CCMGT to link resources, which pushed
forward the urbanization process in Greater Central China.

The area of the Company’s contracted projects amounted to 2.52
million sg.m. in 2024, a year-on-year decrease of 64.8%, which was
largely attributed to the complicated and volatile market conditions.
It inked strategic cooperation agreements with 30 platform
companies and 8 state-owned enterprises. CCMGT had 29
contracted government project management projects, with a
contracted GFA of 3.8883 million sq.m.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

EFBRQERGRREBERNFE  FHETE
BREHCBENBEATEAIRAEER
FHROERRABMAERT R BFE—FE
ERE RERK REBEFIE RESMAY
REEERF HEEENXFHE MMegFEi
ETSNIRERZER BERERAZREE

HEEELRBHINAFTER FHEMSEE
REAE BT HERRRKNEHTITES -

20245 MFHat REEEREBRBFRAOR
EEEIETER /516,5008 F 75 K - BB HAR
Fraf BAf XM ISR EHRHES0% A Lo
20245 EAHBARLESERNERL  HFHE
—HNE - REEERRBEERE BRE2RH
SERRISMR - P AU AV AS o

2024 F R FELE D EE

R AR R (AR R E R R
B EME 20245 T RREBBRBGT A
AFE - BACEITMEA EREA RS ARE
MR T BUFREAE B - B (L R
R EHIRE - I T A B AR R T E
bR TR REEE RSB KRR
K o R S A7 o

2024F N R BB ST FE N E2528 F 75 K - [
[£20234F 5 164.8% T EX R MZ BN TIHIR
BEE - HA R HIORFEAF 8KELE
FIBLRE S E s - REr 2 020 BUN R EEE
24 E 5388.838 T 7 K o

13



CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « FIREZZFRA T )

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

In 2024, the Company’s contracted sales on behalf of its partners
amounted to approximately RMB13.4 billion, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 54.6%, and contracted sales GFA was
approximately 2.17 million sq.m. Its opening inventory sales were
RMBS8.74 billion in 2024, with a sales rate of 48.5%. Compared to an
average level of 40% in third- and fourth-tier cities, the Company’s
inventory digestion rate was 8.5% higher than that of its peers.

CCMGT achieved significant improvements in its products and
services in 2024. The Company improved the operation
management effectiveness and built iconic projects in Greater
Central China, setting a new industry benchmark in the face of
adversity. CCMGT regards product realization as its core
competitiveness and adheres to its core values. In 2024, it delivered
6.2 million sq.m. of approximately 47,000 apartments, with an early
delivery rate of 39% and an average of 95 days ahead of schedule
for a single batch. With high quality and efficient deliverables, the
Company spared no effort to fulfil its promises to property owners
and the society.

CCMGT has long been committed to building a service-oriented and
efficient organizational system. In order to better adapt to the
development of the industry, it promotes changes in the
organizational management structure, continuously improves the
organizational resource integration capability, and takes a series of
measures to set up a service-oriented management team with
innovation resource integration capability. It aims to address market
challenges, strengthen its core competitiveness and ensure its
leading position in the industry amid fierce market competition.

In 2024, CCMGT proactively addressed market challenges and won
a number of honours through solid and stable operations and refined
management, including 2024 China Outstanding Project
Management Operation Real Estate Companies, 2024 China
Outstanding Government Project Management Operation
Companies, Top 30 Chinese Real Estate Enterprises in terms of
Comprehensive Strength in Project Management in 2023 (ranked
sixth).
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OUTLOOK FOR 2025

Looking forward to 2025, benefiting from the loose policy, the real
estate industry will show a more accelerated stabilization in 2025,
the industry competition will get increasingly fierce, residential
products will further return to the residential attributes, the project
management industry will enter a new stage of high-quality
development, and the “products and quality” will become the core of
the market competition.

In the future, CCMGT will continually deepen the improvement in
management quality and efficiency, strengthen its leading position in
the industry, bring growth momentum via product innovation, turn a
“good product” into a new value driver, comprehensively improve
design innovation, product display, cost control, scenario creation,
sales target, partner satisfaction and more, and adhere to the
concept of “quality is the best marketing”, so as to accelerate the
product sales of cooperative projects and capital withdrawal. In the
meantime, efforts will be made to improve the management
efficiency, adapt to the new development trends of the industry,
optimize the cost structure, broaden sources of income, enhance
cost savings, and rely on management effectiveness to create more
“good products” for the society.

In the face of the challenges and opportunities that coexist in the
project management industry, CCMGT will continually regard high-
quality development as its core strategy, deepen the Greater Central
China Strategy, take “Rejuvenation, Reconstruction, and Symbiosis”
as the driving force, strengthen the product power enhancement and
product innovation, and construct a risk prevention and control
mechanism, so as to lay the foundation of brand reputation with
project reputation. Moreover, the Company will strengthen the
industrial synergy, meet the diversified needs of its partners with
innovative cooperation models, enhance the service capabilities,
and establish deeper cooperation with partners, governments,
platforms, and the capital market, in an effort to achieve greater
strategic goals, become a trustworthy project management service
provider, and create greater value for shareholders.

Wu Po Sum
Chairman
24 March 2025
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MERE

SUMMARY OF INCOME STATEMENT

2z REE

For the year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BILEE
2024 2023 Changes
20244 2023%F b))
Increase/
RMB’000 RMB’000 (decrease)
ARET AR¥TFIT #iCRD)
Revenue L ON 252,026 468,377 (46.2)%
Net profit S F 73,218 201,237 (63.6)%
Net profit margin FFEE 29.1% 43.0% (13.9)%
Basic earnings per share BRERAF
(RMB cents) (AR%9) 1.72 5.59 69.2%
Diluted earnings per share BREER N
(RMB cents) (AR D) 1.70 5.59 69.6%
SUMMARY OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL B AR IR R E
POSITION
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023 Changes
20244 2023%F o)
Increase/
RMB’000 RMB’000 (decrease)
AR¥ET T AR¥TFIT EiCRD)
Total cash and cash equivalents ReARECEEMBE 2,484,045 1,835,783 35.3%
Total assets BwEE 3,092,682 3,125,571 (1.1)%
Total liabilities wEE 543,096 706,356 (23.1)%
Total equity iR 2,549,586 2,419,215 5.4%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

S

OPERATION REVIEW

Business Overview

Over the past year, CCMGT responded positively to the
complex and volatile market conditions and maintained its
leading position in China’s real estate project management
services sector with its strong resilience and excellent
management capabilities.

During the Year, the Company signed a total of 449 project
contracts, with a contracted gross floor area (“GFA”) of
55,610,000 square metres (“sq.m.”). Contracted sales
amounted to RMB13,404 million, and sales GFA was
2,174,200 sq.m.. Benefiting from business collaboration and
resource integration, it acquired land plots, sold out properties
and delivered them within the year. It fully demonstrates the
Company’s efficient operation capability and excellent project
management. These achievements not only embody its
continuous influence and competitiveness in the market, but
also lay a solid foundation for its sustainable development in
the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBWE S

Macro Environment

In 2024, due to the chaotic external environment and growing
internal challenges, it was more difficult for the economy to
maintain stable growth. The global economic recovery was
weak, protectionist barriers were high, geopolitical conflicts
and international trade frictions occurred frequently, effective
domestic demand remained insufficient, and the country was
in the throes of a transition from old to new growth drivers. The
economy slowed down in the second and third quarters, and
at one point faced the unfavorable situation of high downward
pressure, which increased the difficulty to achieve the
expected targets. In the face of the complex situation, the PRC
central government strengthened macro-control in the fourth
quarter and made extra efforts to introduce an incremental
policy package to drive a significant economic upturn and
effectively boost social confidence, which not only facilitated
the realization of the annual target, but also laid a good
foundation for the development in 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBFWER SN
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In 2024, the services sector was relatively sluggish, and the
real estate and construction sectors turned around weakly.
The pickup in external demand supported the relative
stabilization of aggregate demand, but prices remained low
amid insufficient domestic demand. Domestic demand growth
was constrained by a fall in income growth and weak
consumer confidence. The real estate market remained in a
deep correction trajectory, putting greater short-term downward
pressure on all fronts. The endogenous contraction in social
financing has yet to be reversed.

Despite continued efforts on the policy front, with governments
at all levels releasing a series of policy combinations for the
property market, such as lowering down payment ratios,
removing the lower limit on housing loan interest rates, and
establishing a real estate financing coordination mechanism,
the year-on-year contraction in real estate investments, sales,
and project starts has yet to be fundamentally reversed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBWE S

Project Management Market

In 2024, the area of the properties involved in contracts in the
project management industry totaled 220 million sq.m.,
representing a year-on-year increase of 27%. The magnitude
of increase fell 26% year-on-year, returning to a stable level.
More than a hundred companies set foot in the project
management industry which saw a slowdown, competition
intensification and enterprise differentiation following gradual
“saturation”.

From the perspective of project management companies, the
leading real estate developers still developed steadily, but their
market shares were gradually eroded by medium-sized project
management companies and new entrants, resulting in
increasingly fierce competition in the industry. In the meantime,
the contract-signing threshold for the top 10 companies in the
project management industry was raised to 8 million sq.m.. As
a result of the growth in government project management and
intensified market competition, the profitability of project
management companies and the proportion of fees charged
went down. As to more than 40% of the newly signed projects
in 2024, the project management fee rate was merely 1%—2%,
the lowest level in recent years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2024, CCMGT proactively addressed market challenges
and won a number of honors through solid and stable
operations and refined management. In March, it won six
honors, namely 2024 China Outstanding Project Management
Operation Real Estate Companies, 2024 China Outstanding
Government Project Management Operation Companies, Top
30 Chinese Real Estate Enterprises in terms of
Comprehensive Strength in Project Management in 2023
(ranked sixth), Top 6 Chinese Project Management Enterprises
in terms of Comprehensive Strength in 2024, the 2024
Excellent Commercial Project Management Enterprise and the
2024 Excellent Urban Renewal Project Management
Enterprise, for its good service ability, innovative business
models, and rising brand influence. In April, CCMGT ranked
5th in the Excellence Index — 2024 Superior Performance of
Real Estate and came 4th in the Excellence Index — 2024
Superior Performance of Housing Management in Government
Project Management for its outstanding operation and service
capabilities. In May, the Company ranked fourth among the
Outstanding Listed Chinese Real Estate Companies in Project
Management Operation in 2024. In August, CCMGT was
named the 2024 Top 5 Brand of China Project Management
Companies by virtue of its outstanding product power. In
September, the Company was awarded three honors, namely
2024 Leading Brand of China Real Estate Project
Management Companies, 2024 Leading Brand of China Real
Estate Government Project Management Companies, 2024
Leading Brand of China Real Estate Residential Building
Development — Green Project Management.

Greater Central China Strategy

CCMGT has always adhered to the Greater Central China
strategy and stepped up its presence in the region, committed
to building high-quality real estate projects in Central China.
By entering into strategic cooperation agreements with
government platform companies and state-owned enterprises,
the Company further increased the proportion of government
project management and continually expanded its business
territory. The successful implementation of the city partnership
model deepened cooperation among member companies, thus
jointly advancing urbanization. CCMGT provided a full range
of integrated services for real estate development and
operation, including branding, management, service and
operation, which has further enhanced its brand influence in
Central China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBWE S

Project Development During the Year

During the Year, 31 new project management projects were
signed with an additional contracted GFA of 2,517,200 sq.m.,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 64.8%. Among them,
26 new projects were in Henan province, with a newly
contracted GFA of 2,113,000 sq.m.. There were 5 contracts
signed for provinces other than Henan with a newly contracted
GFA of 404,200 sq.m. The contracted sales for projects under
the Group’s management amounted to RMB13,402 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 54.6%. The
contracted sales GFA stood at 2,174,243 sq.m., a year-on-
year decrease of 53.3%. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
had 248 projects under management with a GFA of
29,869,665 sgq.m., of which 215 projects with a GFA of
26,280,672 sq.m. were in Henan and 33 projects with a GFA
of 3,588,993 sq.m. were in provinces other than Henan.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CCMGT focused on the third-and fourth-tier markets in Greater
Central China, and expanded its footprints to a total of 136
counties and cities in and outside Henan, including 107 in the
province (17 prefecture-level cities, 1 direct county-level city,
and 89 counties and county-level cities) and 29 in provinces
other than Henan (6 prefecture-level cities and 23 county-level
cities).

Future Business Plan and Strategy

Benefiting from the optimization of the policy environment and
the gradual stabilization of market demand, the project
management industry is facing a period of transition from scale
expansion to high-quality development. CCMGT will
continuously deepen its Greater Central China Strategy, pay
close attention to the market dynamics, and flexibly adjust its
strategies to ensure the smooth implementation of various
plans and strategies.

Looking into the future, CCMGT will carry out the core
strategies of innovation and expansion, strength rebuilding,
teamwork and quality delivery, and construct an all-round,
multi-level cooperation ecosystem with partners, governments,
platforms and the capital market, with a view to bringing
together the strengths of all parties in an effort to realize the
Company’s strategic goals and create greater value for its
shareholders:

1.  Use innovative expansion models and stimulate
diversified cooperation

In order to satisfy customer demands and promote
diversified cooperation, CCMGT intends to select pilot
cities in Henan as innovation-driven development zones.
It will adopt innovative models in the principles of project
management service fee allocation, development team
formation, project management and so forth, and
increase internal and external development incentives to
achieve rapid project implementation. The three
innovative models it will initially use are internal and
external co-innovation, internal partnership, and external
partnership.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBFWR S
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Strengthen panoramic management and fine control
to re-establish its advantageous leading position

In the future, CCMGT will continuously strengthen
panoramic management and fine control to re-establish
its advantageous leading position. On the one hand, the
Company will market “good products” to drive up sales,
build up its strengths in design innovation, product
presentation, cost control, scenario creation, sales target
and partner service satisfaction, put into practise the
concept of “products are the best marketing behavior”
and achieve rapid sales and capital recovery. At the
same time, it will strengthen internal management,
promote multiple competences in a single role, optimize
cost paths, and open up new sources of income and cut
down on expenses, in order to meet the needs of
industry development and business breakthroughs. On
the other hand, CCMGT will rely on its accumulated cost-
control capabilities and its strengths in various market
segments to create benchmark products. Efforts will be
made to continuously expand the advantages of the
bidding and procurement committee, coordinate the
supply chain, integrate cost reduction measures
throughout the whole process, open up the product
system, and establish the whole-process control
standards based on the product system, aiming to cut
costs, improve quality and increase efficiency, and lead
the high-quality development of the project management
industry.

Optimize team performance and pass on the
corporate spirit

CCMGT will optimize staffing to meet business needs,
implement a management model of reducing redundancy
and increasing efficiency, and enhance decision-making
and execution efficiency to ensure that the team focuses
on key business areas to drive growth. At the same time,
the Company will enhance expense control, refine the
cost structure, construct an incentive mechanism linking
expenses to performance, and promote lean
management. Additionally, it will further strengthen
cultural leadership, carry forward the heroism, and
stimulate endogenous motivation, ensure the efficient
and effective implementation of the Group’s decisions
and deployments, and promote common progress of
teams, so as to achieve long-term development of the
Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

4.  Control risks and improve quality to build a bright
future

Continuous actions will be taken to strengthen the
process control and resolve front-end risks. CCMGT will
gradually dissolve risks while developing steadily,
achieve both high-quality development and high-level
security, revitalize stock assets with the use of real estate
financing coordination mechanism, and inject new vitality
into projects. It will conduct precise classification and
implement hierarchical treatment strategies for risky
projects, and hold regular meetings to ensure that issues
are resolved in a timely manner. At the level of capital
control, strict control will be carried out for projects with
capital shortage and delay to ensure that funds are
earmarked for specific purposes, which will provide a
solid guarantee for the smooth progress of projects. With
focus on deliverability, CCMGT will connect all business
lines and set up a multi-dimensional and three-
dimensional evaluation system from multiple
perspectives. While maintaining stability, the Company
will gradually seek transformation and upgrading to make
“Good Houses” and strive to offer a higher quality living
experience.

OUTLOOK

In the face of challenges and opportunities in the project
management industry, CCMGT will firmly embark on the path
of high-quality development. Continuing to deepen its Greater
Central China strategy, CCMGT, driven by “Rejuvenation,
Reconstruction, and Symbiosis”, will strengthen brand building,
solidify product quality, and enhance the risk prevention and
control mechanism to ensure that each project will become the
cornerstone of reputation. Synchronously, efforts will be made
to innovate the service model, so as to strengthen the
collaboration between the upstream and downstream of the
industry chain to meet the diversified needs of partners. In the
future, CCMGT will continually expand its business boundaries
and strive to become a trustworthy project management
service provider via the innovation in key factors such as
business models, management methods, and operational
approaches.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

For the Year, the Group achieved:
Revenue

The Group generated revenue and received management service
fees from the provision of project management services. Principal
factors affecting revenue include the business size, number of
projects under management and total contracted GFA, milestones
and progress of projects under management as well as the sale
strategies. During the Year, revenue amounted to RMB252.0 million,
representing a decrease of 46.2% from RMB468.4 million in 2023.
The decline in revenue was due to lower service fees charged by
the Company as a result of the continued downturn of the domestic
real estate market and the fact that the increase in new project
development was not as significant as the decrease in completed
projects. Below is the Group’s revenue divided by whether projects
under management are based in Henan Province:

Gk PR
AEERNEFENER:
N

AEEGREFERZRSES WA KIER
EERBEE FERANETEZRARBIEESRRE
EEBEHERBEEANBREME EEEE
HEMMREEURBERE RAFEAN I
ABARM252.08 &L H2023F M AR
468.48 B LML T [£46.2% - WA R% - 2E A
BEANEHETSFHE 17 Q8 REEREUER
BERTRRERFIEE AREMNEETRELHTK
BERVBE RREETEERGURTESE
DHAEBRABRIT

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023 Changes
2024F 2023F 25
% of % of Increase/
RMB’000 revenue RMB’000 revenue (decrease)
ARBTT HBABESE ARETT BRAESL B/ (HD)
Projects in Henan province AREER 226,361 89.8% 435,116 92.9% (48.0)%
Projects outside Henan province F&/M B & IMIIE B 25,665 10.2% 33,261 7.1% (22.8)%
Total At 252,026 100.0% 468,377 100.0% (46.2)%
Other Income Hibr A

Other income is primarily interest income on financial assets
measured at amortised cost and government grants. During the
Year, other income amounted to RMB20.9 million, representing a
decrease of RMB53.0 million or 71.8% as compared with that of
RMB73.9 million in 2023. This was mainly due to a decrease in
interest income on advances to third parties during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Personnel Cost

Personnel cost is the Group’s largest cost item, which primarily
comprises base salary and bonus, social insurance and other
benefits as well as equity-settled share-based payments by Central
China Real Estate Limited (previously the holding company of the
Group) and the Company paid to the Group’s employees. Such cost
does not include salary, bonus, social insurance and housing funds,
and other benefits and fees paid to the Group’s employees who are
seconded to relevant project companies in connection with real
property development projects managed by us, which are borne by
respective project owners and paid by the project owners to the
seconded personnel directly. During the Year, personnel cost
amounted to RMB101.5 million, representing a decrease of 9.6%
from RMB112.2 million in 2023. The decrease was primarily due to
our strict control over personnel cost and expenses during the Year.

Other Operating Expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses mainly comprise corporate
overhead and business entertainment, office and travelling
expenses. During the Year, other operating expenses amounted to
RMB47.2 million, representing a decrease of RMB11.4 million or
19.4% from RMB58.6 million in 2023, which was mainly due to the
Company's strict control of various operating expenses.

Income Tax

During the Year, income tax amounted to RMB20.5 million,
representing a decrease of 55.3% from RMB46.0 million in 2023.
The effective income tax rate was 21.9%, which was 3.3 percentage
points higher than the effective tax rate of 18.6% for 2023, mainly
due to changes in the income structure of the Company with
different tax rates.

Profit for the Year
During the Year, net profit amounted to RMB73.2 million,

representing a decrease of 63.6% from RMB201.2 million in 2023,
which was mainly due to the decrease in revenue.
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Trade and Other Receivables

As of 31 December 2024, trade and other receivables amounted to
RMB469.9 million, representing a decrease of 58.1% from
RMB1,121.5 million as of 31 December 2023. This was mainly
attributable to repayment from advances to third party.

Contract Assets

Contract assets amounted to RMB98.4 million as of 31 December
2024, representing a decrease of 21.5% from RMB125.3 million as
of 31 December 2023, mainly due to lower revenue recognised.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables amounted to RMB222.5 million as of 31
December 2024, representing a decrease of 25.9% from RMB300.4
million as of 31 December 2023. It was primarily because the 2023
interim dividend of RMB124.9 million has been paid during the year
of 2024.

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities amounted to RMB222.3 million as of 31
December 2024, representing a decrease of 28.3% from RMB309.9
million as of 31 December 2023. Contract liabilities represent the
payments received before the related project management service
is provided. The decrease during the Year was primarily due to a
decrease in payments received.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Use of Proceeds from the Listing

The ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”) were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 31 May 2021 (the “Listing”), with a total of
328,172,000 Shares issued pursuant thereto. After deducting the
underwriting fees and relevant expenses, net proceeds from the
Listing amounted to approximately HK$915.8 million (equivalent to
RMB751.4 million). The following table sets out the intended use

and actual use of the net proceeds as of 31 December 2024:

THBFWER SN

LHRBERERRER

KRaElEB ([BRH])M2021F5H31H K
EEBHAEXZMAERLAE (THRA)ERE
m(lEtwm]) ERELTEHTAEH
328,172,000z tn I B E R MEBERAX
% EWATSRIEFENA5.8EEB T (BE
RARBTIS14BE L) o TRIIREFE2024F12
AMBABHEFENETHEAMNER AR

Unutilised
Actual use  net proceeds
Allocation Percentage  Net proceeds as of as at
of use of the oftotalnet  used during 31 December 31 December
Use of proceeds net proceeds proceeds the Year 2024 2024 Timetable
R2024%
B22024% 12A31A
FRGE HARFRE EER  12A3AH XEAMH
REN  REREN  BANAKE BERER FERE
FISRERE 2ERAR BOl REFR (P BE  BEX
RMB million % RMB million RMB million RMB million
AREBET % AREBET AR¥BET AR¥RER
1. Expanding into new markets in the “Greater 300.5 40.0% 6.1 574 2431
Central China” region and new service offerings
RR[KRE]IENHTIENNRE
1.1 Setting up of new regional branch offices 75.1 10.0% 05 55 69.6  One to five years
B[R NG after Listing
i Sk
1.2 Recruitment of new staffs to new branches 180.4 24.0% 34 285 151.9  One to five years
REPNHAIRARENER after Listing
thR-En%
1.3 Brand promotion 22,5 3.0% 22 20.2 2.3 Onetofive years
IR E after Listing
i Sk
1.4 Recruitment of new staffs and efforts in 22.5 3.0% - 3.2 19.3  One tofive years
developing new service offerings (including both after Listing
government projects and capital projects) L% -EnE
RENERYBNAERRBEY (RERH
BEARERER)
2. Pursuing strategic investments and acquisitions 270.6 36.0% - - 2706 Onetofive years
ETERRENYE after Listing
thk-En%
3. Enhancing the information technology system 105.2 14.0% 0.5 122 93.0  One tofive years
MEEERE RS after Listing
thR-E0%
4. General working capital 75. 10.0% - 75. - One to two years
-REEES after Listing
thk-E2F
Total &3t 7514 100.0% 6.6 1447 606.7
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Subscription of New Shares

On 18 November 2022 (after trading hours), the Company (as
issuer) entered into twelve subscription agreements with twelve high
net worth independent subscribers in respect of the subscription of
an aggregate of 343,140,000 Subscription Shares at the subscription
price and net subscription price of HK$0.80 per Subscription Share
(the “Subscriptions”). On the date of the subscription agreements,
the closing price per Share was HK$0.62. The aggregate nominal
value of the subscription Shares under the Subscriptions was
HK$3,431,400. The Subscriptions have been completed on 3 May
2023.

The Directors are of the view that the Subscriptions will benefit the
Group’s long term development by providing a good opportunity to
raise additional funds to strengthen the financial position and to
broaden the Company’s shareholder base and capital base to
facilitate the future growth and development of its business as well
as to increase the trading liquidity of the Shares. In particular, the
Directors believe the Subscriptions represent a desirable opportunity
for the Company to scale up the Group’s government project
management business and capital project management business,
while allowing the Group to preserve its existing internal cash
resources.
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The net proceeds from the Subscriptions (after deducting all REZEFRESHIBFE (KNBRBESEREE
applicable costs and expenses of the Subscriptions) were A LEXE) N AE2741AEEBTT FRH
approximately HK$274.1 million. The following table sets out the & £2024F 128318 RBFEA BB FEN
intended use and actual use of the net proceeds from the MTFERABRNERMAE:

Subscriptions as of 31 December 2024:

Net Unutilised

Percentage ~ proceeds  Actual use net proceeds

Allocation of use of of proceeds utilised as of as at

proceeds from from the during 31 December 31 December
the Subscriptions Subscriptions  the Period 2024 2024 Timetable

120245

ERESE HRCHE HZ2024%  12A%A
RESEMERE frEsER  FEBRE NANEN XBAFE

Use of proceeds FERERR BENAE Aotk BE ERBZR  JERE  EEX
(HK$ million) - (RMB million) (%) RMBmilion RMB million ~ RMB million
(AE% AE% AE% AE%
(BEET) BET) (%) RET BET BET
Development of government BB £754) 137.0 1235 50.0% - - 1235 Within 3 years after
project management S completion of
business the Subscriptions
RABFETAE
3ER
Development of capital project & AN E£H4) 1234 1.1 45.0% - - 1111 Within 3 years after
management business BE completion of
the Subscriptions
RABFATAE
3ER
General working capital —HReEEe 137 124 5.0% 72 124 - Within 2 years after
completion of
the Subscriptions
RABSETRE
2Em
Total @it 274.1 247.0 100.0% 7.2 124 234.6

For details of the Subscriptions, please refer to the announcements A B M FIEN 15 - 52 H A2 A A 81752022
of the Company dated 18 November 2022 and 16 December 2022. F11H18H &2022F12 A16 H A A ©
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Financial Resources Management and Capital Structure

The Group has adopted comprehensive treasury policies and
internal control measures to review and monitor its financial
resources.

As of 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB2,484.0 million (31 December 2023: RMB1,835.8 million). The
Group maintained at net cash position as of 31 December 2024
without any borrowings.

The gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total
equity, i.e. the sum of long-term and short-term interest bearing bank
loans and other loans as of the corresponding date divided by the
total equity as of the same date. As of 31 December 2024, the
gearing ratio was nil (31 December 2023: Nil).

Debt

During the Year, the Group had no significant borrowings.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts substantially all of its business in China and in
RMB. Therefore, the Group is exposed to minimum foreign
exchange risks. However, the depreciation or appreciation of RMB
and HK$ against foreign currencies may have impact on the Group’s
results. Currently, the Group does not hedge foreign exchange risks,
but will continue to closely monitor its exposure to foreign exchange
risks. The management will consider hedging foreign exchange risks
when the Group becomes materially affected by such risks.

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitment

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities and capital commitment.

Pledge of Assets
During the Year, the Group did not have any pledged assets.
Material Acquisitions and Disposals

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.
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Significant Investment

As of 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.

Suspension of Trading

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
26 March 2024, 28 March 2024, 26 April 2024, 14 June 2024, 20
June 2024, 27 June 2024, 29 July 2024, 30 August 2024, 13
September 2024, 27 September 2024, 10 October 2024, 15 October
2024, 18 October 2024, 27 December 2024, 9 January 2025, 15
January 2025 and 27 January 2025 (the “Announcements”). Due
to the delay in publication of the annual results of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2023, trading in the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange has been suspended since 9:00
a.m. on 2 April 2024. On 24 June 2024 and 15 October 2024, the
Company received letters from the Stock Exchange setting out the
resumption guidance, details of which were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 27 June 2024 and 18 October 2024.

The Company has published its annual results for the year ended 31
December 2023 and interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2024 on 9 January 2025. On 12 February 2025, the Company
published its annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023
and interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2024. Trading
in the shares of the Company remains suspended as at the date of
this annual report. The Company will seek to resume trading in the
shares of the Company as soon as possible.

Events After The Reporting Period

Save for the above, subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report, no important event affecting the Group
has occurred.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 669 full-time
employees, including 432 employees assigned to relevant project
companies to carry out property development projects under the
Group’s management.
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The Company’s sustainable growth depends on the ability and
loyalty of employees. The management of the Company, who
understands the importance of realising the personal value of
employees, has established a transparent evaluation system for all
employees seeking career development in various business units. A
performance-based compensation structure was set up to reward
employees for their performance. The Company also adjusted
compensation from time to time in accordance with its development
strategies and market standards. Efforts have been made to
promote the healthy competition within the Company, maximise the
potential of employees, continuously optimise the current
compensation incentive system to retain and attract excellent
talents.

In addition, the Company recognises the importance of providing
employees with comprehensive and sustainable training
programmes to improve their business skills, enhance their risk
management capabilities and help them demonstrate high standards
of diligence and dedication. It provided employees with various
training programmes with different emphasis based on their tenure.
In addition to internal trainings, third-party training institutions were
also invited to provide online and offline trainings for the Group’s
employees. Through these measures, team members can get
access to the latest information on industry trends and market
development. so a stable talent pool full of cohesion and vitality will
support the Company’s long-term and sustainable development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards to safeguard the interests of its stakeholders. The
Company has applied the principles in the Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules by
conducting its business by reference to the principles of the CG
Code and emphasising such principles in the Company’s
governance framework. To the best knowledge of the Directors,
except for the deviation from the code provision F.2.2 of the CG
Code, the Company has complied with all applicable code provisions
under the CG Code during the Year.

Under code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the
board should attend the annual general meeting. The chairman of
the board should also invite the chairmen of the audit, remuneration,
nomination and any other committees (as appropriate) to attend. In
their absence, the chairman should invite another member of the
committee or failing this their duly appointed delegate, to attend. An
issuer’s management should ensure the external auditor attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and content of the auditors’ report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence. Due to business
arrangements, Mr. Wu Po Sum (being the chairman of the Board
and the nomination committee of the Company and a non-executive
Director) and Mr. Zhu Baoguo (being the then chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company and an independent non-
executive Director, and subsequently resigned with effect from 10
October 2024) were not present at the annual general meeting held
on 28 June 2024 (2024 AGM”). However, Mr. Hu Bing (being an
executive Director), Mr. Liu Dianchen (being the chairman of the
audit committee of the Company and an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. Xu Ying (being a member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company
and an independent non-executive Director) were present at the
2024 AGM to maintain an ongoing dialogue and communicate with
the shareholders of the Company and encourage their participation.
Due to the delays in the publication of the annual results and annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
resolutions in relation to the approval of (i) consolidated financial
statements, directors’ reports and auditors’ report for the year ended
31 December 2023; and (ii) re-appointment of auditors were not
voted on at the 2024 AGM. Accordingly, the then auditors of the
Company did not attend the 2024 AGM. The Company will arrange
its auditors to attend the forthcoming annual general meeting to
answer questions (if any) from its shareholders.
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CULTURE AND VALUE

The Company takes win-win cooperation as its guiding ideology and
“jointly builds industry and develops together’ as its vision and
goal.

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance across the Company. The Group has a
whistleblowing policy in place to support employees and other
contacts, such as customers or suppliers, to anonymously raise their
concerns with the Audit Committee about any possible irregularities.
At the same time, the Group formulated a clear anti-corruption policy
to support anti-corruption laws and regulations, and promoted a
culture of integrity internally.

In order to create long-term sustainable growth for shareholders and
deliver long-term values to all stakeholders, the board will continue
to monitor and evaluate the culture of the Company by:

. Reviewing the company’s decisions and actions to assess
whether they are consistent with the desired culture;

. Undertaking staff and stakeholders engagements; and

. Making reference to complaints received, disclosures by
whistleblowers, staff turnover rate and code of conduct/
regulatory breaches for potential areas of concerns.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for the
Directors in their dealings in the Company’s securities. Having made
specific enquires with each Director, the Company confirmed that,
save as disclosed below, all the Directors had complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code for the Year.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 28
March 2024. The Board was informed at the close of business of 28
March 2024 by Mr. Wu Po Sum (“Mr. Wu”), chairman and non-
executive director of the Company, that 395,560,000 Shares (which
were placed in securities trading accounts with margin facilities) held
by Joy Bright Investments Limited (a company wholly-owned by Mr.
Wu), representing approximately 10.2% of the then total issued
share capital of the Company, were sold on the market as collateral
pursuant to the terms and conditions applicable to such margin
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facilities on 27 and 28 March 2024 (the “Disposal’) to settle the
outstanding balances owing to the relevant securities firm. Pursuant
to paragraph A.3 of Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, the Directors
were prohibited from dealing in any securities of the Company on
any day on which its financial results are published and during the
period of 60 days immediately preceding the publication date of the
annual results (the “Black-out Period”). The Disposal fell within the
Black-out Period. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 26 March 2024, there would be a delay in publication of the
Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023,
therefore the Disposal fell within the Black-out Period and
constituted a dealing of shares by Mr. Wu. Mr. Wu was however in a
passive position in relation to the Disposal. The Directors (except
Mr. Wu) considered the Disposal and were satisfied that the
Disposal during the Black-out Period was made under exceptional
circumstances under paragraph C.14 of Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board, which is chaired by Mr. Wu Po Sum, consists of three
executive Directors and four non-executive Directors, three of whom
are independent. The composition of the Board ensures a balance
of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of Group and the exercising of independent opinion.

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this report include:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Mr. Wu Po Sum*

Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Bing

Mr. Chen Aiguo

Mr. Duan Juwei

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua)* (resigned on 14 June 2024)
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024)

Mr. Xu Ying

Mr. Siu Chi Hung (retired on 30 May 2024)

Mr. Liu Dianchen (appointed on 31 May 2024)

Ms. Yan Yingchun (appointed on 27 December 2024)

*  Mr. Wu Po Sum is the father of Ms. Wu Wallis.

All executive Directors and non-executive Directors have entered
into service contracts or letters of appointment with the Company for
a specific term of 3 years. Under the articles of association (the
“Articles of Association”) of the Company, the Board is empowered
to appoint any person as a Director to fill the casual vacancy on or
as an additional Director.

During the Year, in compliance with Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-
executive Directors (representing one-third of the Board), one of
whom possesses the appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting and financial management. Each of the three
independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence of the Company and the Company considers each of
them to be independent in accordance with the guidelines of
assessing independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Each of the three independent non-executive Directors has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company for a specific term of three
years.

Following the resignation of Mr. Zhu Baoguo, an independent non-
executive Director, with effect from 10 October 2024, the Company
had two independent non-executive Directors only, and was
therefore not in compliance with, among others, the requirements of
Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules. Following the appointment of Ms.
Yan Yingchun as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 27 December 2024, the Company has recompiled with Rule
3.10(1) of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 10 October 2024 and 27
December 2024 respectively.
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Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to
Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a
Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to
retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the
number of directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to
retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so
to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by
rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-election
or appointment. In accordance with Articles 83(3) of the Articles of
Association, Ms. Yan Yingchun retired from office and offered herself
for re-election at the 2025 annual general meeting of the Company
("2025 AGM"). In accordance with Articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the
Articles of Association, Mr. Wu Po Sum and Mr. Xu Ying retired from
their offices, and being eligible, offered themselves for re-election at
the 2025 AGM.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Group and in particular, the independent non-executive Directors
have provided the Board with their diversified expertise and
professional advices. The Board is of the view that there is a
balanced composition of executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors in the Board and the independent non-
executive Directors are able to provide sufficient checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its
Shareholders. The participation of the independent non-executive
Directors in the Board and committee meetings also provides
independent judgment on the issues relating to strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, conflict of interest and standards of
conduct.

The Board members have access to timely information relating to
the Group’s business and will be provided with further documents
and information upon request to enable them to make informed
decisions. Independent professional advice can be sought to
discharge their duties at the Group’s expense upon their request. No
such advice was sought during 2024. The Company has subscribed
appropriate and sufficient insurance coverage on Directors’ liabilities
in respect of legal actions taken against Directors arising out of
corporate activities.
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RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD

The Board is in charge of leadership and control of the Group and is
responsible for maximising the Group’s financial performance and
making decisions in the best interests of the Group and its
Shareholders. Under the leadership of Mr. Wu Po Sum, the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), the Board is also
responsible for formulating and overseeing the business strategies
and policies of the Group, approving and monitoring annual budgets
and business plans, reviewing operational and financial
performance, and reviewing and monitoring the Group’s financial
control and risk management systems. The Board has delegated the
daily operation and day-to-day management of the Group as well as
the implementation of the Board’s policies and strategies to the
executive Directors and management of the Group.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

There is no information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETING

The Board holds meetings regularly and meets at other times as
and when required to review financial, internal and compliance
controls, risk management, company strategy and operating
performance of the Group. In addition, the Board holds general
meeting to maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders.

For the Year, the Board held 4 regular meetings, 3 additional
meetings, 2 remuneration committee meetings, 2 nomination
committee meetings and 6 audit committee meetings, and the
Company held 1 general meeting.
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The number of Board meetings, committee meetings and general
meeting attended by each Director for the Year is set out in the
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BEFRNAFREHRFNEFEER B TRERE
EHRLBMRAREHRBEN TR

i3

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Ex EX00E BENZE09E FHZEESSE REZE88R BRAE
Number of meetings held E{T&# &
Wu Po Sum TR 717 N/A T 2/2 212 0/1
Hu Bing Bk 717 N/ATiE A N/A i A N/A T i A 11
Chen Aiguo RE 717 N/ATiE A N/A T3 F N/A T3 F 0/1
Duan Juwei RIEE 717 N/AT3E A N/A T iE A N/A T3 F 0/1
Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) T (R2024%F 4/4 N/A T3 A N/A 73 A N/A T3 A N/A T3
(resigned on 14 June 6H14HE(T)
2024)
Zhu Baoguo (resignedon  KIRE (12024 4/4 0/6 11 111 0/1
10 October 2024) 1051085 (L)
Xu Ying " 717 6/6 212 2/2 11
Siu Chi Hung (retired on B (20245 3/3 3/3 N/A 7T A N/A T8 A 0/1
30 May 2024) 5H30AR(T)
Liu Dianchen 2mE 4/4 3/3 N/A 7~ N/A 7~ A 111
(appointed on (R2024%
31 May 2024) 5H31H#Z(T)
Yan Yingchun BEE N/A 73 F N/A T3 F N/A i N/A i N/A i
(appointed on (#2024
27 December 2024) 12827 HEZ )

Sulfficient notice for regular Board meetings and notice of reasonable
days for ad hoc Board meetings were given to all Directors so as to
ensure that each of them had an opportunity to attend the meetings,
and agenda and accompanying Board papers were given to all
Directors in a timely manner. As agreed by the Board, the Directors
may also seek independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense. No such advice was sought during 2024. During the
intervals between Board meetings, the senior management of the
Company provides the Directors with information on a timely basis
regarding all major developments or changes in the Group’s
businesses.

Should a Director have a potential conflict of interest in a matter
being considered in the Board meeting, he or she will abstain from
voting in respect of the relevant resolution. Independent non-
executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at
meetings to deal with such issues. The Company has adopted the
practice of holding Board meetings regularly. Notice of not less than
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14 days is given of all regular Board meetings to provide all
Directors with the opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
despatched to the Directors or committee members at least three
days before meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to
review these documents and be adequately prepared. When the
Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they are advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the chairman prior to the
meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with
adequate information and explanations so as to enable them to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other information
put before the Board and its committees for approval. Management
is also invited to join the Board or committee meetings where
appropriate.

All the Directors are also entitled to have access to timely
information such as monthly updates in relation to the Group’s
businesses and have separate and independent access to senior
management.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code requires all Directors to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, the Company Secretary regularly circulated reading
materials on the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws,
rules and regulations to all Directors as part of their training
materials in the continuous professional development plan of the
Company and the Company confirmed that all Directors read the
training materials and are in compliance with Code C.1.4 of the CG
Code.
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During the Year, all Directors have received the following trainings: REFE 2REFCEIUTHEI:

Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and other

Directors relevant topics
FHLEER EERER
BE=E HibAABA R E A
Wu Po Sum AR v
Hu Bing ERIK v
Chen Aiguo PRE v
Duan Juwei BEE v
Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) = (R2024F6 14 H BT ) v
(resigned on 14 June 2024)
Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024) KARE (R2024F 105104 L) v
Xu Ying r5 v
Siu Chi Hung (retired on 30 May 2024) BELIE (1R20244F5 H30H R (F) v
Liu Dianchen (appointed on 31 May 2024) RIR B (1R20244F5H31HEZ(T) v
Yan Yingchun (appointed on BaE (1R20244F12H27H 4
27 December 2024) EZT)

In addition, every newly appointed Director will receive an induction 9 BLHESZE s EE AL E ES R
on the first occasion of his or her appointment, so as to ensure that WE|NF UWEREZEEBANR 2 EERE
he or she has a proper understanding of the operations and 7 LANEREZE IR M LERAAREARK
business of the Company, and his or her responsibilities under laws, R T~z&E-

regulations and especially the governance policies of the Company.

Mr. Liu Dianchen and Ms. Yan Yingchun received the legal advice Z|RE &4 RBEEZ D HIR20245548308
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 30 May 2024 and 20244128208 W E| 78 8 §3.09D 1§ A7 it
20 December 2024 respectively. Each of them has confirmed he/she HPARER -HESBACHERE THEEEALT
understood his/her obligations as a director of a listed issuer. BITAEEZHNEE
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CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. As at 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this Report, the position of chairman is held by Mr. Wu
Po Sum and the position of chief executive officer (the “CEO”) is
held by Mr. Wang Jun. The CEO is mainly responsible for the overall
daily operation and management of the Group as well as its strategic
development. The roles of the chairman and the CEO are clearly
defined and segregated to ensure independence and proper checks
and balances. The chairman focuses on formulating the overall
development and strategic planning of the Group. The CEO are
mainly responsible for the overall daily operation and management
of the Group as well as its strategic development.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to present a
balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects in the consolidated financial
statements of the annual and interim reports in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
Pursuant to code provision D.1.1 of the CG Code, management
should provide sufficient explanation and information to the Board to
enable the Board to make an informal assessment of the financial
and other information put before the Board for approval. The
Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
might cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness to protect the assets of the Group and the interests of
shareholders. The Group is aware of the responsibilities of the
Board and the management in risk management and internal control
systems:

. The Board is responsible for assessing and determining the
nature and extent of risks which the Group is willing to take in
achieving its strategic objectives and ensuring that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems; overseeing
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
risk management and internal control systems, and conducting
a review annually.

. The management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of risk management and internal control
systems, and should provide a confirmation to the Board on
the effectiveness of these systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

In previous years, the Group has established a risk management
framework at the group level, clarified risk management process,
promoted the internal risk management culture, which has been
increasing year by year in accordance with the Group’s strategy.
Based on the work done in previous years, the Group continued to
improve the risk management system structure through the following
efforts and has guided the implementation of risk assessment and
continuous risk monitoring activities:

. Restatement and continued implementation of risk
management organizational structure: The Group has
restated a risk management organizational structure covering
the decision-making level (the Board and the Audit
Committee), the executive level (Group headquarters and
subsidiaries at all levels) and the supervisory level (the
Group’s Audit and Supervision Department) (see Figure 1: risk
management organizational structure), and split risk
management responsibilities to clarify risk management
responsibilities and risk information reporting routes at all
levels;
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Decision-making body

REHE

Board and Audit Committee

E=gkEREZES

Executive body Supervisory body

HITHE EEHE

Group headquarters

: . . . The Group’s Audit and
(including various functional departments) .
EEmE Supervision Department
¥ EEE B

(BIEERREEDFT)

The Group’s subsidiaries at all levels
(including city companies)
EETEERAT
(BEHETARE)

Figure 1: Risk management organizational structure
B —: EfE R AESRE

Renewal of risk assessment standards: During the Year, -« EFARFEHEEE AFEERRINBER

based on changes of internal and external environments, and BNEE RERNEENEBHEMLE
according to its business nature and operating characteristics, BE BB E UREEERRRT F
strategic objectives, and management’s risk appetite, the FEARAEBNRRTEEE BEH
Group renewed applicable risk assessment standards covering BB EE AB A8 %2 BES
strategic, financial, operational, people, compliance, security, S W iE A R R G S R
reputation and other dimensions, and used jointly confirmed ZE - HEAAREYECEBIZERMNR
assessment methods and assessment standards to assess S HEITRT A ©

the risks that were most likely to affect the achievement of
corporate objectives.
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Clarification and standardization of risk management
process: The Group established a risk management process
involving risk identification, risk assessment, risk response,
risk monitoring, reporting and improvement (see Figure 2: risk
management process), and formed a closed loop to
continuously monitor and manage risks. Specifically, driven by
its business objectives, the Group identified the risk factors
that affected its achievement of the business objectives, and
evaluated the possibility and potential impact of each specific
risk; sorted out and recorded the existing specific risk response
measures; and continuously oversaw and assessed changes
in risks and adjusted responses in a timely manner.
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Rl BAEr et REERZE MIEMLCER
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Risk identification Risk assessment

EEEZ

Risk response

2 B

[ B B

Reporting and
improvement

BE R E2BE

Risk monitoring

mBEE

Figure 2: Risk management process
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The main features of the Group’s risk management system are as
follows:
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Closed-loop risk management process: The risk
management process adopts a combination of top-down and
bottom-up approaches. Through a series of work processes
including risk identification, risk assessment, risk response,
risk monitoring, reporting and improvement, the Group aims to
understands the major risks faced by the Group and
continuously monitors and manages the risks through a
closed-loop risk management process.

Risk database with a clear hierarchy and focuses: Based
on five risk categories, namely strategy, market, operation,
finance and law, and taking into account the principles of
comprehensiveness, importance, synergy and standardization,
the Group has established a risk database at different levels.
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. Risk assessment criteria that fit for the Group: The Group
has established appropriate risk assessment criteria based on
the nature of its industry and business objectives, and the
management’s risk appetite.

. Continuous improvement and optimization mechanism:
The Group clarified the frequency of risk assessment (at least
once a year) and requirements for reporting and
communication, and continuously improved risk management
process and optimized risk management and control measures
through regular assessment, implementation and follow-up of
risk response measures, communication and reporting.

On the basis of the establishment of the above risk management
system, the management, with the assistance of an external
advisory body, conducted the identification, assessment and
analysis of material risks in the principal businesses of the Group
(including the consideration of risks related to the environmental,
social and governance). A comprehensive review of the risk
management system was completed. The top ten risks facing the
Group in 2024 were newly assessed and the corresponding
measures were sorted out. It also clarified the main responsible
department for risks, next-step countermeasures and improvement
directions, and reported the assessment results to the Audit
Committee.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group established its applicable internal control system with
reference to the internal control framework of the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
The control system includes a mature organizational structure that
clearly defines the rights and responsibilities of various departments
to protect the assets of the Group and the interests of shareholders.

As an important part of risk management, the internal control system
of the Group was formed on the basis of various risks facing the
Group. As the first line of defense, the management of the Group
headquarters, the management of its subsidiaries and the
management of its various departments designed and implemented
a series of policies and procedures for the processes related to
finance, operation and compliance, and monitored the
implementation and effect of relevant policies and procedures.
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The Group has constantly improved the Anti-Fraud and
Whistleblowing System and supports rational whistleblowing. The
office of the Board is responsible for managing the hotline and e-mail
for reporting fraud cases, and receiving real-name or anonymous
reports from employees and external third parties (e.g. customers or
suppliers). The Group will protect complainants and whistleblowers
in the process of cooperating with investigations, in a bid to prohibit
any illegal discrimination or retaliation. In the meantime, the Group
attaches importance to employees’ integrity, requiring all employees
to declare conflicts of interest and sign the Integrity Initiative when
they join the Group, in a bid to strengthen employees’ anti-corruption
awareness from the beginning of their job. In addition, it set up a
column of integrity on the official website of the Company, and
continuously promoted the culture of integrity internally through
various channels, such as the WeChat official accounts and the
internal office platform.

The Company has established an internal audit function. The Group
has established the Audit and Supervision Department as the third
line of defense. Through internal audit and follow-up review of the
improvement of internal control defects found in the audit process, it
communicates with the relevant management to supervise the timely
implementation of internal control improvement measures, and
provides independent and objective advice to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit and Supervision Department has unrestricted
access to the documents and records, information systems and staff
required to perform audit procedures, and reports the audit results
to the Audit Committee.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group is aware of its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In terms of procedures for
handling and disseminating inside information and internal controls,
the Group has formulated the Guidelines on the Management and
Disclosure of Inside Information and has publicized its disclosure
policy to directors, senior management and relevant employees who
may have access to sensitive information, requiring them to follow
relevant procedures for handling confidential resources and/or inside
information, regulatory information disclosure and inquiry reply in
accordance with the guidelines.
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REVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

During the Year, the Board conducted a comprehensive review of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems through
the Audit Committee, including the risk assessment and the review
of internal control over key business processes in 2024. The review,
which is conducted annually, covers the fiscal year 2024 and the
Group’s principal businesses. The review covers all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
and takes into account changes in the nature and severity of
material risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
businesses and external environment. The Board considers that the
Group has complied with the risk management and internal control
provisions set out in the CG Code and that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the resources, staff qualifications
and experience of accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions and those relating to environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting, as well as the training courses received
by the staff and the associated budgets, and considered them to be
adequate.

There was a delay in publication of the Company’s annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and the interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2024 due to the changes of auditors and the
trading of Shares on the Stock Exchange has been suspended since
9:00 a.m. on 2 April 2024. The reasons for the changes of auditors
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 26 March
2024, 28 March 2024 and 27 September 2024. It was noted that the
delay in providing information to the auditors (some of which was
beyond the Company’s control and required co-operation of external
parties and some of which was caused by the excessive turnover in
personnel of the Company and its business partners) had indirectly
caused the changes in auditors. Whilst the Company is of the view
that the foundational elements for effective risk management and
internal control are in place, it is believed that improvements can be
made.
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As a general measure, the management of the Company will
continue to maintain close communication with its auditors and the
Audit Committee, by conducting periodic assessments and providing
timely responses at important stages to identify and resolve any
issues that may potentially affect timely publication of future financial
results. The Company has also adopted the following internal control
measures and improvements to prevent re-occurrence of a delay in
results publication:

1. throughout the entire audit/review process of future financial
years or periods, the management of the Company and the
Audit Committee will discuss and agree beforehand with the
relevant auditors as to the proposed audit plan in relation to
any advances made by the Company, in particular, in relation
to any items that may require cooperation of independent third
parties (such as audit interviews and confirmations);

2. as soon as the audit plan requiring cooperation of independent
third parties has been confirmed, the Company and the
relevant auditors will immediately commence liaising with the
relevant independent third parties, with an aim to conduct such
audit interviews and obtain such confirmations as early as
possible;

3. the Company will endeavour to obtain written confirmations
from each of the existing independent third party borrowers
that they will to the extent reasonable cooperate with all
requests from the Company’s auditors, in particular, audit
interviews and confirmations; and

4.  for any future advances that may be made by the Company,
the relevant loan agreements will include a legally binding
provision requiring the reasonable cooperation of the third
party borrower with all requests from the Company’s auditors,
in particular, audit interviews and confirmations.

Moving forward, the Board and the Audit Committee are committed
to enhancing internal controls and ensuring that all relevant
information is promptly communicated to auditors, and reinforcing
the Company's risk management and internal control systems.

52

1ER—RRIEHE NAR)E T E iS4 AE B A B
LEZZEGRFHETRR EEERBETTE
HRRT A Ko B2 By 4R 1 100 8+ LA 38 1) % g R AE o] 7T
FEERTIBEARMBEENHE - RRF NS
BREUA T A BB ER Rt i M B B 1R 5 - PART LE B IR
HAEEETERENIBN:

1. RARFERFEXHENBERR EH
BED ARREEEREZZEERE
5 2R B A BA 5 e K 18 E B B AN R R AE
HEOEMBRRNERE XS LERA
AR EBLE=ARANERIER (M
BEZEANTER)

2. —EWRRFTEHUFE=REHNEZTE
AN ) B AR B A BB 7 32 BN 5 46 B AR R R
VEZTHE AERETZEEZA
R ECZFHER:

3. ARAEENIEEZRABULE=TER
AMEEER ERARSZHESERER
RERRBZEMHNMAERL LERE
RE kR R &

4. FARTFBRAEIELNERMBRDE -
HEERBRERBRE -—BAEBEARORN
MR BRE=ZTERAREEAAR
ARBEM A 2R FhHREZE AR
MR-

AR BEFERBERZESHNNBAFEE
TR MBS A BB B PR A ARRAE B I pnsa A
RRHE R E IR R AR BRI R AT



2024 ANNUAL REPORT « —E - [UfF£ R

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the dividend policy of the Company ("Dividend Policy"),
the Company intends to declare and distribute approximately 50%
of the Group’s net profit for a given year as dividends to the
Shareholders. Any future determination to declare and pay any
dividends would require the approval of the Board and will be at
their discretion. In addition, any final dividend for a financial year will
be subject to shareholders’ approval and the relevant laws. The
Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time in light of the
following factors in determining whether dividends are to be declared
and paid:

. result of operations;

. cash flows;

. financial condition;

. Shareholders’ interests;

. general business conditions and strategies;
. capital requirements and surplus;

. the payment by the Group’s subsidiaries of cash dividends to
the Group; and

. other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the Articles of Association of the Company.

Any final dividend declared by the Company must be approved by
an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at an annual general
meeting of the Company and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The Dividend Policy will continue to be
reviewed from time to time and there can be no assurance that a
dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific period. The
Dividend Policy is available on the Company's website.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views are available to the Board. The summary of the mechanisms
is set out below:

(i) Composition

The Board ensures the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one-third of
its members being Independent Non-executive Directors (or
such higher threshold as may be required by the Listing Rules
from time to time), with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. Further,
Independent non-executive Directors will be appointed to
Board committees as required under the Listing Rules and as
far as practicable to ensure independent views are available.

(ii) Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the nomination
policy of the Company ("Nomination Policy") with regard to
the nomination and appointment of independent non-executive
Directors, and is mandated to assess annually the
independence of independent non-executive Directors to
ensure that they can continually exercise independent
judgement.

(iii) Board Decision Making

Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
entitled to seek further information from the management on
the matters to be discussed at Board meetings and, where
necessary, independent advice from external professional
advisers at the Company’s expense. A Director (including
independent non-executive Directors) who has a material
interest in a contract, transaction or arrangement shall not vote
or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution
approving the same.
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BOARD COMMITTEES AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) to oversee the relevant aspects of
the Company’s affairs. The three Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

During the Year, as part of its corporate governance function, the
Board has performed the corporate governance duties including:

a) reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance;

b) reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

c) reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices
in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d) reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

e) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Audit
Committee was established on 12 May 2021. As at 31 December
2024, the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, being Mr. Liu Dianchen (the chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Xu Ying and Ms. Yan Yingchun. None of them
is a member of the former or existing auditors of the Company. The
Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee have
sufficient accounting and financial management expertise and
experience to discharge their duties. However, the Audit Committee
is also authorised to obtain external legal or other independent
professional advice if it considers necessary.
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During the Year, following the resignation of Mr. Zhu Baoguo, an
independent non-executive Director, with effect from 10 October
2024, the Company had two members of Audit Committee only, and
was therefore not in compliance with, among others, the
requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. Following the
appointment of Ms. Yan Yingchun as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 27 December 2024, the Company has
recompiled with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 10 October 2024
and 27 December 2024 respectively.

The Audit Committee is governed by its terms of reference in
accordance with the CG Code, which are available at both the
Company’s website and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website.
The principal functions of the Audit Committee include:

. To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external independent auditors
and to approve the remuneration and terms of such
appointments;

. To review and monitor the independence and objectivity of the
external independent auditors and effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards;

. To review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems and other major financial matters;

. To review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices, and to monitor the Company’s financial operation
and core business status;

. To ensure that the management has fulfilled its duties and the
Group’s strategic objectives to maintain an effective risk
management and internal control system;

. To ensure compliance with applicable statutory accounting and
reporting requirements, legal and regulatory requirements,
internal rules and procedures approved by the Board from time
to time; and

. To review and monitor the integrity of the consolidated financial
statements, annual and interim reports and the auditor’s report
to ensure that the information presents a true and balanced
assessment of the Group’s financial position.
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The Audit Committee held 6 meetings during 2024 and conducted
the following responsibilities:

1) reviewed the Group’s annual results for the year ended 31
December 2023;

2) reviewed the Group’s interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2024;

3) assessed the independence of the independent auditors and
the scope of their audit;

4)  reviewed the risk management and internal control system of
the Group, the effectiveness of the internal audit and risk
control management function of the Company;

5) reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external auditor;

6) made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of
the external auditor; and

7) made recommendations to the Board on the change of
external independent auditors and the remuneration and terms
of such appointments.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group as well as considered and
identified risks of the Group subsequent to 31 December 2024 and
will continuously monitor the systems on a regular basis.

The Audit Committee also met with the external auditor annually in
the absence of management to discuss matters relating to any
issues arising from audit and any other matters the external auditor
may wish to raise.

For the Year, the external independent auditors’ remuneration to the
Group’s auditor of annual audit services provided to the Group
amounted to approximately RMB1,600,000.

The Company’s annual results announcement dated 24 March 2025
for the Year has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

EREIWE

F%E B HR024F MBI TORTH LET
TUTBE

1) BHEALEHZE2023F128318 LFEY
FRFEE:

2) EHASEHE2024F6A30H L<EA
ZHEREE

3) FHMEBU BN BN ERHEE:

4) BREFEEMERETERABEZRS-
RRABAHEA L AR EIRBENE
B

5) EHIMNEZEEI 2 RBETE R

6) HNEZBMoFMAESTSRIESR:
K

7) BONBBURHBMEEABEREMNHMK
FERmERGREER-

ERZESEERNASENRAREE AP
R WHN2024F 128318 28 E E M #A T
TEEMRR  BEETHERGERG-

ERZEeNEBFHEEEBREE 2B THE
SNEZBEI S U mEMEERELECFE
ROMERZBEN R BB H 2 (B EMEE -

RAFE AEBREZBE A AEERENF
JE 25T AR 7% S A B SN ES 38 S A SR Em B BN A B A
R #1,600,0007T °

NARN2025F3 A24H B ENEHEAFEN 2
FEENECDHEZLZEEEN-

57



CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « FIREZZFRA T )

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIWE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 12 May 2021 with
written terms of reference as suggested under the CG Code. As at
31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee comprises one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Wu Po Sum (the chairman of the
Nomination Committee), and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Xu Ying and Ms. Yan Yingchun.

The Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference,
which are available at both the Company’s website and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s website. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee include: (i) reviewing the structure, size and
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least once a year, and making recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes to the Board for conforming
to the strategy of the Company; (ii) identifying and nominating
qualified individuals to act as Directors and making
recommendations to the Board regarding such matters; (iii)
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; (iv) making recommendations to the Board regarding the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Executive Officers;
and (v) reviewing the board diversity policy of the Company ("Board
Diversity Policy"), and the implementation of the progress targets
set by such policy.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee shall attend the annual
general meeting of the Company to answer questions raised by the
Shareholders on Directors’ nomination and other nomination policy
matters.

The Company has adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out the
following procedures for nomination of Directors:

1. The proposed candidates will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form by the
Nomination Committee.

2. The Nomination Committee shall convene a meeting upon
request by any member of the Nomination Committee, and
invite nominations of candidates from Board members (if any),
for consideration by the Committee. The Committee may also
nominate candidates for its consideration.
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3. For the appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board,
the Nomination Committee shall undertake adequate due
diligence in respect of such individual and make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

4.  For the re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the
Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-
election at a general meeting.

5.  If a shareholder wants to propose a candidate to the Board for
consideration, he/she shall refer to the “Procedures for a
Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as a Director of
the Company”, which is available on the Company’s website.

6. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting.

The Nomination Policy also provides the following criteria (which are
not exhaustive) for nomination of Directors:

1. reputation for integrity;

2. accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business
and industry;

3. commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention
to the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries;

4.  diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural/educational and professional background, skills,
knowledge and experience;

5. compliance with the criteria of independence, in case for the
appointment of an independent non-executive director, as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

6. any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time as
appropriate.
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EREIWE

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy with effect on
12 May 2021 which sets out its approach to achieve and maintain
diversity on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board. With a view to achieving sustainable and balanced
development, the Company is committed to increasing diversity in
the Board in order to bring in innovation, fresh and broad business
perspectives and enhance the decision-making process of the
Board. The Board is of the view that having diversity will help the
Company better understand and meet the needs of the customers
and maintain its competitive advantages in the project management
service industry. The Board Diversity Policy is available on the
Company's website.

The Company recognizes the benefits of Board diversity and
endeavours to ensure that the Board has the appropriate and
balanced skill levels, experience and perspectives to support the
execution of its business strategies. The Company seeks to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including professional qualifications and experience, cultural and
educational background, race and ethnicity, gender, age and length
of service. The Company will also take into consideration factors
based on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprises seven members
including one female Director and six male Directors with a balanced
mix of knowledge and skills, including various aspects of the real
estate industry (such as project management and property
development), as well as overall business management, investment
and accounting. The Company has three independent non-executive
Directors who have different industry backgrounds, including
accounting, property development and investment. Furthermore, the
Board has a relatively wide range of ages, ranging from 41 to 74
years old.

With regards to gender diversity on the Board, the Group recognizes
the particular importance of gender diversity. As at 31 December
2024, the Board comprised seven Directors, including one female
Director. The senior management also comprised two male
members. The Group has taken and will continue to take steps to
promote and enhance gender diversity at all levels of the Company.
The Board shall take opportunities when selecting and making
recommendations on suitable candidates for Board appointments
with the aim to increase the proportion of female members over
time. The Group will also ensure that there is gender diversity when
recruiting staff at mid to senior level so that it will have a pipeline of
female senior management and potential successors to the Board
going forward. It is the Group’s objective to maintain an appropriate
balance of gender diversity with reference to the stakeholders’
expectation and international and local recommended best
practices.
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As recommended by the Nomination Committee, the Board has set
measurable objectives (in terms of gender, skills and experience) to
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Nomination
Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to time.

In accordance with the requirements under the CG Code, the
Company has set an initial target of appointing at least one director
of a different gender in the Board and has achieved such target.
Taking into account the Group’s business model and specific needs
and also the above (including the presence of one female Director),
the Group considers that the composition of the Board satisfies the
Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the Year. The
work performed by the Nomination Committee for the Year included:

1. considering the nomination of Mr. Liu Dianchen and Ms. Yan
Yingchun as independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with the Nomination Policy and Board Diversity
Policy;

2. reviewing the current structure, diversity and composition of
the Board (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
taking into account the change in Directors during the Year;

3.  reviewing the Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy;

4. reviewing the contribution required from a Director to perform
his responsibilities and whether he/she has spent sufficient
time performing them;

5.  assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

6. considering the nomination of Directors to be re-elected as
Directors at the annual general meeting in accordance with the
Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy; and

7.  discussing and considering the Board composition during the
Year and Board succession plan.

As at 31 December 2024, the full-time employees of the Group
(including senior management) comprise about 70.0% male and
30.0% female. Whilst it is relatively more challenging for the Group
to achieve equal gender ratio across all business units of the Group
due to the characteristics and job nature of different business units,
it is the Group’s goal to achieve a balanced gender ratio in the
overall workforce (including senior management).
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EREIWE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 12 May 2021 and
revised on 30 December 2022 with written terms of reference as
suggested under the CG Code. As at 31 December 2024, the
Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Yan Yingchun (the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Xu Ying and one
non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wu Po Sum (the chairman of the
Company).

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of reference,
which are available at both the Company’s website and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s website. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include (but not limited to) (i) making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies and
structures for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (ii) reviewing
and approving remuneration proposal by reference to corporate
objectives set by the Directors from time to time; (iii) to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management; (iv) to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors; and (v) to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The amount of the Directors’ remuneration is determined on the
basis of the relevant executive Directors’ experience, responsibility,
workload and the time devoted to the Group. The entire Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee from time
to time.

The Remuneration Committee may also consult the Chairman on
proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive Directors
and has access to professional advice if necessary.

The Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings during the Year. The
work performed by the Remuneration Committee for the Year
included:

1. review of the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management and to assess their performance;

2. made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration

packages of the newly appointed independent non-executive
Directors; and
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3. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management.

There are no material matters relating to the share award scheme of
the Company which are required to be reviewed and/or approved by
the Remuneration Committee during the Year.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for

the Year is set out below:

Remuneration
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, the total remuneration paid or payable to the
Company’s auditors, Prism Hong Kong Limited, for audit services
amounted to RMB1,600,000.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to Prism Hong
Kong Limited is set out below:
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Audit services ot PR 1,600,000

Total st 1,600,000
COMPANY SECRETARY DNEHWE

The Company engages an external service provider to provide
secretarial services and has appointed Ms. Ho Wing Nga as its
Company Secretary. The primary corporate contact person in the
Company is Mr. Hu Bing, the executive Director.

For the Year, the Company Secretary has confirmed that she has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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EREIWE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held each year at the
place as may be determined by the Board. Each general meeting,
other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and Put Forward Proposals thereat

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are prepared in accordance with
Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company:

1)  One or more member(s) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company, on a one vote per share basis, shall have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business or
resolution specified in such requisition.

2)  The requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and
must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of those Shareholders.

3) The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
Company Secretary via mail to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Units 1602—1605, 16/F, Tower 2,
The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

4)  The extraordinary general meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of the requisition.

5) If the Board fails to proceed to convene the extraordinary
general meeting within twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of
such requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself or themselves
may convene a physical meeting at only one location which
will be the Principal Meeting Place, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by him/her/them as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to him/her/them by the
Company.
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Proposals for Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association as amended from time to time, the Company may from
time to time in a general meeting by ordinary resolution elect any
person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director.

A Shareholder may propose a person (the “Person”) for election as
a Director by lodging the following documents at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Units 1602-1605,
16/F, Tower 2, The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong:

1)  a notice in writing signed by the Shareholder concerned of his/
her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director with full
particulars of the Person including his/her full name and
biographical details as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules; and

2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her willingness
to be elected as a Director. Such notices shall be lodged at
least seven (7) days prior to the date of the general meeting
and the period for lodgment of such notices shall commence
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and shall be at
least seven (7) days in length.

Procedures for Raising Enquiries

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the
Shareholders, the Company has established communication
channels in accordance with the Shareholders communication policy
of the Company ("Shareholders Communication Policy"):

1) Shareholders may direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited.

2) Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary or the Chief Financial Officer whose contact details
are as follows: CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY
LIMITED, Units 1602-1605, 16/F, Tower 2, The Gateway,
Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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3) Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company amended
the Articles of Association for the purpose of, among other things: (i)
reflect and align with the latest regulatory requirement in relation to
the expanded paperless listing regime and the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers and the
relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect
from 31 December 2023; and (ii) align with other relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules and company law of the Cayman
Islands and incorporate certain corresponding and housekeeping
amendments. Such amendments were set out in the circular of the
Company dated 5 June 2024. The amendments to the Articles of
Association and the adoption the amended articles of association of
the Company were approved by the shareholders of the Company
at the annual general meeting held on 28 June 2024.

The Company’s Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association are available on both the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. Save as disclosed above, there had been no
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company for the
Year.

Corporate Communication and Investor Relations

The Company has adopted the Shareholders Communication Policy,
which is available on the Company's website. The Company is
committed to enhancing long-term shareholder value through
communications with the Shareholders, both individual and
institutional, as well as potential investors. The Board shall maintain
an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders and potential investors.
Effective and timely dissemination of the Company’s information to
the Shareholders and potential investors shall be ensured at all
times.
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The major task and objective of the Group’s investor relations are to
clearly introduce the Group, including the business positioning,
existing operations and future development of the Group, to the
media, Shareholders, investors, analysts and investment banks
through different communication channels. In future, the Group shall
further enhance communication with the media, Shareholders,
investors, analysts and investment banks on various aspects such
as development strategies, operation and management, financial
prospects and business operation through meetings, senior
management’s participation in investor forums, conferences and
roadshows. The Group is confident in establishing and maintaining
a good relationship with the international capital institutions through
the continued enhancement of information transparency.

The Group emphasises the importance of maintaining good
communication with the Shareholders, so as to increase the
Company’s transparency and understanding by the Shareholders.
To enable that the Shareholders are effectively informed of the
Group ’'s status and developments, the Group issues
announcements, circulars, notices, interim and annual reports in a
timely manner. To enhance the Company’s transparency, other
information about the Company is published on the Company’s
website.

The Company’s annual general meetings allow the Directors to meet
and communicate with the Shareholders and to answer any queries
that the Shareholders may have. An external independent auditor is
also present at the annual general meetings. The Chairman will
propose separate resolutions for each issue to be considered at the
annual general meetings. A notice of annual general meeting is
delivered to all Shareholders not less than 21 clear days prior to the
date of the meeting, setting out details of each proposed resolution
and other information. Voting results are posted on the websites of
the Company and of the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the Shareholders
Communication Policy and believes that, in light of the multiple
channels of communication and engagement in place as stated
herein, the current shareholders Communication Policy has been
properly implemented during the Year and is effective.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is the primary decision-making body of the
Company, setting fundamental business strategies and policies for
the management and operation of the Group’s business and
monitoring their implementation. As at 31 December 2024, the
Board of Directors comprises seven Directors, consisting of three
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors are elected to
serve initial terms of three years, which are renewable upon re-
election and/or re-appointment.

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wu Po Sum (#7& & & &) (formerly known as Hua Jianming /&
##£PH), aged 74, is the Chairman of the Board, a non-executive
Director and Controlling Shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wu is the
chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company. He was appointed as a
Director on October 22, 2020 and was redesignated as a non-
executive Director and appointed as the Chairman of the Board on
November 6, 2020. Mr. Wu is responsible for formulating the overall
development and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Wu is one of
the Group’s controlling shareholders. Mr. Wu is the father of Ms. Wu
Wallis, a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Wu is also a
director of various of the Group’s subsidiaries, namely Start Ahead
Investment Limited, Central China Management (Hong Kong)
Limited and Henan Start Ahead Commercial Management Co., Ltd.*
CUFE AR EE EEMR A A) (‘Henan Head Start”).

Mr. Wu is the founder of Central China Real Estate Limited (231
E % 15 B BR A 8] *) (stock code: 832) (‘CCRE”) and its subsidiaries
(the “CCRE Group”) and has nearly 31 years of experience in real
estate development and investment. He entered the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) real estate market in May 1992, when
he laid the foundation for the CCRE Group and established the
“Jianye (#£2)” brand name. He has always been the chairman and
an executive director of CCRE and a director of CCRE and various
subsidiaries of the CCRE Group, and is responsible for formulating
development strategies, making decisions on investment projects
and determining development directions of the CCRE Group
(including the Group).
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In 2017, Mr. Wu was invited to the selection of Golden Sunlight
Public Welfare Awards of Henan Daily (/7 Fg H 4t €[5 ¢ 2 55 8%)
and was awarded the “Meritorious Person of the First (2017) Central
China Social Responsibility (& [ (2017) R Rt S E(E - HEVA DY
prize. Besides, the Benyuan Humanity Education Foundation in
Henan (37 /& AN R A X E % € ) sponsored by him was awarded
the “Outstanding Nonprofit Organization of First (2017) Central
China Social Responsibility ( & fE (2017) R Rt G HBE - BEF Q=
5.

Mr. Wu received various awards in 2018. He was appointed as the
“Deputy Director of the Advisory Committee of Industry and
Commerce Association of Henan Province (JilE & L #AZ 8
Z8|EE)", received the “Outstanding Contribution Entrepreneur of
Henan ()7 /9 & 8 & Ef {3 %X )" award at the “40 Years of Reform
and Opening up of Henan ()7 8 & 42 & 24 3 i 18404 )" event
organized by Henan Daily, and was awarded the highest accolade
of a leading entrepreneur in the real estate industry in Henan at the
“40 Years of Reform and Opening up, Development of Central China
(R E R U+ /B R T A% & )" by Henan Province Real Estate
Business Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Wu also received the “Golden
Camel Award” granted by the Society of Entrepreneurs and Ecology
Foundation for his significant contribution in promoting projects
concerning environmental protection.

Mr. Wu was an executive director and the chairman of the board of
DIT Group Limited (52 & B ERHLEEHFR 2 7)) (@ company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 726) from November 2019 to
August 2020. The principal business of DIT Group Limited includes
research and development, design, manufacture and sales of
assembled building prefabricated units. Mr. Wu has also been a
director of CURA Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. ( &
BB BEREEERMDBR A F) (a company previously listed
on National Equities Exchange and Quotations of the PRC, stock
code: 833880, and subsequently delisted on December 5, 2019)
since January 2013. CURA Investment Management (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd. is principally engaged in the provision of professional asset
management services with a focus in private equity real estate and
real estate investment trusts.

Mr. Wu is a director of Joy Bright Investments Limited, wholly-owned
by him, which directly holds 47.64% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Mr. Wu graduated from Zhengzhou University ( Z5 /1l X 2) in the
PRC in 1979, majoring in English.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hu Bing (#87k % %), aged 48, is an executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed as an executive Director of the Group
on November 6, 2020. Mr. Hu is mainly responsible for overall daily
operation and management of the Group as well as its strategic
development. Mr. Hu is also a director of various of the Group’s
subsidiaries, namely Zhongyuan Jianye, Henan Start Ahead and
Zhongyuan Jianye (Hainan).

Mr. Hu joined the CCRE Group in January 2004 and had held
various positions in the CCRE Group. These positions include
assistant to general manager, deputy general manager and general
manager of the financial center, deputy director and director of the
financial management center as well as the general manager of the
budget planning department, the executive vice president as well as
general manager of the financial management center, vice president,
chief financial officer and chief operating officer. Through these
senior management positions, he has overseen the Group’s project
management business and its financial affairs since its launch, and
has participated in the Group’s key management and decision
making. In July 2020, he was formally appointed as a director of
Zhongyuan Jianye. Since November 2020, he formally resigned
from all positions within the CCRE Group in order to continue to
focus on the Group’s business.

Mr. Hu is a Certified Public Valuer in the PRC, where he obtained
his license issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in
September 2001. He obtained his bachelor’s degree in state-owned
assets management and evaluation from School of Business
Administration of Zhongnan University of Economics ( 77 & 81 &< A 22
TEEEER) (currently known as Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law) (4 B 1 & BUE K2 ) in the PRC in July 1997,
and his master’s degree in business administration from Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University (1t R AZ ¢ EEEIEE
B% ) in the PRC in June 2004.
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Mr. Chen Aiguo (PR E Bl 5t 4 ), aged 45, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 9 January 2023.

Mr. Chen had over 16 years of experience in real estate enterprises
management. Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen served as the
general manager of Anyang Zengtai Materials Co., Ltd.* (%[5 14
ZYE BB A F) from March 2005 to December 2007. From
January 2008 to November 2010, Mr. Chen served as the chairman
of the board of directors of Anyang Duolun Mining Co., Ltd.* (&% T
Z @IEE B R 2 F)). Mr. Chen has been working as the chairman of
the board of directors of Henan Duolun Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.* (% % w5 & 5 3 A R A A1) since December 2010,
and a director of Anyang Jianye City Development Co., Ltd.* (%[5
EEHMEREAR A ) since April 2013.

Mr. Chen graduated from the School of Economics and Management
of Henan University in June 1999, majoring in economic
management.

Mr. Duan Juwei (R /B2 % ), aged 41, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 9 January 2023.

Mr. Duan had over 13 years of experience in real estate enterprises
management. Before joining the Group, Mr. Duan served as the
chairman of Dancheng Yinghe Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (88 & 5%
EE BB A7) since May 2010. In 2014, Mr. Duan founded Henan
Jujia Weiye Industrial Development Co., Ltd.* A /B KRB ¥ 5 ¥ 2%
B AR A F]), in which he served as the general manager since
September 2014. In 2015, he founded the four-star Dancheng
Vienna International Hotel* ( #B%% 4 2, 4% B BX B JE ), in which he
served as the chairman since July 2015. Since July 2016, Mr. Duan
served as the general manager of Fugou Jianyecheng Real Estate
Co., Ltd.* (FK)BHZE XM E X B MR Q7). Mr. Duan served as the
general manager of Huaiyang Junyang Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (JF5
&5 E ¥ B M A)) since December 2018. In 2019, Mr. Duan
founded Henan Jinhong Construction Co., Ltd.* (;i] & 85543 R A IR
72 A]), where he served as the chairman since July 2019. Since July
2019, Mr. Duan served as the general manager of Henan Hanrun
Real Estate Co., Ltd.* ()7 FE % EH E % B R 2 7). Since September
2019, Mr. Duan served as the general manager of Xinxiang
Shengtang Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (T AT EEEEXEGR A A)).
Since December 2019, Mr. Duan served as the general manager of
Qixian Guiyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (12 & EE B £ BR A F)).
Since September 2020, Mr. Duan served as the chairman of Jude
Holding Group (Henan) Co., Ltd.* (JEZE#E B O E ) B R A A).
Mr. Duan founded Fugou Yingbinfu Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (/& &8
ENFE XA AF)in 2021 and served as its general manager
since February 2021.
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Mr. Duan graduated from the Correspondence Institute of the Party
School of the Central Committee of CPC (7 e sh B 4% (4% £ )
in the PRC in December 2008, majoring in economic management.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Ying (#R# 54 ), aged 42, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Group on May 12, 2021. Mr. Xu is a
member of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Xu is primarily
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group’s
strategies, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standard of conduct.

From August 2007 to April 2010, Mr. Xu served as implementation
consultant and technical supervisor at Wandabao Software
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (BEE &4 ORII) BR 2 A]). Since April
2010, Mr. Xu served successively at Shenzhen Mingyuan Cloud
Technology Co., Ltd.* (RIITARRER AR 2 7) (formerly
known as Shenzhen Mingyuan Software Holding Co., Ltd.* (;Z3IT
BR R B B 1) B BR /2 B])) as an implementation consultant, manager
of the consulting department of the Shenzhen branch, director of
corporate services, as well as the chief specialist on cost, head of
solution center and dean of Mingyuan Real Estate Research
Institute (BFJRHBEERFZTET ). Mr. Xu has over 11 years of experience
in the real estate industry and has been invited to speak at events
held by China Urban Realty Association, Shougang Fund and
Colony Capital as a special speaker. Since August 2019, Mr. Xu has
been a visiting professor at Changjian Business School ( £ #& 5 2
Bt ). Mr. Xu has contributed to the publication of a number of
literature and industry reports, including “Best practice of Real
Estate Project Operation” ( EHZEIE B EE & EFEE) ), “Road to
A Hundred Billions” ( {(F1{&.,2 ) ), “Annual Operation Analysis
Report of Listed Real Estate Companies” series ( { =T &E & F FHE
BAMRE)Y E%)) and “New Challenges of the Epidemic, New
Opportunities for Real Estate Enterprises” ( <& 15 1 Pk & 5= 1 #1 #
B)).

Mr. Xu obtained his bachelor’s degree in international economics

and trade from Zhongnan University (7 E X £) in the PRC in June
2004.

72

R A R2008F 128 XN PR A XPRER
NIRRT T EEIRHE-

BAFITES

BERLE 425 N2021F5 128 EEE AR
EEBUIRTES - RAEERLIRAEREER
T REEESNTWNEESKB RALEEE
BEMRAEENER BE KB HEH &
BB ERIT AR EIRMEE A

H2007F8 A £2010F4 7 R L EES=E
G CRINERAFNERBRERXMEE -
7201054 A £ - R e £ EE R YT R BRI
BRAR (AERRIHARLFBRDBRAR)
M E R ORI AR AR E - R A RIS 4R
ENLARMERTRNEFERARNER RS
RPLDBEARGR -GELEEFBETERER
+—REER G B P B T B A R B
R B R e NI ZERE & A (Colony
Capital) B R EE R IRRBR B ETTES
20198 A HAL REERERN T EH
R-RAEENSRNRFZERETERS B
E(EHEREELERERR) (TRZK) -
(ETEEFREEDNBE) RN CREH
KBELHEE) Fo

R 70200446 A B SAIA B g K2 E

REEEE 52T 8-



(

2024 ANNUAL REPORT « —E - [UfF£ R

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liu Dianchen (8| B E 5% %), aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Group on May 31, 2024.
Mr. Liu is the chairman of the audit committee of the Company.

Mr. Liu possesses close to 40 years of experience in audit,
accounting, taxation, financial advisory, financial management and
investment in various organisations. Mr. Liu was graduated from
Zhengzhou Coal Technical School majoring in accounting in 1983.
Mr. Liu graduated from Tianjin University in 2000 with a postgraduate
degree in management science and engineering. Since November
2015, Mr. Liu has been a certified public accountant in the PRC.
Since June 2010, he has been a certified tax accountant in the PRC
and since March 2011, he has been recognized as a full senior
accountant. From July 1983 to April 2006, Mr. Liu successively
served as a Deputy Section Chief, Section Chief and Division
Director of the Financial Assets Department of Zhengzhou Coal
Industry (Group) Co., Ltd.* (E/MEx T (EE)BREL R A).
From April 2006 to September 2016, Mr. Liu was the Deputy General
Manager of Zhengzhou Coal and Power Co., Ltd* ( & /1| £ & % 17

R A &) ). From September 2016 to October 2017, Mr. Liu was the
director of the investment and financing department of Henan
Construction Group* (/7 B & & &% & E ). From October 2017 to
December 2021, he successively served as the executive director
and general manager of Henan Investment Group Company
Limited* (VA F I E S B AR A al). Since May 2020, he has
served as an independent director of Zhengzhou Sino-crystal
Diamond Co., Ltd.* (01 ZE & & Ml A B2 7 B R 22 7)), which was
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and delisted in June 2022
(stock code: 300064). Since May 2021, he has served as an
independent director of Shanggiu Dingfeng Mu Ye Co., Ltd.* (&
MEERERDABRAQF), a company listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock code: 873459). Since
August 2021, he has served as an independent director of Anyang
Ruiheng CNC Machine Tool Co., Ltd.* (%[5 & 18 % # R A% D AR
X 7)), a company listed on the National Equities Exchange and
Quotations (stock code: 837341); Since December 2022, he has
served as an independent director of Zhuoli Imaging Technology
Co., Ltd.* (FR1EE M EM B I BR A ). Since December 2023,
he has served as an independent director of Henan Xinlianxin
Shenleng Energy Co., Ltd* (JA] Fg /038 /0 %R 2 BER IR 1D B IR A 7).
From December 2021 to March 2024, he served as the general
manager of Zhengzhou Hongfeng Accounting Consulting Services
Co., Ltd.* (BME LG FHRRB AR F]). Since March 2024, he
has served as the Deputy Managing Partner of the Henan branch of
Crowe China Certified Public Accountants* (1t RElE & 5HEIZ=5F7).
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFhRERTEEERBE

Ms. Yan Yingchun (B %% &z 1), aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Group on December 27,
2024. Ms. Yan is the chairman of the remuneration committee,
member of the audit committee and the nomination committee of the
Company.

Ms. Yan obtained a Diploma of Accounting from Zhongnan Financial
and Economic University in 1986 and qualified as a senior
accountant in the People’s Republic of China in 2000 and has over
30 years of experience in financial management. She worked in the
Financial Section of Zhengzhou Hardware and Electric Appliance
Company Limited* (£5JI| 71 71 & %X /A 7)) as the deputy manager
from 1985 to 1988. From 1988 to 1991, she served as the deputy
general manager of the Finance Department of Central China
Overseas Development Company Limited* (FF R/8 5N 3R 422 7).
From 1992 to 2018, she served various posts in Central China Real
Estate Limited (a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 832, hereinafter “CCRE”) and its subsidiaries including
finance manager, human resources manager, assistant to general
manager, accountant in chief, vice-president, chief financial officer
and head of the board of director office. From November 2007 to
August 2018, she was an executive director of CCRE. She has
ceased to hold any position in CCRE and its subsidiaries thereafter.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Jun (£ E 5% %), aged 38, was appointed as the vice
president of the Group on 6 November 2020 and appointed as chief
executive officer of the Company on January 9, 2023. He is primarily
responsible for overall operation and management of the Group in
its project management business outside of Henan Province.

Mr. Wang joined CCRE in September 2010 and had held various
positions in the CCRE Group. Between September 2010 and
December 2015, he served successively as a marketing planning
specialist, deputy manager and manager in the sales and marketing
department of Zhoukou City division, and was mainly responsible for
the marketing in such region. Between December 2015 and March
2019, he served successively as a manager in the marketing
management department of Zhoukou regional head office as well as
assistant general manager of Luyi Project, assistant general
manager of Zhoukou regional head office, and general manager of
Zhoukou division, and was responsible for the management of real
estate projects and asset-light projects in such region. Since March
2019, he has been the vice president of Henan Zhongyuan Central
China City Development Co., Ltd.* (IR REERTEREFR A
A]), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, and is mainly
responsible for the management of its asset-light business outside
of Henan Province.

Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor’s degree in graphic design from
Jiujiang University (/1) L2657 ) in the PRC in July 2010.

*

For identification purpose only
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The Board presents the annual report with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of project management
services in Henan and other provinces in the PRC. An analysis of
the Group’s revenue for the Year by principal activities is set out in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the business review required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” set out on pages from 17 to 34 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. The Group
operates its business in compliance with applicable environmental
protection laws and regulations and has implemented relevant
environmental protection measures in compliance with the required
standards under applicable PRC laws and regulations. Further
details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance will
be disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report of
the Company for the Year has been published in accordance with
the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. There was no material breach of, or non-
compliance, with applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group fully understands that employees, customers and
suppliers are the key to its sustainable and stable development. The
Group is committed to establishing a close relationship with its
employees, enhancing cooperation with its suppliers and providing
high-quality products and services to its customers so as to ensure
the Group’s sustainable development.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management considers there to be one operating segment under
the requirements of HKFRS 8.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group’s profit for the Year and the state of the Group’s affairs as
at the date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 108 to 111 of this annual report.

RESULT AND DIVIDENDS

Profit attributable to equity shareholders, before dividends, of
RMB65.1 million (2023: RMB198.6 million) have been transferred to
reserves. Other movements in reserves are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors does not recommend the payment of any dividend for

the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31
December 2023: nil).

76

BT HELERRIZER

NEFEREEREMN AEBERNSERTE
BTHAREERELEEETEATENEM
BRRER - RAFE AEEHEREERK
TETHERERIER

HES - &FF - HERREMSNE
EERE

AEBFANEE FEMEREREBERTEY
BB AEEBNRESRYETORE

s EHERNEIE REFPIRHETMNERM
IR% - ARERARE N A FEER -

2 ERE

EEERR REFEVBREEIFEHOR
B EEEDER -

RE MR

el

-

KSERAFENGEN R AEERZBOHER

N
R REBFE1BE1M BN E M BEREK -

FERER

BB ATEZREEEEFNARESAHE T
(2023F : AR¥E1986E &) CEARE -E
HEBEESHNGAESEE R

EETEBRBEEHE2024F12A31B FFEY
EIIR B (B E2023F 128318 ILFE &) -



2024 ANNUAL REPORT « —E - [UfF£ R

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2025 AGM will be held on Wednesday, 21 May 2025. Notice of
the 2025 AGM will be published and issued to shareholders in due
course.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purposes of determining shareholders’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM, the Hong Kong register of members of
the Company will be closed from Friday, 16 May 2025 to
Wednesday, 21 May 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period
no transfer of shares would be registered. All properly completed
share transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong, by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 15
May 2025, for registration.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 224 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 10 to the financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share award scheme adopted by the Company, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the Year.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 21(a) to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Year are set out in note 21(d) to the financial
statements and in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity,
respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's distributable reserves
were RMB566.2 million (31 December 2023: RMB537.5 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 58.7% of the Group’s total purchases
and purchases from the largest supplier amounted to approximately
37.9% of the Group’s total purchases.

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 14.5% of the Group’s total turnover and sales to the
largest customer amounted to approximately 3.8% of the Group’s
total turnover.

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates, or any Shareholder owning more than
5% of the Company'’s share capital (excluding treasury shares), had
any interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five largest
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the Year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Chairman and Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Po Sum
Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Bing
Mr. Chen Aiguo
Mr. Duan Juwei

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) (resigned on 14 June 2024)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Baoguo (resigned on 10 October 2024)

Mr. Liu Dianchen (appointed on 31 May 2024)

Mr. Xu Ying

Mr. Siu Chi Hung (retired on 30 May 2024)

Ms. Yan Yingchun (appointed on 27 December 2024)

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to
Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director
throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to retire by
rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number
of directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire
and not to offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to
retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by
rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-election

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

EE

RAFEEEARSBHERNEFHT:

EERFYITES
ERRAR ST
HITES

il s
REBELL
BEELE

FHITES
ZHELT+ (JR20244E6 H 14 H B 1F)
BAFHTES

KRIRE e 4 (2024410510 A B41F)
IR e d (R20244F5 531 HEZ(T)
"ELE

EEM A (R20244F5H30H R 1F)
BI5EE L+ (R2024F12 527 H#ZE (F)

RIEERMAAESC) IR EFEREHRAE
FEMZENENES AEHEEARAIELT
TREBREFRE R &R EEEE--RIE
SRAMAIFESMF RARRERERRBFEAS L
RERETEEAB =02 — (HHBBE LI
ZOEEC AMGEAEERN IR =02 —HEE)
MEFABERT HEBNESEB=FZ2)ARK
BERE-X-REEFREEENKRE LINEE
EUNAERBEEEE-BERENES (B
BERERTEFABMEELE) BREMEA
BERAMEBERBRESEINEFT HBRRENES

79



CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « FIREZZFRA T )

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

or appointment. In accordance with Articles 83(3) of the Articles of
Association, Ms. Yan Yingchun retired from office and offered herself
for re-election at the 2025 AGM. In accordance with Articles 84(1)
and 84(2) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Wu Po Sum and Mr. Xu
Ying retired from their offices, and being eligible, offered themselves
for re-election at the 2025 AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual written confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on
such information, the Company still considers the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 68 to 74 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of three years, which may be terminated
by not less than thirty (30) days’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other.

None of the Directors has any existing or proposed service contracts
with any member of the Group (excluding contracts expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save for the relevant transactions as disclosed in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements or the connected transactions
described in this report, none of the Directors or an entity connected
with the Directors had a material beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, nor any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders or any of
its subsidiaries, subsisting during the Year or as at 31 December
2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) was considered to be
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

All Directors are entitled to a fee as approved by the Board with
reference to the prevailing market conditions. Executive Directors
are entitled to fees, salaries, housing allowances, other allowances,
benefits in kind (including contribution to the pension scheme on
behalf of the Directors) or discretionary bonuses, which are
determined by the Board having regard to the Group’s performance
and the prevailing market conditions and approved by the
remuneration committee of the Company. Details of Directors’
emoluments and emoluments of five highest paid individuals of the
Company are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
directors (the “Directors”) and chief executives of the Company in
the shares (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures (the
“Debentures”) of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

(a) Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of
the Company

EERESTHRASRKRG - HER
P EEEP SRR

R2024F12A31H A RAEH ([EE]) &
BITBABEARBISKERE L8 (E&LESH
MEFEGED ([EHFRBERD ) EXV ) MK
B (IRf])  BEEkG REEE ([EEE]) T
HERAREES R EKRHIEISAFETEN
HZMARRIEES R EIEOIEXVEHETRED
HeiRiE EH R B SR CIFT S IZESFRI AN S
RAF R R TS RORB T -

(@) REQXTARORMEBROPHTRE

Approximate
percentage of the
interest in the

Name of Director or Capacity and nature Number of Other Company'’s issued
chief executive of interest Shares held Interests @ Total share capital
BARDAB BT
BRAH B EHD
ESHEETHAGHE SORERME RO #E HitfEz? et ERa 4t
Mr. Wu Po Sum Interest in a controlled 1,841,455,862 - 1,841,455,862 47.64%
corporation @
RAEREAE REEEER Y
Mr. Hu Bing Beneficial owner 14,220,000 7,000,000 21,220,000 0.55%
BKEAE BEREAA
Ms. Yan Yingchun Beneficial owner 15,200,000 - 15,200,000 0.39%
BREEXL ERBEAA
Mr. Wang Jun Beneficial owner 4,920,000 9,100,000 14,020,000 0.36%
TEEE BERBEAA
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Notes:

The approximate percentage of the interest in the Company’s
issued share capital is based on a total of 3,865,617,028 Shares
of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2024.

These interests are awarded Shares that have been granted to
the relevant Directors and/or chief executive under the share
award scheme of the Company and were not vested as at 31
December 2024.

Joy Bright Investments Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Wu Po
Sum. Therefore, Joy Bright Investments Limited is a controlled
corporation of Mr. Wu Po Sum and Mr. Wu Po Sum is deemed
to be interested in the 1,841,455,862 Shares that Joy Bright
Investments Limited is interested in under the SFO.

Long position in the shares of our associated
corporation

Name of associated
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GES

RARBEBRTEATNEEROB D
LE Ty 3R AR A B 020244F12 4318 B # 17
i& 15 & ££3,865,617,028/% et E E A -

ZERDRRBARTRN KRB
RTHEMEELRS&RETTHRABNEE
f&f7 - 72024512 A3 B KB &

BEREAGRARBAMERLELZEH
BoE BIBIREBR AR ARERE
EMZEEE MPAEREEREESR L
HEKMNBERENBBIREFRARE
B 25 H91,841,455,8620% % 1) R 1 B 1

P
m ©

REMEBEZERG FHNFRE

Percentage of
interests in the
associated
corporation

Name of Director

corporation

Nature of interest

Class and number
of shares held

immediately as at
31 December 2023

M2023F12831H

FrER % REECEER

EEpR HE =B £ ERtME ERIRHE ERZEIL

Mr. Wu Po Sum Joy Bright Investments Limited Beneficial owner 20,000 100%
ordinary shares
R EE RERERRAR BEEHERA 20,0000%
IR

Mr. Wu Po Sum Central China Real Estate Interested in a Controlled 1,272,734,299 41.88%?
Limited (“CCRE”) Corporation (¥ ordinary shares
HREREAE BEMERNERAQA] RipEEER 1,272,734,2990%
(BEME]) B

Ms. Yan Yingchun CCRE Beneficial owner 14,400,000 0.47%?
ordinary shares
BEELL BERIME EaBEEA 14,400,0004%
BBk
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Notes:

1. Joy Bright Investments Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Wu Po
Sum. Therefore, Joy Bright Investments Limited is a controlled
corporation of Mr. Wu Po Sum and Mr. Wu Po Sum is deemed
to be interested in the same number of ordinary shares of
CCRE ("CCRE Shares") that Joy Bright Investments Limited is
interested in under the SFO.

2. The approximate percentage of the interest in CCRE’s issued
share capital is based on a total of 3,039,126,090 CCRE Shares
in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors, chief executives of the Company or their associates had
any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief
executives were deemed or taken to have under the provisions of
the SFO), or which were required to be and are recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2024, other than the interests and
short positions of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or
Debentures” above, the following persons had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

84

GES

1. RBERBEBRATHBERLELEHE
BeoHit BEREERARRBRERSE
EMFEEE MARKEERERE S R
HEGRINEE RN EEREFR QR
BiEamARBBEZELELTBR (T8
EERS]) P AL

2. REXHEEZTRAMNBRZHLD
BAOLTIERN2024F12A318 & #
3,039,126,090/% B 3 1T & H W EK D 5

At
(=
>t

B E PR EE & SN 1R2024F 12310 - B & E
£ ARARBTBRABHRENBEARNLR
A EEMREAR (E& RESKREERFE
XV ER) ey Em it - MR RERETHA R
REBEFE S LB GROIIEXVEFETRED BAE R
RERBRZAOERIAR (BRERER S MY
ERIBRBGRXEERERTRABRSHE
BEEBRENRERIAR) HEARBESF LB
EGRPIEI2GARBIATFENAMARER
SRR HARBIRETRAANEG AR B KB FT
MR SOX R

EERRNADCTRAFNE S

BESXANAESITEABA  1R2024F
12A31H  BREX [EERESITTHRABRES
HERDREEEFNESERAR | EHMBEEE
ERARAESITHRABRBEIRARIN AT
ATRARB WG KAEBEIR D P HEBIREE
% K HA SIS0 55 XV 38552 35 B e & ST/ A AR
AR B kAL AR IR 3B 5 I HA S K1) 5533615 A
AREETFENZMAMERIAR



2024 ANNUAL REPORT « —E - [UfF£ R

Long positions in the Shares
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REBROHHER

Approximate

percentage of the

interest in the

Number of Company’s issued

Name of Shareholder Capacity and nature of interest Shares held share capital @

HERRAB BT
IR A fE 2

BEER HE BORERMEE R4 &8 BHBEIEe

Joy Bright Investments Limited (*) Beneficial owner 1,841,455,862 47.64%

BiEREBR AR EREAA

Ms. Wu Lam Li @ Interest of spouse 1,841,455,862 47.64%

ML Fo B =

Notes: Bt

1. Joy Bright Investments Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Wu Po Sum.
Under the SFO, Mr. Wu Po Sum is deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares in which Joy Bright Investments Limited is
interested.

2. Ms. Wu Lam Li, being the spouse of Mr. Wu Po Sum, is deemed, or
taken to be, interested in the Shares in which Mr. Wu Po Sum is
interested for the purpose of the SFO.

3. The approximate percentage of the interest in the Company’s issued
share capital is based on a total of 3,865,617,028 Shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, there was no
other person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company’s share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
was adopted and approved by the Shareholders on 7 August 2023.
For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 30 May 2023 and 7 August 2023 and the circular of
the Company dated 20 July 2023. Pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme, the awarded Shares will be satisfied by new Shares to be
allotted and issued by the Company to the trustee, or through on-
market acquisitions of existing Shares by the trustee at the
prevailing market price.

PURPOSE

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is (i) to align the interests
of the eligible participants with those of the Group through ownership
of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or
the increase in value of the Shares; and (ii) to encourage and retain
eligible participants to make contributions to the long-term growth
and profits of the Group.

PARTICIPANTS

Eligible participants consist only of directors and employees of the
Group, who in the absolute discretion of the Board have contributed
(and will continue to contribute) or will contribute to the Group. This
also includes directors or employees who are granted options and/
or awards as an inducement to enter into employment contracts with
the Group but excludes an employee or director who has submitted
his/her resignation or whose contract of employment has been
terminated (summarily dismissed or otherwise). Further, eligible
participants excludes anyone who is resident in a place where the
grant of an award and/or the vesting and transfer of the awarded
Shares pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme is not
permitted under the laws or regulations of such place or where in
the view of the Board, compliance with applicable laws or regulations
in such place makes it necessary or expedient to exclude such
participant.
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AWARD OF SHARES AND POOL OF AWARDED
SHARES

The total number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all
awards under the Share Award Scheme and other share schemes
of the Company would be no more than 362,580,212 Shares,
representing no more than 10% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the date of adoption of the Share Award Scheme or the
relevant date of approval of the refreshment of the scheme mandate
limit.

Both as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the number of
awards in the form of new Shares available for future grant under
the scheme mandate limit of the Share Award Scheme was
297,080,212 Shares (being the abovementioned scheme mandate
limit of 362,580,212 Shares less the 65,500,000 awarded Shares in
the form of new Shares granted as set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 30 May 2023 and the circular of the Company
dated 20 July 2023).

As at 31 December 2024 and as at 11 April 2025, being the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, the total
number of Shares available for issue under the Share Award
Scheme was 297,080,212, representing approximately 7.69% and
7.69% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at 31
December 2024 and 11 April 2025 respectively.

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH
PARTICIPANT

Where any grant of awards to a selected participant would result in
the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options and
awards granted to such selected participant (excluding any options
and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of any relevant
scheme) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares, such grant
must be separately approved by the Shareholders (which excludes
any Shareholders that are required to abstain from voting under the
Listing Rules, such as the relevant selected participant and his/her
close associates (or associates if such selected participant is a
connected person)) in general meeting, with such selected
participant and his/her close associates (or associates if the selected
participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

B 153 8% B % 52 Ry B 443 itk

RIBRE D 2B et 8 R AN R B H b J& {5 51 &) /] 5t
BTG 2B 2547 1Y I 10 AR 2415 1 8 3#8362,580,212
RER% 15 - G A% D 22 Eh a2V ER 4 B B skt At
EIREREMNMAERPERTROEH T EE
10% ©

M2024F1 818 Kk2024F128318 » 10 22 B
FEIME IR ERBE TAHRABRE THEE
B (U HAR) 5297,080,2128% (B ki
=+ 2 #% #E R $8362,580,21 20 Bl = AN A 7 B Hi &
2023F5H30B M~ & LA A A B H R2023F7
H208 /38 kP& B 7 1 #965,500,000% 22 E) i%
B (AFBRMDHER) ) -

M2024F12 A31H K #2025F4 118 (B) F) 3
REBRANREERAIITHE)  RIBR D ZE)
A& AT B 1T A9 IR 1) 48 20 2297,080,2120% - &
AMEF2024F12 A31H KX2025%4 4118 B %17
fgtn (P BRIFEEFRG ) #497.69% K7.69% °

BR2HENESEHE

AR E2EERMEMRBEEHNHEAH
BHEA# (2REZA) 126 A #E S AR E
S BERNOMAEBRELER (TeRRIEE
] A8 &t B 16 SR SR R O 1 fe) 8 AU e 2R D) 2 3%
TR FEITHRND A XBEBRNN1% BIF
R ZARBRR (TR ERRE LT RAIZAN
ZRENRR MAMET2EERARTBRE
ASEBREALNEESEENBEA) )R
BRRAG EATHAE MREE2EERHEER
BEA(RMET2EELSBEAL MAKE
N)BERERE-

87



CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « FIREZZFRA T )

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

Each grant of an award to any Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates,
shall be subject to the prior approval of the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is a proposed recipient of the grant of an award). In
addition:

(a)

(b)

where any grant of awarded Shares to any Director (other than
an independent non-executive Director) or chief executive of
the Company, or any of their respective associates, would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all
award shares granted (excluding any award shares lapsed) in
accordance with the terms of the Share Award Scheme and
other share scheme(s) of the Company (if any) to such person
in the 12-month period (or such other time period as may be
specified by the Stock Exchange from time to time) up to and
including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over
0.1% (or such other percentage as may be specified by the
Stock Exchange from time to time) of the Shares in issue as at
the date of such grant, such further grant of awarded Shares
must be approved by Shareholders in general meeting in the
manner required, and subject to the requirements set out, in
the Listing Rules; or

where any grant of awarded Shares to an independent non-
executive Director or substantial shareholder of the Company
(or any of their respective associates) would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all award shares
and options granted (excluding any award shares and options
lapsed) in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Scheme and other share scheme(s) adopted by the Company
to such person in the 12 month period (or such other time
period as may be specified by the Stock Exchange from time
to time) up to and including the date of such grant representing
in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other percentage as may be
specified by the Stock Exchange from time to time) of Shares
in issue as at the date of such grant, such further grant of
awarded Shares must be approved by Shareholders in general
meeting in the manner required, and subject to the
requirements set out, in the Listing Rules.

In the circumstances described (a) and (b) above, the Company
must send a circular to the Shareholders. The selected participants,
his/her associates and all core connected persons of the Company
must abstain from voting in favour at such general meeting. The
Company must comply with the requirements under Rules 13.40,
13.41 and 13.42 of the Listing Rules.
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VESTING OF THE AWARDED SHARES AND
PERFORMANCE TARGETS

The respective awarded Shares shall vest on the selected
participant in accordance with the applicable vesting schedule as set
out in the letter of grant when all the vesting conditions set out
therein have been satisfied and/or waived (all of which shall be
determined by the Board or the Remuneration Committee in its
absolute discretion). The Board or the Remuneration Committee
may direct and procure the trustee to release from the trust the
awarded Shares to the selected participants by transferring the
number of awarded Shares to the selected participants in such
manner as determined by the Board or the Remuneration Committee
from time to time.

The Board may at its discretion specify any conditions (including
performance targets (if any)) which must be satisfied before the
awarded Shares may be vested in the award letter. Such
performance targets may include financial targets and management
targets which shall be determined based on the (i) individual
performance, (ii) performance of the Group and/or (iii) performance
of business groups, business units, business lines, functional
departments, projects and/or geographical area managed by the
selected participants.

Subject to the Listing Rules, the Board or the committee of the
Board or person(s) to which the Board delegated its authority may
from time to time while the Share Award Scheme is in force and
subject to all applicable laws, determine such vesting criteria and
conditions or periods for the award to be vested. The vesting date in
respect of any award shall be not less than 12 months from its date
of grant, provided that for employees, the vesting date may be less
than 12 months from the date of grant (including on the date of
grant) in and only in the following circumstances where:

(a) grants of “make whole” awards to new joiner employee
participants to replace share awards such employee
participants forfeited when leaving their previous employers;

(b) grants to an employee participant whose employment is
terminated due to death or disability or occurrence of any out
of control event. In those circumstances, the vesting of awards
may accelerate;

(c) grants of awards with performance-based vesting conditions,
in lieu of time-based vesting criteria;
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(d) grants of awards that are made in batches during a year for
administrative and compliance reasons. They may include
awards that should have been granted earlier but had to wait
for a subsequent batch. In such cases the vesting periods may
be shorter to reflect the time for which an award would have
been granted;

(e) grants of awards with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule
such as where the awards vest evenly over a period of 12
months; or

(f)  grants of awards with a total vesting and holding period of
more than 12 months.

ACCEPTANCE OF AWARD AND PURCHASE
PRICE OF AWARDED SHARES

Subject to the above vesting period requirements, the Board has the
authority to determine, among other things, the amount payable on
acceptance of the award and the relevant payment terms. In
general, no amount is payable on acceptance of grant of award
under the Share Award Scheme.

The purchase price of the awarded Shares (being the price payable
by a grantee to purchase Shares under the Share Award Scheme, if
any) shall be such price which shall be determined by the Board, the
committee of the Board, or person(s) to which the Board has
delegated its authority from time to time based on considerations
such as the prevailing closing price of the Shares (being the average
closing market price for the five preceding business days on which
the Shares are traded on the Stock Exchange), the purpose of the
award and the characteristics and profile of the selected participant.
Such room for discretion provides the Board with flexibility to
stipulate, if necessary, a purchase price for awarded Shares, while
balancing the purpose of the award and the interests of
Shareholders.
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REMAINING LIFE

Subject to early termination, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a term of 10 years commencing from the date of its
adoption, being 7 August 2023, until 6 August 2033.

MOVEMENTS OF AWARDED SHARES

On 29 May 2023, the Board resolved to award an aggregate of
65,500,000 awarded Shares (the “2023 Awarded Shares”) at nil
consideration to a total of 15 employee participants, which includes
2 Directors and the chief executive officer of the Company (“Chief
Executive Officer”), pursuant to the Share Award Scheme.

The grant of the 2023 Awarded Shares were made conditional on
the Shareholders approving the adoption of the Share Award
Scheme (and for the Directors, approval of independent
Shareholders for such grant to them), which was obtained via the
ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 7 August 2023. The 2023 Awarded Shares
were issued to the trustee on 8 September 2023.

The closing price of the Shares, immediately before the Board
resolved to grant of the 2023 Awarded Shares (i.e. 25 May 2023)
and before the date of Shareholders’ approval of such grant (i.e. 4
August 2023) was HK$0.35 and HK$0.39, respectively. According to
the accounting standard and policy adopted by the Company, the
date of grant is considered to be the date of Shareholders’ approval
(i.e. 7 August 2023). The aggregate fair value of the 2023 Awarded
Shares as at 7 August 2023 amounted to approximately HK$25.2
million. The fair value of awarded shares on the grant date is
determined by reference to the closing price of the underlying
ordinary shares on the date of grant, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the awarded shares were granted, in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 2,
Share-based payment.
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The 2023 Awarded Shares are subject to the satisfaction of the
vesting criteria and conditions as set out in the table below. These
also include performance targets. The Company has established an
appraisal mechanism to evaluate the performance of each Selected
Participant. Each Selected Participant will be continually assessed
throughout his/her employment. The performance targets of the
Awarded Shares are individualized based on the job nature and job
positions of each Selected Participant and the projected market and
business conditions. The performance targets of the Awarded
Shares include (among others) the Company achieving satisfactory
revenue, gross profit, net profit, gross floor area under management
or other internal performance metrics during the vesting period of
the awarded Shares. Shortly prior to each vesting date, the Board
will determine whether the relevant grantee has met his/her
performance targets for the relevant one-year period prior to the
vesting date. In assessing whether such performance targets have
been satisfactorily met, the Board and Remuneration Committee will
focus on the growth and reputation of the Group, its industry ranking,
as well as benchmarking of such key performance metrics against
comparable companies in the same industry and/or with a listing on
the Stock Exchange or a comparable and recognized stock
exchange.

Subject to fulfillment of all such vesting criteria and conditions, the

2023 Awarded Shares shall be transferred from the trustee to the
selected participants upon expiry of the respective vesting period.
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Movement of the awarded Shares during the Year was as follows: RERORANEENZSHHET
Number of Awarded Share
RRRHEA
Weighted
average
Share
closing
price
Unvested Unvested immediately
asat Granted Vested  Lapsed Cancelled  asat31 hefore
Selected Date of 1 January during during during during December  vesting
participants grant Vesting period 2024 Reclassification ~ the Year  the Year  the Year the Year 2024 dates
34
R2024% 0245 A HEIIE
1818 REEE  REEE RAEE  REEE  12A%B  THRf
BESAE RILEH FEH ES ] | ENDE i ] % i#  ABE  UWE
Directors
£
—Mr.HuBing”  29May2023 —  30%: 12 months from the date 10,000,000 - - 3,000,000 - - 7,000,000 0
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2024)
—  30%: 24 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2025)
—  40%: 36 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2026)
—HiKEED  NBESANE — 30%:ERLAHEH2EA
(E12024%5A297)
— 30%: B R B HETuE S
(E12025%5A298)
— 40%:ERHAHEHI6EA
(A12026%5A297)
— Ms. Wu Wallis® — 30%: 12 months from the date 6,000,000 (6,000,000) - - - - - NIA
(alias Li Hua) of grant (i.e. 29 May 2024)
(resigned on — 30%: 24 months from the date
14 June 2024) of grant (i.e. 29 May 2025)
—  40%: 36 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2026)
—FHELLo — 30%: B &L A HET2E 7 iR
(H20456 147 (E1202455A297)
#HT) — 30%: B R B HETuE S
(E12025%5298)
— 40%: ERHABRHI6EA
(A1206%5A297)
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Number of Awarded Share
RERHEA
Weighted
average
Share
closing
price
Unvested Unvested immediately
asat Granted Vested  Lapsed Cancelled  asat31 hefore
Selected Date of 1 January during during during during December  vesting
participants grant Vesting period 2024 Reclassification ~ theYear  the Year  theYear the Year 2024 dates
ZE5E
R2024% 20245 B A E
1518 REEE  RAEE WAFE  RAEE 12848 THRH
BEgaE RIEBS GRS AR E b it 58 % i ABE UTE
Chief Executive Officer
BERHUME
—Mr.WangJun?  29May2023  —  30%: 12 months from the date 13,000,000 - 3,900,000 - - 9,100,000 0.11
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2024)
— 30%: 24 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2025)
—  40%: 36 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2026)
—TELHO 23F53208 —  30%: BIRi A HR20EA
(E12024%5A298)
— N%:ERNAHEHUER
(1202555298
— 40%:BRLABEHI06EA
(E12026%5A298)
Selected participants
BEgRE
Otheremployee ~ 29May2023  —  30%: 12 months from the date 36,500,000 6,000,000 - 9,750,000 - 10,000,000 22,750,000 0.11
participants™ (not of grant (i.e. 29 May 2024)
being Directors or — 30%: 24 months from the date
chief executive of of grant (i.e. 29 May 2025)
the Company) —  40%: 36 months from the date
of grant (i.e. 29 May 2026)
HfEsSEEM 202358208 — 30%:EREABR2EA
(FARAESS (1202455298
BRITHAE) — 30%: B A HEHE S
(1202555298
— 40%:BRHABEHI0ER
(1202695298
Total 65,500,000 - - 16,650,000 - 10,000,000 38,850,000
fazt
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Notes:

1. Save as disclosed above, there is no any other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules.

2. The purchase price of all awarded Shares set out in the table above is
nil.
3. All grants set out in the table above were made on 29 May 2023 and

conditional on certain approval of the Shareholders, which was
obtained on 7 August 2023.

4. None of the grants set out in the table above were in excess of the 1%
individual limit under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Further, the
Share Award Scheme is not available to any related entity or service
provider.

5. The number of Shares available for grant under the scheme mandate
limit of the Share Award Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and as at 31
December 2024 was 297,080,212 Shares.

6. As no awards were granted during the Year, the number of Shares that
may be issued in respect of awards granted under all share schemes
of the Company during the Year divided by the weighted average
number of Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares) for the Year is
nil.

7. For Mr. Hu Bing, all those 3,000,000 awarded Shares scheduled to be
vested on 29 May 2024 were vested on 24 October 2024.

8. For Ms. Wu Wallis, all those 1,800,000 awarded Shares scheduled to
be vested on 29 May 2024 were vested on 24 October 2024.

9. For Mr. Wang Jun, all those 3,900,000 awarded Shares scheduled to
be vested on 29 May 2024 were vested on 24 October 2024.

10.  After the resignation of Ms. Wu Wallis on 14 June 2024, her awarded
Shares were reclassified and included in this category. In this category,
out of those 12,750,000 awarded Shares scheduled to be vested on
29 May 2024, 3,000,000 awarded Shares were cancelled and
9,750,000 awarded Shares were vested on 24 October 2024.

There is no issue of equity securities or sale of treasury Shares for
cash by the Company (other than under a share scheme that
complies with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) during the Year.
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4. LERABEHBEBLE EHRAFEI7TEET1%
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HEA BB RGRMtE-

5. R2024F1 818 ;kH2024F 124318 - R &%
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BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any borrowings.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has subscribed appropriate directors’
and officers’ liabilities insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Group which remains in force.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group did not enter into any connected transactions (other than
connected transactions that are exempted under Rule 14A.73 of the
Listing Rules) during the Year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the Year, the Group has entered into the following continuing
connected transactions (other than continuing connected
transactions that are fully exempted under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing
Rules):

Trademark Licensing Agreement

On May 13, 2021, a trademark licensing agreement (the “Trademark
Licensing Agreement”) was entered into between CCRE and our
Company, pursuant to which CCRE agreed to grant to the Group the
right to use certain trademarks of the CCRE Group registered in the
PRC and Hong Kong (the “Licensed Trademarks”) for the Group’s
business operations and investment activities, as well as the right to
sub-lease the Licensed Trademarks to third parties solely for the
purpose of business operation of the Group. The Trademark
Licensing Agreement has a term of ten years commencing from the
Listing, unless otherwise terminated by both parties. Neither CCRE
nor the Group has the right to unilaterally terminate the Trademark
Licensing Agreement. Pursuant to the Trademark Licensing
Agreement, the licensing fee payable by the Group to CCRE from
Listing onwards will be: (1) for the first three years: RMB15 million
per year; (2) for the fourth to sixth year: RMB20 million per year; and
(3) for the seventh to tenth year: RMB25 million per year. Such
licensing fee will be calculated on a pro-rated basis for less than an
entire calendar year.
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The annual cap for the licensing fee for the Year was RMB17.9
million.

For the Year, the licensing fees payable by the Group under the
Trademark Licensing Agreement amounted to RMB17.9 million.

As at the dates of the above agreement and up to the date of this
report, Mr. Wu Po Sum is the controlling shareholder of the
Company, and indirectly owned more than 30% equity interests in
CCRE. Therefore, the abovementioned transactions also constitute
the continuing connected transactions of the Company. Details of
the above agreement are set out in the prospectus of the Company
dated 18 May 2021.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors of the Company have reviewed the above-
mentioned continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
such continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

a) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

b) either on normal commercial terms or, if there were not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they were
on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favorable to the
Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and

c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions for the Year in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note 24
to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the connected
transaction and continuing connected transactions as disclosed
above, none of these related party transactions is required to be
disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant events subsequent to 31 December 2024
which would materially affect the Group’s operating and financial
performance as of the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
(including sale of treasury shares).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy is designed to attract, retain and
motivate talented individuals to contribute to the success of the
business. The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
formulated and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on the
basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
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The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regards to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) pursuant to the MPF Schemes Ordinance for all its
employees in Hong Kong. All the employees of the Group in Hong
Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to consolidated income statement as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years as of 31 December 2024.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC, in compliance with the
applicable regulations of the PRC, participated in a state managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the local government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific percentage of their
payroll costs to the retirement benefits schemes. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to
make the specified contributions. During the reporting period, the
total amounts contributed by the Group to the schemes and costs
charged to the consolidated income statement represent contribution
payable to the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules
of the schemes.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed level of public float during the Year and
up to 11 April 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report as required under the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations and other donations made by the Group during
the Year amounted to RMB Nil (2023: Nil).
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MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

For the Year, the Company was not involved in any litigation,
arbitration or claims of material importance and there was no
litigation or claim of material importance which was known to the
Directors to be pending or threatened by or against the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report at pages 35 to 67 of
this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the Annual
Results, including the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, and discussed auditing, risk management and internal
control systems and financial reporting matters with the
management as well as reviewed the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.

AUDITORS

KPMG resigned as auditor of the Company with effect from 26
March 2024. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as
auditor of the Company with effect from 6 May 2024 and resigned
with effect from 27 September 2024. Prism Hong Kong Limited was
appointed as auditor of the Company with effect from 15 October
2024.

By order of the board

Wu Po Sum

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

%@ Prism

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Central China Management Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Central
China Management Company Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 108 to 222, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in
the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.

Revenue recognition

LN+

FRENEE

MAEEFRERERMNEXAE  BAEAN
MR M HRERNBETRRERNSTH ZFH
EERMEBABESAMBBRREEAERR
ETREN RATSHELETREHEBNE
Ho

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(s).

BLREE MR 3R M AT 1(s) BB FT R
The Key Audit Matter
HRETSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB AR EZSBE

The Group is principally engaged in the
provision of project management services in
Henan and other provinces in the People’s
Republic of China. Revenue from the Jr:
provision of project management services for

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition arising from the
provision of project management services included the following:

HFIptie it EHERERBMELNRARRNETEFR2EATE

the year ended 31 December 2024 totalled
RMB252.0 million (2023: RMB468.4 million).
EEEIENTEARLMBIEES RKHEM
BEMRERHEEHWERZRS B E2024F
12A318 L F & - IR 5 E IR H) K
AEHAEARK252.08 & T (2023F : AR
#4684BETT) °

evaluating the design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls over the revenue recognition on provision of
project management services;
AERHEFEHERZRG B AERNEREANLZESNRGT B
NETHMIL:

inspecting project management service contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify key terms and conditions relating to the provision
of project management services and assessing the Group’s
revenue recognition policies with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;
mEREEMERRERBEaR UBTHEREEMERERSEE
BHBARIGETR RGN Y2ERTETERNNERTE EEENH
WARERBR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Revenue recognition

WA FERR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE RS

FARESEIE )

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(s).

ERHAE MR A3 R T 1(s) B B EFIBE °

The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMNETMAEEZEE

The Group’s project management services
cover the life cycle of the project development
covering the project research and approval,
design and planning, construction, sales and
after-sales stages. Project management
service fee income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated service
period. The service period typically ranges
from three years to five years.
EEENEHERERBREEAFAENE
BB BEEA AR REL Rt RRE
BiE HERERRBER FihERER
BB WAL RS B AR B R E SRR o
REPRBENTF=FEHF-

For project management contracts that
contain incentive fees based on the future
sales performance, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using the most likely amount. We
identified revenue recognition as a key audit
matter because revenue is one of the key
performance indicators of the Group and is
significant to the consolidated financial
statements, both of which give rise to an
inherent risk of manipulation of the timing of
revenue recognition.
AESERARREEXENDEEERTEE
WEMHERRZEAMS BEXEEAR
AR BAARESR - BHMAKKRAER
EREREFFE BRARAZ EEEH
BREEEREz — HEAUBRRERE
R MEDFERGWAERRSEOE AR

LA
o0
ZN

o

obtaining and inspecting underlying documentation in respect of
revenue recognised, on a sample basis, which included signed
project management service contracts, project development plans,
progress reports, project construction permits and pre-sale permits,
the formal confirmation regarding incentive fees (if applicable),
invoices and bank-in slips and assessing the business substance of
the underlying transactions and whether the related revenue had
been recognised in accordance with the Group’s revenue
recognition policies;

RS B AREREROER G UEAARER  2EESE
ENEMERRRB AR ABREE ERERE BB ERF

AR FAERTA] - REVE A ERER (WER) ZRZRRTHFE

FHEEARZNEREE  URHEBBRAREERR SE5EENK
AFERBR T LARERR :

conducting site visits, on a sample basis, to development projects
in progress under the Group’s management and discussing with the
seconded project managers as well as the customers’ management
to observe the development progress of the projects with reference
to the project developing plan and assess the estimated service
period;

Y ESEEEEMNERBERETHEEMZER  WHEERER KB
REFPEBEETNW 2RIAEMBETEFEEENRABES
I AL FEET AR TS A

obtaining confirmations, on a sample basis, to confirm the receipt of
payment by customers during the year and receipt of payments and
payment period accumulated up to reporting date; for unreturned
confirmations, performing alternative procedures by comparing
details with contracts, bank-in slips and other underlying project
related documentation; and
MERESEREURRFAWI TS NRE R ERE B RO
T R FE BN ARRONERE BB AFAEREAR
IRITFE R EMIE R HEER X ETHBRATEREF &

assessing the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of
completion progress and revenue from provision of project
management services.

AHERTETEE MR B E KRB EL WA BB LR
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

B R BEh R &
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. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the Group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purpose of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

106

+ FAIBEEARAEFERENREERIEL
SRHERT AR EN S -

- HEERARBLLOERNREEE
s - RIBFIERNESEE  BESE
FEEFEXBRNEBNEATEE L
femAReEsYE EXENBELZREN
ELXBEARB - MRERMB/EFEEARTD
BEMN AV BEZBMBRETRERE
REIBHAVBRTNEEARE -RE
BRMEETR RHMARERRIFER
BEA BMMERSERZHENRE R
IEFTEVS MV REHRRE - AT - RREZIHKIF
MR BEEETREFELE -

- TESAUBBROBRIES N A8
MAR BEEE UREEHBEHRRES
TERRZZHMER-

- AERBMTEERG UG EEERE
BAXBEDINW B ESERTR EE
MBEFBE ERTEKYE BEXEHAY
BHREACBERNKE BRFAEES B8
MEZASSEETENHARNES TIE-
BMABHERAERHEE-

BREMEREN RMREZZES BB TN
EATHRE BRI BEXEAERS B8ERK
FIFEZR AT AP a8 Al P #B 22 1l O £ ] = KBRFA -

ug|

BZREREZZBSRREN HBARMACHTA
BRBIMEMABEREEER Y EMB ISR
BRgGEER AT ERMBLENAA
FARMEMEIR - LA R E R B R BB P
RERTTEI KB EBE e (BEA) ©



2024 ANNUAL REPORT « —E - [UfF£ R

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Kwok Lun.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lee Kwok Lun

Practising Certificate Number: P06294

Hong Kong
24 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FalRaR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B Z2024F 12318 IFF/E (UAREZIE)

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K e AR¥T ARBT T

Revenue WA & 252,026 468,377
Other income =N 4 20,864 73,888
Personnel cost N =1 5(b) (101,467) (112,217)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 7 & M # 45 52 5(d) (8,009) (14,148)
Other operating expenses HMgEMs (47,218) (58,575)
Impairment losses on trade and B 5 R HADEWRIBAE L

other receivables and contract assets BEERBERIE 5(c), 22(a) (22,133) (111,529)
Finance costs & A AR 5(a) (298) (347)
Share of loss of an associate JE(h — BBt & A BB 1E 12 - (477)
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—RBE QR 2 ks 12 = 2,247
Profit before taxation R B A % Al 5 93,765 247,219
Income tax FriS it 6 (20,547) (45,982)
Profit for the year FERA 73,218 201,237
Attributable to: BAUTRBEAL :
Equity shareholders of the Company KRR ERRR 65,131 198,571
Non-controlling interests FEE R ME 8,087 2,666
Profit for the year FERA 73,218 201,237
Earnings per share BREF 9

— Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) — &REARZF (ARED) 1.72 5.59
— Diluted earnings per share — EREERF (ARES)
(RMB cents) 1.70 5.59

E116E222E MM R A HHREN—IBH o
BEF N ) FE ) AR A B AR SRR A A9 AR B A
BT EE21(b) °

The notes on pages 116 to 222 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note
21(b).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEREERAEtMZEAKER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2024F 12318 IFF/E (XA RESIE)

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARET T
Profit for the year FERY 73,218 201,237
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FEHMEEKE  (BAX)
for the year (after tax and (MBREREFH S EHEL
reclassification adjustments) HEE)
Item that will not be reclassified to T EEN DR B AEE -
profit or loss:
Equity investments at fair value through other 12 A FE A LM EEUZE 2
comprehensive income — net movement BRAZE — DN FEHE (TH
in fair value reserve (non-recycling) w@E) 2 EB)FEE 263 (3,383)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to  FIERE 1 B 7 M= 1B i)
profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences on translation of PTG IS A B B T Rk Y
financial statements of overseas & i =R
subsidiaries 3,516 2,332
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FEHM2EWKE (BAX)
O e - (1,051).
Total comprehensive income for the year HE2HERFLALEE 76,997 200,186
Attributable to: AT PE4h
Equity shareholders of the Company PN/NEIL ) 68,910 197,520
Non-controlling interests FEFE AT HE = 8,087 2,666
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2HEMKEETE 76,997 200,186

The notes on pages 116 to 222 form part of these financial

statements.

FNM6E222H MM B AT EREKRMN — 787 ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FREMBERAER

At 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

2024F12 5310 (UAREZE)

As at 31 December

MW12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K e ARMT AREET T
Non-current assets kREBEE
Investment property and property, WEMERYE BFERZE
plant and equipment 10(a) 6,468 11,682
Intangible assets EmEE 10(c) - 1,252
Other financial assets Htem&E 13 1,774 1,511
Deferred tax assets BETRIEE E 20(b) 32,092 28,485
e CLEEL . 42,930
Current assets REEE
Contract assets GHEE 14(a) 98,440 125,343
Trade and other receivables E 5 K E W IE 15 469,863 1,121,515
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEFEED 16 2,484,045 1,835,783
e 3,052,348 - 3,082,641
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk H M FEM RIE 17 222,540 300,361
Contract liabilities SHEE 14(b) 222,259 309,936
Lease liabilities HEAE 18 4,087 3,846
Current taxation BVHAR 18 20(a) 93,568 88,198
et ... pd2454) 702,341
Netcurrentassets === "WBXERE 2509804 2,380,300
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDER 2,550,228 2,423,230
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A, 3
FaMBIRRAE
At 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
R202412A31H (YA R#Z1E)

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Fz3 ARETx ARET T
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Lease liabilities HEAE 18 642 4,000
Deferred tax liability BEERIEA R 20(b) - 15
642 4,015
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,549,586 2,419,215
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR R E
Share capital & 21(a) 32,204 30,614
Reserves fE 21(d) 2,506,629 2,385,935
Total equity attributable to equity AAFERRREGER
shareholders of the Company HEE 2,538,833 2,416,549
Non-controlling interests JEVE R = 10,753 2,666
TOTAL EQUITY gyt 2,549,586 2,419,215

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24  7A202543 524 H & % 5= & #t e K % )% o
March 2025.

Wu Po Sum Hu Bing
[iREE Bk
Chairman and non-executive director Executive Director

FERRIPTEF HITEF

The notes on pages 116 to 222 form part of these financial 11622228 MM T EK AN IEHRKE —205H
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HREEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
B 22024F 12310 1IFFZ (KA R#SE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KOARERREL
Other  Statutory Fair value Non-

Share Share  Treasury capital reserve  Exchange reserve  Retained controlling

capital ~ premium shares reserve fund  reserves (non+ecycling) profits Total interests  Total equity
e DYERE

B&  BeER  ERRE  EARE  tEdR:  ERRR  (TMEE)  REEH At FERER  BRME
Noigs RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0OD  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB00  RMB'O0  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'0O0  RMB'000
Wz ARMTn  ARBTn ARRTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTr ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR  ARETR

(Note 21(a)) (Note 21(c)fii)) (Note 21(c)fi) (Note 21(c)fii) (Note 21(c)fiv)) (Note 21(c)fy))

(i) (HE2ei) (K2ey)) (Biae)i) (Ke)) (K2e))
Balance at 1 January 2024 HOUEIRIRKER 30614 486,122 - 138,19 24299 5,360 (6,565 1519329 2416549 2006 2419215
Changes in equity for 2024: WUERERE:
Proft forthe year ERa - - - - 15,112 - - 50,019 65,131 8,087 328
Other comprehensive income Efh2Aks - - - - - 3516 2%3 = 3719 - 3
Total comprehensive income kLS - - - - 15,12 3516 26 50,019 68,910 8,087 76,997
Issue of ordinary shares Ma)fi) 1,590 45022 - - - - - - 46612 - 46,612
Equity setfled share-based payment 19 - - - 6,762 - - - - 6,762 - 6,762
Release of ordinary shares from share

incentive plan - 4410 - (4470) - - - - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2024 HOUERANBHER 32,04 535,614 - 140488 258105 9,376 (6302 1569348 2538833 1075 2,549,586

The notes on pages 116 to 222 form part of these financial 5116%22228 WMz B AR IEHRETH— 5 -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FeEgnR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARRIERRRES
Other  Statutory Fair value Non-
Share Share  Treasury capital reserve  Exchange reseve  Retained conirolling
capital  premium shares reserve fund  reserves (nonecycling) profits Totl interests  Total equity
it ATRER
Re  HAEE ERRA  EAGE iehBe  ENRE (FUED)  RER g3 FPRER  BREE
Notes RMB000  RMBO00 ~ RMBOOO  RMBO0O0 ~ RMBOO0 ~ RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0 ~ RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBO00
B ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(ot 21() (Mote 2101 (Vo 2161 (Vo 2161 (Ve 21l (Mot 216
(HiEne) (e (Fa2me0) (HE2nem) (KE2em) (Ba2ep)
Balance at 1 January 2023 RNBE1 1A KL 26,990 248,229 (6408) 131,450 242,993 3528 (3182 1534192 2177792 ERVATING7A
Changes in equity for 2023: NBEREEE:
Profitfor the year ] - - - - - = - 198511 198571 2666 201,297
Other comprehensive income Ap2E4E - - = = = 233 (3,383) = (1,051) - (1,051)
Total comprehensive income PENGEE - - - - - 2332 (3383) 198571 197520 2666 200,186
Cancellation of repurchased shares HHERRR 21a)fi) (63)  (6:349) 6,408 - - - - - - - -
Issug of ordinary shares il 213)fi) 309 44238 - - - - - - U130 - U0
Restrited shares issued under share RERA R 2T
award scheme RAltHRR 21(a)ii) 505 = = (595) = = = = = = =
Dividends declared in respect of BEEEERERE
the previous year k& 1) - - - - - - - (38554 (885%4) - (88554)
Dividends declared in respect of AERERARENRS
the curent year 211 . . . . . . S (1480)  (124880) o ()
Equity setlled share-based payment WEUES 19 - - - 7341 - - - - 734 - 734
Balance at 31 December 2023 ROBE2BNANES 30,614 486,122 - 138,196 242,993 5,860 (6,565 1519329 2416549 2666 2419215

The notes on pages 116 to 222 form part of these financial

statements.

FNM6E222H MM B AP BREKRMN —#87 °
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FEREeRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
B 22024F 12310 1IFFZ (KA R#SE)

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K e AR¥T ARBT T
Operating activities KESTE
Cash generated from operations KEMMSIRE 16(b) 20,402 444,910
Tax paid BRI 20(a) (18,799) (72,697)
Net cash generated from RETEBBELSESE
emeldbg eedblies BN 372213
Investing activities RETH
Payment for the purchase of BEYMZE BWERRED
property, plant and equipment (N 10 (42) (51)
Disposal of items of property, HEWE - BERZBEE
plant and equipment - 556
Advances to third parties ME=F K - (698,325)
Repayment from loan to third parties FE=—FEEER 705,953 380,000
Interest received EHHE 19,714 61,229

Net cash generated from/(used in) RETEBRE, (FA)

investing activities Rew®E 725625 | (256,591)
Financing activities RLESEE
Proceeds from issuance of BATLBRFTIS IR

ordinary shares - 247,330
Repurchase of own shares EREA S K H -
Dividend paid BERRE 21(b) (77,566) (88,554)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERENERT D 16(c) (4,565) (5,206)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERSHFEHD 16(c) (298) (347)

Net cash (used in)/generated from MEEE (FTA) A8
financing activities R&FHE (82,429) 153,223
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaF AR® T ARBT T
Net increase in cash and REeRBESEEYILNTFE
cash equivalents 644,799 268,845
Cash and cash equivalents at MAMENEREREEE
1 January By 16(a) 1,835,783 1,564,617
Effect of foreign exchange rate NNEEZSBH L
changes 3,463 2,321
Cash and cash equivalents at M12B3MBEHNRERREEE
31 December B 16(a) 2,484,045 1,835,783

The notes on pages 116 to 222 form part of these financial 11622228 ®IMI AL AR G ERF N — 5 o
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA 35 80 R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L FE2024F 12 H31H IEFIE (WA RETE)

Central China Management Company Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 October 2020, as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act,
Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands (the “Companies Act’). Its principal place of business is at
Units 1602—1605, 16/F, Tower 2, The Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong and has its registered office at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company were listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 31 May 2021 (the “Listing Date”). The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of project management services in Henan
and other provinces in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(HKASSs) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA), and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c)
provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting period reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation and functional and
presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”) and the
Group’s interest in an associate. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
rounded to the nearest thousand except as otherwise
indicated, while the Company’s functional currency is the
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

other investments in securities (see note 1(f)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation and functional and
presentation currency (Continued)

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies
(i) Amended HKFRSs

The Group has applied the amended HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements
for the current accounting period:

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current (“2020
amendments”) and amendments to HKAS 1,
Presentation of financial statements — Non-
current liabilities with covenants (“2022
amendments”)

. Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

. Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash
flows and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Supplier finance arrangements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

(i)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Amended HKFRSs (Continued)

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the
new and amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease — Lease
Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments add subsequent measurement
requirements for sale and leaseback transactions
that satisfy the requirements of HKFRS Revenue
from Contracts with Customers to be accounted for
as a sale. The amendments require a seller-lease
to determine “lease payment” or “revised lease
payments” such that the seller-lessee would not
recognize a gain or loss that relates to the right of
use it retains . The standard does not have a
material impact on these financial statements .
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current
or non-current (“2020 amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Non-current liabilities with covenants
(“2022 amendments”) (collectively “HKAS 1
amendments”)

The HKAS 1 amendments impact the classification of a
liability as current or non-current, and are applied
retrospectively as a package.

The 2020 amendments primarily clarify the classification
of a liability that can be settled in its own equity
instruments. If the terms of a liability could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments and that conversion
option is accounted for as an equity instrument, these
terms do not affect the classification of the liability as
current or non-current. Otherwise, the transfer of equity
instruments would constitute settlement of the liability
and impact classification.

The 2022 amendments specify that conditions with which
an entity must comply after the reporting date do not
affect the classification of a liability as current or non-
current. However, the entity is required to disclose
information about non-current liabilities subject to such
conditions in the financial statements.

These amendments do not have a material impact on
these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

(i)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Amended HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures
— Supplier finance arrangements

The amendments clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the
effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposures to
liquidity risk. The amendments provide certain
transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
quantitative information as at the beginning of the
annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments do not have a material impact on
these financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(ii) New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides
guidance on the accounting considerations relating
to the offsetting mechanism and the abolition of the
mechanism.

The Group has assessed the implications of this
new guidance on the above accounting policies
and the guidance does not have a material impact
on how the Group’s results and financial position
for the current or prior periods have been prepared
or presented in these consolidated financial
statements.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date on
which control commences until the date on which control
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within equity,
separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related non-controlling interests and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 1(f)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate (see note

1(e))-

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 1(k)(ii)).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including participation
in the financial and operating policy decisions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(e)

Associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method. Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see note 1(k)(ii)). Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the period are recognised in the
profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method
together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate (after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see note 1(k)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated
against the investment to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(e)

(f)

Associates (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset(see note 1(f)).

Other investments in securities

The Group’s policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, are set out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of
how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 22(c). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on
their classification.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(f) Other investments in securities (Continued)

(i)

Non- equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Expected credit losses,interest
income calculated using the effective interest
method (see note 1(s)(iii)), foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

— FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) (recycling). Changes in the
fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Other investments in securities (Continued)

(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the Group
makes an irrevocable election to designate the
investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but
may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. If
such an election is made for a particular
investment, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is
not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective of
whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(s)(ii).
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

(h)

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note
1(j)) to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
provision for any impairment (see note 1(k)(ii)).in value.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis over
the expected useful life of five years.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 1(k)(ii)).

— Items of plant and equipment, including right-of use
assets arising from leases of underlying properties
(see note 1(j)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Properties leased for own use Over the lease terms

— Motor vehicles 4 years
— Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years
— Leasehold improvements 1to 3 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(i)

1)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 1(k)(ii)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives
are as follows:

— Software 2 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.

(i) As alessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components and
accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single
lease component for all leases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

)]

Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

)]

(i)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and plus any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 1(h) and 1(k)(ii)).

The Group presents right-of-use assets in
“Investment property and property, plant and
equipment” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there
is a change arising from the reassessment of
whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

)]

Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is
a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification. The only
exceptions are rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of
HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group has
taken advantage of the practical expedient not to
assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments
in profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following
items:

financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other receivables); and

contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see
note 1(1)).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls between the
contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables and contract assets: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition
or an approximation thereof;

variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of
ECLs that result from default events that are
possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12
months); and

— lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO TH

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued), the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in
which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument (including a loan commitment) has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on
the financial instrument assessed at the reporting
date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort, to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continueqd)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 1(s)(iii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continueq)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
lease receivable or contract asset is written off
(either partially or in full) to the extent that there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets;

— Investment property;

— intangible assets;

— interest in an associate; and

— investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 1 BXEAHERER®)
INFORMATION (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) (k) EEEEREEREGE)

(i) EftHFEnBEEREE)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k)

U]

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

—  Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would
at the end of the financial year (see notes 1(k)(i)
and (ii)).

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 1(s)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the
payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets
are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set
out in note 1(k)(i) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become
unconditional (see note 1(m)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

U]

(m)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 1(s)). A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 1(m)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see note

1(s)(iii)).
Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note 1(1)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 1(k)(i)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(k)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Contributions to appropriate local defined
contribution retirement schemes pursuant to the
relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC
and the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

1 EXEHBREN®)

(p) BERER (&)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(p)

(i) Equity-settled share-based payments (i) HURELZEUARGBERT

The fair value of share options and share awards
granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options and
share awards were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options and share
awards, the total estimated fair value of the options
and share awards is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the
options and share awards will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior year is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of
the shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
capital reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in
share capital for the shares issued) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to retained
profits).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

The Group recognises deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(r)

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a service is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(s)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

Project management service fee income

Project management service fee income is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated service period.

Variable consideration

For project management contracts that contain
variable consideration based on the future sales
performance of the project, the Group estimates
the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using the most likely amount.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent
that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the
future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to represent
faithfully the circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(s)

(i)

(ii)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Project management service fee income
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided
by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer. The Group is an agent if
its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not
control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Dividend income
Dividend income from unlisted investments is

recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(iii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss

allowance) of the asset (see note 1(k)(i)).

(t) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of
financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are

incurred.

1
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(u)

(v)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on
which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated into
RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

@)

has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)

has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

A 35 80 R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2024F 12318 IFF/E (XA RESIE)

1 EXEHBREN®)

(u)

(v)
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(v) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the financial
statement are evaluated continually and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal to the related actual results.

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2024F 12318 IFF/E (XA RESIE)
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ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Note 22 contains information about the assumption and their
risk factors relating to financial instruments. Other key sources
of significant estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Credit loss for trade and other receivables and
contract assets

Credit losses for trade and other receivables and
contract assets are determined based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected credit loss rates. The
Group adjusts judgement in making the assumption and
selecting inputs for computing such impairment loss,
broadly based on the available customers’ historical
data, existing market conditions including forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting periods.

Variable consideration

Variable consideration comprises base management
fees based on pre-agreed milestones and incentive fees
that the Group may earn by meeting the conditions set
out in the Group’s project management service contracts
with customers. The estimated amount of variable
consideration will be included in the transaction price
only to the extent that it is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal
in the future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The
Group considers whether the amount of variable
consideration is constrained based on its historical
experience, current negotiations with customers and the
current economic conditions.
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3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a)

Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are provision of

project management services.

(i)

(ii)

Revenue from contracts with customers is as
follows:

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

3 WARDEBEHE
(a) WA

AEENEIZXBREABSHER
AR -

(i) FEFEEHUALT :

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTT
Revenue from contracts with BREBMBE®REER
customers within the scope of 615575 &3 B 3 B i
HKFRS15 and recognised over BRANEFSHEA

time

— Provision of project management — 12t = i KR 2 AR

services 252,026 468,377

The Group’s customer base is diversified and
includes no customer with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenues.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from provision of project
management services

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregated notional
amount of the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations under the
Group’s existing contracts is RMB1,895,815,000
(2023: RMB2,146,122,000). The Group will
recognise the expected revenue from project
management service contracts in future by
measuring the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation, during
the estimated project management service period
which typically ranges from three years to five
years.

AEBNEFPEZ T X E
HBEMEFNXZBHAKE
W HI10% ©

KERHE 1 ERERE LR
AR B & ER

(ii)

MN2024F12 A318 - D Bt & &K
EEBRBEEANETHRTITENE
THRSGEREEBEAAR
#1,895,815,0007T (20234 : A
R #£2,146,122,0007T ) ° 7% £ &
BMEEr B ENRZRISE (8
BN TIEEF)N BREE
TRBHEEMEE RARR
BRAEHMEREZRS S OTE
HAUW A o
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3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

158

(@) Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from provision of project
management services (Continueqd)

The above amount does not include any amounts
of incentive fee that the Group may earn in the
future by meeting the conditions set out in the
Group’s project management service contracts with
customers, unless at the reporting date it is highly
probable that the Group will satisfy the conditions
for earning those bonuses.

(b) Segment reporting

(i)

(ii)

Services from which reportable segments
derive their revenue

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment
performance is more focused on the Group as a
whole, as all of the Group’s activities are
considered to be primarily dependent on the
performance on project management service.
Resources are allocated based on what is
beneficial for the Group in enhancing its project
management service activities as a whole rather
than any specific service. Performance assessment
is based on the results of the Group as a whole.
Therefore, management considers there is only
one operating segment under the requirements of
HKFRS 8, Operating segments.

Geographical information

No geographical information is shown as the
revenue and profit from operations of the Group is
all derived from activities in the PRC and all of its
non-current assets were located in the PRC.
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OTHER INCOME

A 35 80 R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

4 HiwlgA
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Interest income on financial assets

HHIENATENEREERN

measured at amortised cost F B U A 19,714 61,229
Government grants BT #8 B 1,040 12,174
Others H 110 485

20,864 73,888
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5 MR¥ATEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: B B BIE T T A& HI MR A N R IE B B
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
(a) Finance costs 25922
Interest on lease liabilities (note 16(c)) FAE & &2 F.8 (Mf:E16(c)) 298 347
(b) Personnel cost ABEAE
Salaries, wages and other benefits ¥ & T& & E b F| 86,773 95,607
Contributions to defined contribution 57 & 1 7R (R 5 8l 3%
retirement plan 7,932 9,269
Equity settled share-based payment LARRAE 4 & AR (D A ERE K
expenses (note 19) A (At:F19) 6,762 7,341
101,467 112,217
Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to AEEFHEMNBARMNESELEBEH
participate in defined contribution retirement schemes which T & 28 & 3 1 7F #E A BUR KRG8l -
are administered and operated by the local municipal FEFB AR MZTSRIAAREERNR
government. The PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are KEMNREES MZRSEXRESEDNLE
calculated on certain percentage of the average employee HHBFRELAEEHFH FHEIE—

salary as agreed by the local municipal government to the EMB DL E
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

The Group also participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The Group’s and employee’s contributions to the
MPF Scheme are based on 5% of the relevant income of the
relevant employee (up to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000) and in accordance with the requirements of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and related
regulations.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of
retirement benefits associated with these schemes beyond the
annual contributions described above.

(c) Impairment losses on trade and other receivables
and contract assets

Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) on trade and
other receivables and contract assets of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out

FRELA SR (&)

NEBNAMBECEREBEERERS
B RTESE ([REEETE) A%
B KB B ¥R tE S a8 2 T IR IR 3R 5l
MABEHEEG RARBOINENR R
BAEBEES 2 HEBKA (FABEBKA L
PR /30,000/8 70 ) H95% 5t &

B bt E N AKRES EHMH
SNBEZEFFIFRNERRENNERE
o

(c) ESRHMEURENSHNEEDW
HEBR

7N £2 (B & £20244F [ 2023%12 531
BItFENE S K H M E R FRIE N
REHEERR/ (EE) /R EE

as follows: BHEYIAT
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBTIT

Impairment losses recognised/  #32, (#[E]) K F(E &5 1B
(reversed) on

— trade receivables — B S WA 46,144 95,096
— contract assets — BHEE (14,933) 12,972
— other receivables — H b FRIE (9,078) 3,461
22,133 111,529
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 5 R#ANEFR @)
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K e ARMT AREET T
(d) Other items HipE H
Depreciation charge TERX 10
— investment property and — REWERYE - BE
property, plant and equipment Bl (T ERIEE AR
(excluding right-of-use assets) &) 2,008 4,292
— right-of-use assets — EAREE 4,749 5,523
6,757 9,815
Amortisation cost of intangible & JIZ & 7 ) # 5 5k A
assets 10 1,252 4,333
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR B &
— assurance services — EEBRTE 1,600 4,780
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6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6 SZoBRERHMEEWMERAMN
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND FRiG#H
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (@) #HEBERRANMIER:
represents:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBT T
Current tax B EA B 1]
PRC Corporate Income Tax H B 1 EERTAS T (iv) 24,169 56,661
Deferred tax ERERIE
Origination and reversal of Iy 2 EE A A e B (Bl
temporary differences (3,622) (10,679)
20,547 45,982
(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the (i) REFASHENEBHERRE
Cayman lIsland and the British Virgin Islands, the EMRERBE - NEBEEE
Group is not subject to any income tax in the RHASHEREBHERRHS
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands. AR PR SRR ©
(i)  The provision for Hong Kong Profit Tax for 2024 is (i) 20245 BENEHEBEIIRF
calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated W {E 5T FE R R % A M9 16.5%
assessable profits for the year, except for one (20234 :16.5% )T & ' A&
subsidiary of the group which is a qualifying LN = G
corporation under the two-tiered Profit Tax rate RAABFESHMEHTHNEE
regime. - UNCIKS
For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of RZMBARMES 528 845
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the T FE &R 5 i 71 1%28.25% i 2 11
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. i i &R T FE R B & 1) 1216.5%
The provision for Hong Kong Profit Tax for this MEHB - ZHBRARMNEB
subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 15 T B B 102023 F R AH R &
2023. R iR
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Continued)

(@)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Withholding taxes are levied on the Company’s
subsidiary in Hong Kong in respect of dividend
distributions arising from profit of PRC subsidiaries
earned after 1 January 2008 by the Hong Kong
subsidiary from PRC subsidiaries levied at 5%.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of PRC
and the respective regulations of Hainan Free
Trade Port, except for Zhongyuan Central China
(Hainan) Management Services Limited Company ,
which enjoys a preferential income tax rate of 15%
during the year, the other subsidiaries which
operate in mainland China are subject to Corporate
Income Tax (“CIT”) at a statutory rate of 25%.

The Group incorporated a holding entity in Hong
Kong, which has recently enacted new tax laws to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the OECD. The new tax laws take effect from 1
January 2025. When these laws take effect, the
Group expects to be subject to a new top-up tax in
Hong Kong in relation to its operations in Mainland
China, where the additional tax deductions in
connection with government support would result
in an effective tax rate of lower than 15%. As the
new tax laws are not yet effective, the Group does
not expect any current tax impact for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). The Group
has applied the temporary mandatory exception
from deferred tax accounting for the top-up tax and
would account for the tax as current tax when
incurred.

E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M58 R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

6 GZeBEREMEZENERAMN
FriS# &)

(a) HRABRRANKRES: (&)

HARDNBREEHK B AR5
7B B B A A1 7220084F1 A1 H
BBE AR EELHE SN
B AR AT EKE QR KERA
BB IR 5% U T o

(iii)

RIFPECEMRSHENRER
EREARRNMERMRG B
FREX (BB EERBAR
RARNERFEZEEEMRF
B ER15% LASI - 1A R B A 3 A
2 B0 H i B B X 7] 2B $225% )
EEMRHMEEMRFR (D
EREHL) -

(iv)

AEBERBEB MK —MH
ERERE OB MHE
ENEREL A B R E X
R E AR B o 3T B & 52025
FIR1HRBRER -EZFERE
ER - AEBEHRAFREF
P Hb ZE 75 AR B 7S O S B N -
i B2 B AT 9% Bh B B A9 58 I 1E
BMRE S EHERBERR
15% © R FT % 18 R A2 2R
& B 78 Hi & £2024F12 A31H
IFEETE SR E M BN EF B
T (2023F &) - AKEE
LM I IE e IR E R B 2 5
BE PR A BT R o8 ) 1 EA R - I A
A EE A2 BT A0 B T8 B % B A BR 51
YEBNEARE IR -

(v)

163



CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « FIREZZFRA T )

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M IR R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
B 22024F 12310 1IFFZ (KA R#SE)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6 ZEERARHMEZEWESRAMN
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND FrisH 2
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (b)y HERTHZBAMRERTENS
profit at applicable tax rates: i M B RR AR S
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBET T
Profit before taxation B %1 A1 i A 93,765 247,219

Notional tax on profit before taxation, B i 5l F 80 & &= Fi%8 -
calculated at the rates applicable to RERNEHERERER

profits in the jurisdictions concerned i A B R R ETE 19,267 38,540
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses T~ A] #1745 St T 765 0 & 1,280 7,442
Income tax expense 5 & A 20,547 45,982

164



( 2024 ANNUAL REPORT « —E - [UfF£ R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MIGHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 7 EERRSTBRAEEHM
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments disclosed B AE BB R AME B 55383(1) 16 K A &) 48 1
pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies E2M(RBEAHEENEm 2 BERBEEZ
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of EEREERTBRABHMAT
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement  Share-based
Director’s  and benefits Discretionary scheme payments 2024
fee in kind bonuses* contributions (note 19) Total
URHE
I& 28 BRGHE  ERHNER 2024
2024 2024 EZHe RENER HiERe: EE (Hit19) &t

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR  AR®TR ARMTR ARBTR AR®TR ARETR

Chairman and non- IERFUTES

executive director
Mr. Wu Po Sum HEREE 2,736 - - - - 2,736
Chief executive BETHAR
Mr. Wang Jun ITELE - 1,600 - 70 1,325 2,995
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Hu Bing HKEE - 2,000 246 70 1,019 3,335
Mr. Chen Aiguo BRI - 456 - - = 456
Mr. Duan Juwei BEEEE - 456 = = = 456
Non-executive director ~ FHTES
Ms. Wu Walls (i) FHELL()

(alias Li Hua) 100 - - - - 100
Independent non- BYFHTES

executive directors
Mr. Liu Dianchen (i) IR B2 5% A (i) 128 - - - = 128
Ms. Yan Yingchun (i) BERERL() 3 - - - = 3
Mr. Zhu Baoguo (i) RARBE L A i) 170 - - - - 170
Mr. Xu Ying RBEE 219 - - - - 219
Mr. Siu Chi Hung (iv) EEELE ) 91 - - - = 91

3,447 4,512 246 140 2,344 10,689
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7

166

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

7 EERERSTHAEEM=)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement  Share-based
Director's  and benefits  Discretionary scheme payments 2023
fee in kind bonuses*  contributions (note 19) Total
AR &
IZ 28 RIRGTE  EROFR 20235
2023 20236 EENE  REWET HiERe 3% (fiz#19) Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARBFT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Chairman and non- IRRFHUTES
executive director
Mr. Wu Po Sum HEREE 2,714 - - - - 2,714
Chief executive EBTBAR
Mr. Wang Jun TELE - 1,130 247 70 1,222 2,669
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Hu Bing k& AE - 1,954 70 86 1,200 3,310
Mr. Chen Aiguo BB E - 443 - - = 443
Mr. Duan Juwei BEELE - 443 - - - 443
Mr. Ma Xiaoteng SERLE = 167 = 13 = 180
Non-executive director ~ FH{TES
Ms. Wu Wallis FHELT
(alias Li Hua) 235 - - - 720 955
Independent non- BAFHTES
executive directors
Mr. Zhu Baoguo RREIEE 217 - = - - 217
Mr. Xu Ying RBLE 217 - - - - 217
Mr. Siu Chi Hung EEELE 217 - - - - 217
3,600 4,137 317 169 3,142 11,365
()  Ms. Wu Wallis resigned as a non-executive director of the () FEZIBEAQBERTES 52024
Company with effect from 14 June 2024. FOA14B AR
(i)  Mr. Liu Dianchen and Ms. Yan Yingchun were appointed as iy BREEERBEEXTIEZEIRAR
independent non-executive directors of the Company with effect B IETTE S 2 5 8202445 H31
from 31 May 2024 and 27 December 2024 respectively. B k2024412 A27 B A R -
(i) Mr. Zhu Baoguo resigned as an independent non-executive (i) RRECAEBTEIFNITES 52024
director with effect from 10 October 2024. F108108 BERK -
(iv) Mr. Siu Chi Hung retired as an independent non-executive (v) MEHEEEREBUIFRNITES 52024

director with effect from 30 May 2024.

F5R30R A
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

* The discretionary bonus is determined by the Board of Directors
based on the Group’s performance for each financial year.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
both years.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023:
two) are directors and one (2023: one) is chief executive
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of
the emoluments in respect of the other two (2023: two)
individuals are as follows:

A 35 80 R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

7

B ZE2024F 12318 IFF/E (XA RESIE)

EERESITHRARHM @)

* HEReHESERRAEESHHEF
ERRBREE -

RAEFERBEETANEETRESTHRAER
MR NF B REEMFH I B

£ /= 3 B A

hEmEHMALF  MmE (20235 W4)
REF —H%(2023F: —B) REREHTH
AB HMMEWBERWME7 - BRASKTRAE
(20235 : M%) ALEOEBHAAREMN T :

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFT
Salaries,allowances and benefits in kind L& 285 R B WHz 1,510 3,011
Discretionary bonuses 15 25 1,615 324
Retirement scheme contributions RRET SR 53 233
Share-based payments LARS {7 7 EE B B9 15 3R 408 1,680
3,586 5,248

The emoluments of the two (2023: two) individual with the M % (20234 : M) B = 5 B A = 59 % B

highest emoluments are within the following bands: BRATEE :

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001% 7T 22,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7£ £2,500,0007% 7T = =
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,0017% T 23,500,000/ 7T - =
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,0017% 7T £4,000,0007% 7T - 1
2 2
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9 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic earnings per share (a)

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is based on the profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB65,131,000 (2023: RMB196,355,000), after
adjusting to reflect the cash dividends distributed to
holders of unvested restricted shares under 2023 Share
Award Scheme, and the weighted average of
3,784,548,644 ordinary shares (2023: 3,511,422,120
ordinary shares) in issue during the year, calculated as

9 HBREF

BREXTRR

HE2024F12831B I FEFRE
REFMDBERAFE AR A=K
B M AR #65,131,0007T
(20234 : AFR#196,355,0007T) (4
o 2 DA I Bk [ 20234F j% 19 22 B 51 2
EHTRAEBEXRHBRMNDFEAREADIK
MIRE IR E) M EEITE B A I
5 803,784,548,6440% (20234 :
3,511,422, 12018 BT & 51 &

follows: R
Earnings, basic: BZF  BX
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBT T
Profit attributable to equity shareholders 7K /72 &4z %5 i% 51 & 15 % 7
of the Company 65,131 198,571
Less: Cash dividends distributed to B R R2023F AR 1 BB 5t 2l
holders of unvested restricted shares  [AIREB SR FIRMDEHAE A
under 2023 Share Award Scheme IREHNIR GRS - (2,216)
Adjusted profit attributable to equity ARFTEEAREGRZF®
shareholders of the Company, used KRABAR RN AR
in the basic earnings per share JE 1 5
calculation 65,131 196,355
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, basic: L@ INME T8 B
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
At 1 January ®1A1H 3,625,802,120 3,282,662,120
Effect of ordinary shares issued BERTEBRNTZE 149,958,578 228,760,000
Effect of restricted shares under 2023 B 53 /E2023F i 10 ZZEh =t 21
Share Award Scheme vested H N 2R B G 2 8,787,945 -
3,784,548,643 3,511,422,120
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9 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

(b)

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the calculation
of diluted earnings per share were based on the profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB65,131,000 (2023: RMB198,571,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of
3,825,260,698 shares (2023: 3,537,801,572), after
adjusting by the potential dilutive effect of 2023 Share
Award Scheme, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares, diluted:

A 35 80 R B &

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

9

(b)

B ZE2024F 12318 IFF/E (XA RESIE)

BRER 2

BREERR

FREERN B BHEETEIN
B E RN P BIABRRA A &
EHETBRCEBRMTE-

HE2024F12A31H It F & Gk #
SER R THIRIE A QB S AR R E (L
sis A1l A FR #£65,131,0007T (20234 :
AR #198,571,0007T ) & 38 A% hn ik
I 5 £13,825,260,6980% (20234 :
3,537,801,572/% ) (4% 78 #2023 %
DB SNBSS 2% )E
UNNE

AR E R

2024
20245

2023
20234

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares, basic
Dilutive effect of 2023 Share

Award Scheme (Note 19(c)) A

|

ERililk: Bl S G-

20235 [R5 SR =T 2 M E
(K13£19(c))

3,784,548,643 3,511,422,120

40,712,055 26,379,452

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares, diluted

BARNEF 8 #E

3,825,260,698 3,537,801,572

As the declared high cash dividend distribution plan
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and the 2023
Share Award Scheme have an anti-diluting effect, the
2023 Share Award Scheme was ignored in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share. Therefore, the
diluted earnings per share and basic earnings per share
are the same for the year ended 31 December 2023.

RAE E2023F12A31B IFEES
& = BRI B8 5 R 5t 2] 52023
FRpEE T EAA REERE P
FTE TR A R 20234 Ik {n 5
Bhat 814 20K - HUE £2023F 12531
HIEFE SRESRASHRERE
AN ZF) o
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10 INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY, 10 IREWERWZE - BERRENU

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE NELEE
ASSETS
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount of investment (a) REVMERYE - BERZERET
property and property, plant and equipment B Z ¥R
Properties Furniture,
leased for Motor  fixtures and Leasehold  Investment
own use Vehicles  equipment improvements property Total
BRH BH-EE HENE
REME RE  KBERRAE %8 RENME &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTR ARETT ARETn AR%Tn ARETR
Cost B
At 1 January 2023 120235 1A1H 15,925 6,469 6,109 18,957 2,925 50,385
Additions NE 9,954 10 41 - - 10,005
Disposals HE (4,015) - 27) - = (4,042)
Exchange differences ~ EXE%R 134 = 1 = = 135
At31December2023  12023F12A31H 21,998 6,479 6,124 18,957 2,925 56,483
Additions NE 1,448 - 8 34 - 1,490
Disposals HE (3,983) - 3) - = (3,986)
Exchange differences ~ EXE% 285 = = = = 285
At31December 2024 H204F12A3H i I 649 ... 612 ... L 205 2
Accumulated Z3tifE:
depreciation:
At 1 January 2023 R2023%1 A1H (12,293) (4,820) (5.410) (15,591) (244) (38,358)
Charge fortheyear ~ EEH M (5,523) (895) (424) (2.417) (556) (9,815)
Written back on HEREE
disposals 3,486 - 10 - - 3,496
Exchange differences ~ EXEE (130) - ©) 7 - (124)
At31December 2023 72023F1231H (14,460) (5,715) (5,825) (18,001) (800) (44,801)
Charge for the year FEYH (4,749) (342) (127) (982) (557) (6,757)
Written back on HEREE
disposals 3,983 - 3 - - 3,986
Exchange differences ~ [EX =% (232) - - - - (232)
At31December2024 = RNAF2ANE | (15488)  (60ST)  (5949) (18983 (1350 (47.804)
Net book value: REFE:
At 31 December2024  #2024%512A31H 4,290 422 180 8 1,568 6,468
At31December2023  12023%12A31H 7,538 764 299 956 2,125 11,682
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INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY,

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE REREE#)
ASSETS (continued)
(b) Right-of-use assets (b) ERAEEE

The analysis of the net book value of the Group’s right-

B ZE2024F 12318 IFF/E (XA RESIE)

10 REVERME - BRERREAU

AEEEREEENKREFEDN

of-use assets is as follows: N
2024 2023
2024F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaF AR%T T AR®T T
Properties leased for own use, ITERAYIEAFHNEE
carried at depreciated cost ES (i) 4,290 7,538

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

REZEAERNESHBXHIER

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: SHTEAT
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTTT
Depreciation charge of ERAREENEER:
right-of-use assets:
Properties leased for own use BRNHEEDX 4,749 5,523
Interest on lease liabilities (note 5(a)) A E&E 2B (Kt:t5(a)) 298 347
Expense relating to short-term leases  SEHHEEMNHEBE S E 149 819
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INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, additions to
right-of-use assets were RMB1,448,000 (2023:
RMB9,954,000). This amount included the capitalised
lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases, the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities and the future cash outflows
arising from leases that are not yet commenced are set
out in notes 16(c) and 18, respectively.

(i)  Properties leased for own use

The Group has leased a number of properties as
its office and employee dormitory through tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 2 to 5 years. Some leases include an
option to renew the lease and all terms should be
renegotiated towards the end of the lease term.
None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.

10 BREVMERYE - BERKZBE
RENEE®)

(b)

EREEE(E)

HE2024F12A31MB I FE - AR
BERNE A ANRE1,448,0007T (2023
F: AR #9,954,0007T) ° 3% X E 5
AFHEHBRETEM ZERNEA

B

HEMBRERLRE HEAENE
HASMARMKABCHEESE
ZARBERE ZFED B EHRH
$¥16(c) 18 °

(i)

BRAWHEEYFE

AEECEBEERAEESR
TOERERRAEREEES -
MIEHERBE B2ESF -5
THEBENEE 8RR ITEH
MBEEBREMAGRREEE
ERmRET A -AEHEE
Breasr#HEENR-
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10 REVERME - BRERREAU

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE REBVEE®)
ASSETS (continued)
Intangible assets (c) BREE
Software
B#H
RMB’000
ARET T
Cost: AN
At 1 January 2023 72023F1 518 15,801
Additions NE -
At31December2023 . R2028FM2R31A 1o
Additions NE -
At31December2024 = . F2024F12R31R LU
Accumulated amortisation: E-Syg: §f
At 1 January 2023 72023F1 H1H (10,216)
Charge for the year FESMH (4,333)
At31December2023 = R2028%12A3A (14,549)
Charge for the year FESMH (1,252)
At31December2024 == R2024%12A3A (15,801)
Net book value: BREFE:
At 31 December 2024 72024F12 531H -
At 31 December 2023 72023F12431H 1,252
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particular of subsidiaries
which principally affects the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2024. The class of shares held is
ordinary unless otherwise stated.

11 RBATINIIRE

TREFHIN2024F12831B HAEE X

B EELREBEAE

BHEOHBA RN

=R

BoFRIERBIEAIN FAFRNBEL LR

Bt e

Proportion of
ownership interest

FRE LB
Place of Registered
Incorporation and paid-up Held by Held by Principal
Name of company and business capital the Company a subsidiary activities
= AR S R =R 2NN B EAF
NCIECE R i 2h BEREXR STl BE TEEK
Henan Zhongyuan the PRC RMB800,000,000/ - 100% Project
Central China RMB350,000,000 management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
AR RN T AR - 100% FEibE
BERARANA 800,000,0007T, RERS
AR
350,000,0007T
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB10,000,000/ - 100% Project
China (Hainan) — management
Management services
Services Co., Ltd.
mREX(CE)ERE HE AR - 100% FEibE
R# B R A A 10,000,0007T, RER®
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Anyang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
PREX(ZB)EH  PE AR - 70% FBIHLE
BREBR QA 5,000,000t RER
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11 RBATINERE @

Proportion of
ownership interest

FRE RSB
Place of Registered
Incorporation and paid-up Held by Held by Principal
Name of company and business capital the Company a subsidiary activities
= BE S B =R =NV =] PN
DR ERB REMWE BEEX BE BE TEEK
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Puyang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
RRER (CER) BT HE AR - 70% FiE
HERER AR 5,000,0007T, RE2R®
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Shanggqiu) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
PREZX(BED)MT HE AR¥ - 70% FHE
BERERAF 5,000,0007T, RER
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Xuchang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
mREXE (FE)ET FH AR¥E - 70% FiE
ERARANA 5,000,0007T, RERD
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Zhumadian) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
hREX (BEFE) X AR - 70% FBHIE
WHERER QA 5,000,0007T, KRS
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

11 RBATINIIRE &)

Proportion of
ownership interest

FRE RSB
Place of Registered
Incorporation and paid-up Held by Held by Principal
Name of company and business capital the Company a subsidiary activities
= BE S B =R =NV =] PN
DR ERB REMWE BEEX BE BE TEEK
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Zhoukou) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
RREXR(AA)ET HE AR - 70% FiE
HERER AR 5,000,0007T, RE2R®
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Luoyang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
RREZE BT  HE AR¥ - 70% FHE
BERERAF 5,000,0007T, RER
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Xinyang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
mREXE(EB)ET  FH AR¥E - 70% FEHE
ERARANA 5,000,0007T, RERD
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Nanyang) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
hREXE (EE)Wm  PE AR - 70% FiE
BERARANA 5,000,0007T, KRS
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11 RBATINIIRE &)

Proportion of
ownership interest

FRE RSB
Place of Registered
Incorporation and paid-up Held by Held by Principal
Name of company and business capital the Company a subsidiary activities
= BE S B =R == RN =] PN
DR ERB REMWE BEEX BE BE TEEK
Yichuan Jianbang the PRC RMB5,000,000/ - 70% Project
Management — management
Services Co., Ltd. services
FNGEFERZE FE AR - 70% FEIiE
BRAF 5,000,0007T, RE2R®
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB10,000,000/ - 65% Project
China (Shaanxi) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
RRER (RAE)HT HE AR - 65% FihE
BERERAF 10,000,0007T, RE2R®
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB5,000,000/ — 70% Project
China (Shanxi) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
mREFE(LA)ET PE AR¥ - 70% FHE
BERERAF 5,000,0007T, RERS
Zhongyuan Central the PRC RMB10,000,000/ - 70% Project
China (Pingdingshan) - management
City Development services
Co., Ltd.
REZE (FTAW) 1 AR¥E - 70% FEiE
WHERBRAA RER

10,000,0007T,
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11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

11

RBATMNIRE &)

Proportion of
ownership interest

FiT B RERE 25 I
Place of Registered
Incorporation and paid-up Held by Held by Principal
Name of company and business capital the Company a subsidiary activities
= AR 3L B = it & =NV =] PN
AEER R 3t B BRER BE BE TEXEK
Henan Ruiyuan the PRC RMB1,000,000/ 70% Project
Enterprise Services - management
Co., Ltd. services
] B AR b 3 RS [ AR - 70% FihE
BRAF 1,000,0007T, RS
Note: 7t -

The above subsidiaries are limited liability companies incorporated in
the PRC. These official names of the entities are in Chinese. The
English names are translated by management only for the purpose of
these financial statements as no English names have been registered

or available.

12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
disposed of all of interest in Biyang Jianheng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Biyang Jianheng”) to an independent
third party for a consideration of RMB4,000,000, resulting in
the loss of significant influence over Biyang Jianheng upon the
completion of the transaction. The gain on disposal is
recognised in profit or loss is as follow:

12

B A RS AR BEEMRZANER AR -
ZERFNESABRT N - R EBEREE
ERMBREMBE ZFEXAEL AT K
ISR

R—EBE AT NES

B E2023F12A31B L F & AEB A —
BRI FE= HEN G GEEE ER %
ARAR (DMBEE] )2 KE
A AR ¥4,000,0007T BN R 5 TR IE
RIS IEENERTE S -

RMB’000

ARET T

Consideration RE 4,000
Carrying amount of the 20% investment on MNELEATENE H20%RE ZRHEE

the date of loss of significant influence (1,753)

Gain on disposal of an associate B — g QR 2 HEs 2,247

178



13

14

(

2024 ANNUAL REPORT « —E - [UfF£ R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2024F 12318 IFF/E (XA RESIE)

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 13 HittemEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Investment in unlisted securities REMBHHIEE 1,774 1,511
Note: Kat -
The Group’s investment in unlisted securities represented an AEBRAREMBSFAIREEN —HLERE
investment in a private equity fund. The Group designated the unlisted ESHRE - AEEEEXERLTISFRAT
securities at FVOCI (non-recycling), as it does not intend to held for Bt AfBm (TAER)  AAETREBEEER
trading and not expect to dispose of this investment in the foreseeable BFEHRA AR I G HEZIKE -
future.
CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 14 EHNEENREGHEAR

LIABILITIES

(@) Contract assets

(@) BHEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Contract assets EREE

Project management service B ERERE

98,440 125,343

All of contract assets are expected to be recovered
within one year.

BRFFIEEHNEEREIFANKE -
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14 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

14 ENEERSHEE®)

(b) Contract liabilities (b) EXEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Contract liabilities ERHEE
Project management service P53 A R RS
— Billings in advance of performance  — BB 49BR X 222,259 309,936
Movements in contract liabilities BRNEEZE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
At 1 January W1 A1H 309,936 291,968
Decrease in contract liabilities as a WREVFTAGLHEERN
result of recognising revenue during FARABEHNEHNERE
the year that was included in the VRS
contract liabilities at the beginning of
the year (100,769) (110,108)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result FE1Z A 1 B B i ZE K 2 & 18
of billing in advance of project IREEBRESHENEE
management service HEINK £ =8 13,092 128,076
At 31 December ®12A31H 222,259 309,936

As at 31 December 2024, the amount of billings in
advance of performance and advance payments
received expected to be recognised as income after
more than one year is RMB138,390,000 (2023:
RMB204,878,000). All of the other contract liabilities are
expected to be recognised as income within one year.
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15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 15 BESREMEWFIE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M aE AR¥ T ARETFIT
Trade debtors and bills receivable & 5 & Wz 18 & JE W 22 1% 480,607 396,496
Less: allowance for credit losses  J& : {Z & BB & (180,186) (134,042)

Trade debtors and bills receivable, & 5 & I 3x 18 K fE W Z %

net of loss allowance (MkREEREE) (a) 300,421 262,454
Amounts due from related parties & Y Ba 5t 5 7B 24(c) 5,129 4,419
Other debtors H A 8 W SRR (b) 157,176 840,441
Financial assets measured at REBHEK AT ENEREE

amortised cost 462,726 1,107,314
Deposits and prepayments B4 RIEN A 7,137 14,201

469,863 1,121,515
Amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free W Al T I REER RS BEEET
and have no fixed terms of payment. The details of which are TR » ST BN 7E24(c) °

set out in note 24(c).

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be BB E S R EMERFRESE —FR
recovered or recognised as expense within one year or on W [e S B R A5 B S S R B SR ARER o
demand.
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15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

182

(a)

(b)

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade debtors and bills receivable, based on the
invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

15 ES

(a)

REMEUFRIE (&)

ARIR 2 HT

BERSHAR RIEFFZRAH LMK
BiEREER EHRUENERE
R EREDMTANT -

2024 2023

202445 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARBEF T

Within 6 months 61E A 135,911 192,505
6 months to 1 year 618 A =14 129,176 61,016
over 1 year HBim1F 35,334 8,933
300,421 262,454

Trade debtors and bills receivable are due when the
receivables are recognised. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade
debtors and bills receivable are set out in note 22(a).

Other debtors

As at 31 December 2024, other debtors mainly
represented advances to third parties of RMB42,000,000
(2023: RMB747,953,000) which are interest bearing at
3.50% to 3.85% (2023: 10% to 14%) per annum,
unsecured and expected to be recovered within one
year.

(b)

g 5 WA MR E BN R IE
WHIRR 2 - B AKEEERE
MEZGRERRFBARBURBEEL 2
EERRCE - TFBHNHME
22(a) °

H it R IR

MN2024512A318 - Hfb el 8 =
ZBE =75 F R ARK42,000,0007C
(20234 : AR #¥747,953,0007T) * #%
BRIEFEF KN F3.50% £3.85%
(20234 : 10% E=14% ) 5T & - E K 7
KFEBHR—FALkE -
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16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

16 RERASFEYREMBRER

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION =EER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BERREESEEYWERE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Cash and cash equivalents in the mEMBIRRAEKR kiR
consolidated statement of financial meExrtrRe B
position and in the consolidated cash ~ Z{E¥)
flow statement 2,484,045 1,835,783

(b)

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash

(b) BRBANGAEKEIBFELECRSE

generated from operations: ZHER -
2024 2023
2024F 20234F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K e AR®T ARBTTT
Operating activities REES
Profit before taxation B 15 B s A1) 93,765 247,219
Adjustments for: P EE
Depreciation and amortisation 7% 2 # #4 5(d) 8,009 14,148
Interest income B U A 4 (19,714) (61,229)
Equity settled share-based VA B e 45 55 LARR 0 73 2L 1R
payment expenses H A 5(b) 6,762 7,341
Share of loss of an associate  f&{5 — [ Hi & A R &8 12 = 477
Gain on disposal of s — R AR 2 KkEE
an associate 12 - (2,247)
Gain on disposal of items of HEME  BE M&E
property, plant and equipment T8 B Ayl 2R - (10)
Finance costs BE KA 5(a) 298 347
Changes in working capital: BEESEE):
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD 27,041 299,685
(Increase) in trade and other & 5 K H #h fE W B
receivables (3Em) (54,301) (138,069)
Increase in trade and other E 5 Kk E M fERFIE
payables N 47,667 59,280
(Decrease)/increase in BHEECRD) /Em
contract liabilities (87,677) 17,968
Cash generated from KEFEIRE
operations 21,850 444,910
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16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 16 e HRERFASSZEYWRHEMRER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION Ef\-% (&)
(Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) MEITBEEZEBZHIER
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRAMIETRESHELE A
from financing activities, including both cash and non- SEEaEZEH (@%ﬁ%&?lﬂﬁﬁ
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities By MEITHELE L BERER
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash BENMeEERARKREREHBRL
flows will be, classified in the Group’s cash flow AEEZRERERFHELABRE
statement as cash flows from financing activities. EEEA RS REZEE:.
Lease
liabilities
HEaE
RMB’000
AREET T
At1January2023 M2023%1BMB 3,098
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREREELENEE:
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERS E’]ézli*ﬁ’n‘ (5,206)

184

Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERSHFEIHD (347)
Total changes from financing cash flows rﬂéﬁ fﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁiﬂ"é‘%ﬁ ____________________________ (5,553)
Other Changes: H {5 B
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into REATLHMEEMEEANHEHESE

new leases during the year N 9,954
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) MBEFX (Hfzt5(a)) 347
Total other changes H\ﬁﬁifji@%ﬁ ______________________________________ 10,301
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 =~ W2023F12A31AR2024%15818 = 7,846
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREREELENEE:
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEREH élei*ll b2) (4,565)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEEREHNFEIT D (298)
Total changes from financing cash flows =~ BARSAZEBRSR (4,863)
Other Changes: Hih# &
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into RERATLHBEEMEENHESE

new leases during the year 0 1,448
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) MEFZ (Hfits5(a)) 298
Totalotherchanges . ... ZtEw:es . BSOS 1,748
At 31 December 2024 A2024F12H31H 4,729
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16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 16 RMERREZEYWREMBELRE
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION E&EH @)
(Continued)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d) HENRESRLEEE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases RHEEFARESRERNESBUT

comprise the following:

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTTT
Within operating cash flows RIEERSMEA 496 431
Within financing cash flows RBMERSREN 4,863 5,553
5,359 5,984
These amounts relate to the following: ZERFEENTNIEE B
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBT T
Lease rentals paid 2NEERS 5,359 5,084
17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 17 BEZRHEHMENFRIE
2024 2023
20245 20234F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
&t AR®T T ARBT T
Amounts due to related parties JE 1 BB B 75 5RIR 24(c) 48,803 43,874
Dividend payables FE T AR B - 124,880
Other creditors and HinfET R IERETEA
accrued charges 173,737 131,607
222,540 300,361
Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free BNBEBHITRELERR 2EAARE
and payable on demand, the details of which are set out in KIEE  HFBHNHE24(c) °
note 24(c).
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled EE S EEMENRERAER —FR
within one year or on demand. RBUIRERKEE-
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18 LEASE LIABILITIES 18 HEARE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TRINTAEBEHEBBHORHE LE H
of the Group’s lease liabilities: 1B
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12831H 2023F12H31H
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REHEE REAE RIEHE RIEHEE
TREE T RRBE HRERE I ERARER

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR¥T T ARETIT AR®EFTT
Within 1 year 1F R 4,087 4,142 3,846 4,107
After 1 year but within 1B ER2FER
2 years 642 645 3,395 3,497
After 2 year but within 2F 1B BR5E A
5 years - - 605 609
i 642 645 4000 - 4,106
4,729 4,787 7,846 8,213
Less: total future interest 3 : AR 2Kl B B %
expenses ] (58) (367)
Present value of HEBERE
lease liabilities 4,729 7,846
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19 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTION

(a)

(i)

Share options scheme

Share options granted on 12 June 2018

On 12 June 2018, CCRE conditionally granted
3,000,000 share options to Group’s key
management, for services provided to the Group.
The exercise price is HK$4.296 per share. The
share option scheme was effective from 12 June
2018. Under the share option schemes, no share
option is vested within first year from the date of
grant. 20% of the share options are vested within
the second year from the date of grant and 40% of
the share options are vested in each of the third
and fourth year from the date of grant. Each option
gives the holders the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share of CCRE. All the options granted will
be exercisable within 10 years after grant date.

The fair value of services received in return for
share options granted is measured by reference to
the fair value of share options granted. The
estimate of the fair value of the share options
granted is measured based on a binomial lattice
model. The contractual life of the share option is
used as an input into this model. Expectations of
early exercise are incorporated into the binomial
lattice model.

Fair value of share options and assumption

Fair value at measurement date HK$1.566
Share price HK$4.290
Exercise price HK$4.296
Expected volatility 45%
Option life 10 years
Expected dividends 3%
Risk-free interest rate 2.92%

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

19 UHESEFENRBXNRS

(a) HBBAR#ERTE

(i) 201846 512 AIBH ZIBRE

MN2018FE6 H12H - E ¥ Es
BHEMAEBETEZEBAER
13,000,000 i A% 7 - LA 22 &)
MAEERENRS TR
D171 (8 54.29678 7t - BB A% 1
1217201846 A 128 A4
Mo BIEBERER S B EH B
HRE-—FATESFBETME
BiE-ARHEBHEE -—FR
ERE20% MBI MR IR HE B
HRE=FRENFANTFH
B40% - BIERER THE
ARE—REXEHELTBRLN
BR-FBERLERERHY
REL AR TFATAITE-

PR LA 2 B 9% o 8 s P 2R AR 7%
M RFETI2E MR ERE
ZAFEFE-FAREBERZE
B RFEMGTDER ZHEAH
EAGFE-BREADFH
FURB P AERS —RE AR
BoRATEMEHE A AL
“IRA B EER

MBIRIEZ 2N FERER

REtE BN ATE 1.566/8 7T
A E & 42907 7T
I1EER 429675 7T
BHKIE 45%
i F 5 10
BHR R X 3%
7 i ) 2.92%
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19 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 19 BREGHEURBHEENRS
TRANSACTION (Continued) (&)
(a) Share options scheme (Continued) (a) HBRRFEFTEIE)

(i) The number and the weighted average exercise (i) BEHERLERENEER
price of share options granted by CCRE are as IEFGITEEUT :
follows:

2024 2023
20245 2023%F

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
iEF B E ¥ BiE
TEE gE 176 fE gE

HK$ HK$

BT BT
Outstanding at 1 January ~ FMA18 #ARITE 4.30 3,000,000 4.30 3,000,000

Granted during the year RAFER L = = -
Exercised during the year ~ RAFEE{TE - = =
Lapsed during the year RAF R - = =

Outstanding at 31 December 7128318 i@ R17{& 4.30 3,000,000 4.30 3,000,000
Exercisable at 31 December 128318 7] T IA7T{E 4.30 3,000,000 4.30 3,000,000
The options outstanding at 31 December 2024 had 72024F12 8318 # K17 K
a weighted average exercise price of HK$4.30 Bk HmEraaEEs
(2023: HK$4.30) and a weighted average 4.307% 7t (20234 : 4.30/% 7T )
remaining contractual life of 3.45 years (2023: 4.45 RN FIERE KGR 733.45
years). F (20234 : 4.45%F) °
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19 URESEURGHERNRS

TRANSACTION (Continued) (&)
(b) 2021 Share Award Scheme (b) 2021 F 7R EETE
On 21 December 2020, CCRE, the then parent company 2020128218  AEE & B A
of the Group, announced the share award scheme to NEIEEMERNMRD RZEE S W
grant restricted shares to its employees, which was HEERTRAUERKRE UZERE
subject to such employees’ acceptance. The share X RER - IR H BN 88 B BUF H
award scheme will be valid and effective for a period of BTF (12021F & D ZEIETE]) -
10 years (the “2021 Share award scheme”).
During January and February 2021, 30 employees of the R20215F18 K2R A& B K305 &
Group accepted the share award and subscribed an BEXTRORE TRES X
aggregate of 21,300,000 restricted shares at total 21,300,000/% [ il 14 = - £ (E # 58
consideration of HK$61,054,500. The restricted shares /%61,054,500/8 7T ° [R i 14 I 58 28 A
are subject to service and performance vesting Pl 75 70 5% 3R /5 55 188 164 - AL FR20% %
conditions, with 20% of the granted shares vested every FTHROEARAFANERTFTHE
year on and after the first anniversary of the grant date E—EBEERECGFHRE-
during the next five years.
Movements in the number of outstanding 2021 Share i AR AT E2021F Rk (0 12 B A 2 2k B
Award Scheme are as follows: ZEEMT
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
Number of Number of
restricted restricted
share units share units
PR il 1 PR ) 14
% 217 88 e
At 1 January M1 A18 8,580,000 10,800,000
Vested and transferred during the year RAFEEHFBENEEZE (2,860,000) (2,220,000)
At 31 December M®12A31H 5,720,000 8,580,000
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19 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

190

19 URESEURGHERNRS

TRANSACTION (Continued) (&)
(c) 2023 Share Award Scheme (c) 2023 F R4 RE=TE
On 29 May 2023, the Board of directors of the Company M2023F5H29H AR R EEEH
resolved to award an aggregate of 65,500,000 restricted RAZEREREG HI5BEEDEE
shares (the “2023 Share Award Scheme”) at nil 25 E) & $£65,500,0000% (R # 14 It =
consideration to a total of 15 employee participants, (F2023F Ml RENFH &) - RIE
pursuant to the 2023 Share Award Scheme, which was 20234 I fn B2 EDET &l - AR AR R AR
subject to the approval of the shareholders of the RN eZ Bt - 20234 J (7 42 Eh =t &
Company at that date. The 2023 Share Award Scheme M2023F8 A7 H E A A 7 R KA
was adopted and approved by the shareholders of the L o
Company on 7 August 2023.
The restricted shares are subject to service and BHEREZRE RRIREB IR
performance vesting conditions, with 30%, 30% and 40% FIRR-RARKR=ZFRN BFEH AR
of the granted shares vested every year on and after the 2023F5H298 R —AFE R k2 &
first anniversary of the date of 29 May 2023 during the 57/E30%30% N40% HE R H AR
next three years, respectively.
The fair value of awarded shares on the grant date is BIEE BB REER F25E ARG
determined by reference to the closing price of the RETEE K EZEAR (D R L B A
underlying ordinary shares on the date of grant, taking BWAREBETIZ2ZEREE®RN &
into account the terms and conditions upon which the HEHNKmEERE W EEEHE
awarded shares were granted, in accordance with B A% A7) O 16 3R 2 A6 1 o
HKFRS 2, Share-based payment.
Movements in the number of outstanding 2023 Share M R 17 £20234F i fh 2B 5+ 2 8 B
Award Scheme are as follows: ZEEWT
2024 2023
20245 20234
Number of Number of
restricted restricted
share units share units
PR 11 PR 14
IR REMFE
At 1 January ®1A1H 65,500,000 =
Granted during the year RAFEERT - 65,500,000
Vested and transferred during the year A AEECRE MDD EE (14,850,000) =
Lapsed during the year AR E R (16,000,000) =
At 31 December M®12A831H 34,650,000 65,500,000
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a)

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of

financial position represents:

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2024F 12318 IFF/E (XA RESIE)

20 HFEMBRRRPHOAEH

(a) HEPBHRRKRPZEHHRIEAE :

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTTT

At 1 January B1A1H 88,198 104,234
Charged to profit or loss (note 5(a)) BEENR (fiF50)) 24,169 56,661
Tax paid [EENE 2 (18,799) (72,697)
At 31 December ®12A31H 93,568 88,198
2024 2023

202445 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTTT

Representing: 2®)EAH:

Current taxation B EATT 18 93,568 88,198
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20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20 FERBRRTAPBOMEH 2
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (b) ERABEERELEERAE
(i)  Movement of each component of deferred tax () EEHESERABEESIZH
assets and liabilities L))
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) ERERIEEE/ (BB)HBHR
recognised in the consolidated statement of FaMBRARANER KR
financial position and the movements during the FRZEBHWOT:
year are as follows:
Credit loss Lease  Right-of-use
allowance liabilities assets Total
EEBRRE HERE - HRAREE @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETE ARETR
At 1 January 2023 #2023F1A1H 17,934 774 (917) 17,791
Credited/(charged) to FABR/ (BEER
profit or loss (note 6()) ) (H6() 10,551 368 (240) 10,679
At 31 December 2023and  #2023F12A318 &%
1 January 2024 2024F1 7518 28,485 1,142 (1,157) 28,470
Credited/(charged) to FTABE/ (BBER
profit or loss (note 6(a)) k) (Kti6(a)) 3,564 (407) 465 3,622
At 31 December 2024 ®2024F12731H 32,049 85 (692) 32,092
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of

20

=
nTA

SHBRARPORENR @)

(b)

B ZE2024F 12318 IFF/E (XA RESIE)

CRZELHREERARE (H)

(i) HEHBRIERZEEK

financial position
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
Representing: 2|\ :
Deferred tax assets RIERIAE E 32,092 28,485
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE = (15)
32,092 28,470
(c) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised: (c) REZIMNELHEEE :

As at 31 December 2024, taxable temporary differences
relating to undistributed profits of the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries amounted to RMB1,534,552,000 (2023:
RMB1,430,272,000). No deferred tax liability was
recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable
on the distribution of these retained profits as the
Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has determined that it is probable that
these will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

R2024%12 8318 » B2 A &) & B Ff}
BRAADEKEFEBEOERTEY
B =% A& AR#1,534,552,0007C
(20234 : A R #1,430,272,0007T) °
WEREDIRZSRE & A EH
N ERRECHREAG AAK
D EFE I ZE B A R A AR B EK
BARBBERE RA] RARKRAEAHE
gD IRZERH -
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 21 BX - RERKE
(a) Share Capital (@) B&

As at 31 December

194

M2B31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RAEE k-] 2B T
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Authorised share capital EERAR
(Note (i) (Kia@)) 10,000,000,000 100,000,000 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
As at 31 December
M2A318
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
ROHE o] B2 B !
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBTT
Ordinary shares, issued ZER BBRITES
and fully paid: £
At 1 January ™M A1H 3,691,302,120 30,614  3,289,706,120 26,990
Issuance of ordinary shares 17 E@AL
(Note (ii) (172 (i) 174,314,908 1,590 343,140,000 3,092
Issuance of restricted shares %77 &t A 7 82 E) &1 21
held for share award BRI G HERE
scheme (Note (i) (1 3% (iii) ) - - 65,500,000 595
Share repurchased and B R kT HER G
cancelled (Note (iv)) (K17t (@iv)) - - (7,044,000) (63)
At 31 December MM2B318 3,865,617,028 32,204  3,691,302,120 30,614
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(a)

Share Capital (Continued)

Notes:

(0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Company was incorporated on 22 October 2020 in
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability. Upon incorporation, the Company’s
authorised share capital was HK$380,000 divided into
38,000,000 shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each, of
which 1 share was issued and allotted, credited as fully
paid.

On 12 May 2021, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from HK$380,000 divided into
38,000,000 shares to HK$100,000,000 divided into
10,000,000,000 shares.

In February 2024, the Company issued 174,314,908
shares to eligible shareholders pursuant to the scrip
dividend scheme announced on 8 December 2023 and
15 January 2024 at a total consideration of
HK$51,074,000 (equivalent to RMB46,612,000).
RMB1,590,000 was credited to share capital and
RMB45,022,000 was credited to share premium. In May
2023, the Company issued 343,140,000 shares to twelve
subscribers at a total consideration of HK$274,512,000
(equivalent to RMB247,330,000). RMB3,092,000 was
credited to share capital and RMB244,238,000 was
credited to share premium.

In July 2023, the Company issued 65,500,000 ordinary
shares to an independent trustee for the purpose of
granting restricted shares held for share award scheme
(Note 19(c)).

In 2022, the Company repurchased its own ordinary
shares of 7,044,000, with an aggregate consideration
paid amounting to approximately HK$7,174,000
(equivalent to RMB6,408,000). All of these shares were
cancelled in May 2023.

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

21 BEX - REREBE®)

(@) BAE(#E)

Hfat

(i) ANAFR2020F10A22B8 S8
EXIA—MEREER AR
BT %E RRAEERAN A
380,000/% 7T - 5 £38,000,000/% &
M EMEO.0178 T B AR 15 - E R 1AR AR
1D 1T R EC B A BR B 1R 4 B IR

T/'\ ®

M2021F58128 » RNRA R RPEE K
7K £3380,0007% 7T (5 438,000,000
A A% 17 ) 1 h0 Z100,000,0005% 7t (5
%10,000,000,0008% % 15 )

M2024F2 A - A A AR £20234F
12A8H %202451 A158 R 8 A
BREFEREESKEET
174,314,908 i 15 - AR (E &
51,074,000 7T (HHE R AR
46,612,0007T) ° A R #1,590,0007T
AR - A R ¥45,022,0007T 7
AR AP 34 18 - 7A20234E5 7 - AR A
M)+ = % R A 5£77343,140,000%
B 15 - K 18 5274,512,00078 T (1
B AR ¥247,330,0000T) - AR
#3,092,000 T 5 AR A - A R ¥
244,238,000 T 5F AR 5 (B o

(ii)

M2023F7H - A AT M —BBY X
=E A %% 1765,500,000% & i/ A% - A
A 5 IR SR ED ET 8135 5 OBR 14
B2 (FMI5E19(c)) ©

(iii)

MN2022F - A AR EEHEAKX
7,044,0008% & @ A% - BT B REL
AB7,174,0008 T (BBER AR
6,408,0007T) - FTAZ E R H E RN
202345 744 °

(iv)
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

196

21 BX - REREBE®)

(Continued)
(b) Dividends (b) RE
(i) Dividend payable to equity shareholders of the (i) FAE@ELR AR RRIET
Company attributable to the year l:0) =S
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTTT
No interim dividend declared for B 220246 A30H (- A
the period ended 30 June 2024 WSk R E
(2023: declared and paid of (20234 : Bk RIKAT
HK$3.74 cents (equivalent to TR B AR3. 74751
RMB3.38 cents) per ordinary (FHERARK3.38%) )
share) - 124,880
Final dividend in respect of 720234 B #b/E KR #Y
financial year 2022, approved 20220 U B R HARR 2
and paid during the year 2023, TR EBER2.707(L
of HK$2.70cents (equivalent to (FHERARK2.495)
RMB2.49 cents) per ordinary
share - 88,554

On 24 August 2023, the Board declared an interim
dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2023, of
HK$3.74 cents per ordinary share (2023 Interim
Dividend”). On 8 December 2023 and 15 January
2024, the Company announced a supplementary
announcement regarding a scrip dividend scheme,
pursuant to which the scheme offering eligible
shareholders the scrip dividend option whereby
eligible shareholders may elect to receive the 2023
Interim Dividend wholly or partly in cash or by the
allotment of new shares credited as fully paid in
lieu of cash dividend.

The Board did not propose a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

MN20235FE8H24H EEE€ TR
H E2023F6 A308 IE/~AA 2
FER B F AR E B AR3. 745 1L
([2023F F HffR B 1) 2742023
F12A8H Kk2024%F1 75158 -
RARAHAEBAKRR S E
MR AE Bt ZitElRe
BRI ARR A SR 2 A
A EWRIRE O EE AR S il
BRI ES R B 3T IR0 AR
EHREKRBWEE I o
2023F R HRAR B, ©

EFeWEERIKEE 2024
F12A3MBIEFE 2 REAKE -
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

Other capital reserve

The other capital reserve comprises the following:

In 2017, 2018 and 2021, share options and
restricted shares were granted to certain key
management of the Group by CCRE, which
then indirectly held 100% equity interest of
the Group. In 2023, the shares under 2023
Share Award Scheme was granted to certain
employee participants. The Group recognised
a total expense and a corresponding capital
reserve of RMB6,762,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB7,341,000); and

Deemed contribution from the parent
company prior to the Company’s initial public
offering in relation to: (i) certain assets and
liabilities historically associated with the the
project management business of the Group
but were retained by the parent company;
and (ii) certain assets and liabilities
historically associated with the the real estate
development and investment business but
were retained by the Group.

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

21 BX - REREBE®)

(c) FREHMERBEN

(i)

A& X f#

Hitp EAFEEERATEEA:

720174 ~ 20184 22021
FOREWERTAEE
ZETEEEBEAEBERK
T R PR M AR 10 - 5% T
BEMEMEFEASE
#9100% [% 4 © 7320234 -
R E2023F f% 15 2EEh =1 £
mMETEESLEER DR
50 H £2024F12A31H
IEFE NEBBERHEX
BRERAEERNFEEAR
#6,762,0007T (20234 :
AE#7,341,0007T) : &

RARBERAFEER
WESKBEBF AR
BB ()BAEHEEKE

BEMEREZEBKEBE
HERBRRENETEE

e k(i) BELLEE
2= A 8 R IR & TS AR
BERASEERBNETE
EREE-
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(ii) PRC statutory reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group are required to transfer
10% of their profit after taxation, as determined
under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance
reaches 50% of their registered capital.

The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to make up
previous years’ losses, if any, and may be
converted into share capital by the issue of new
shares to shareholders in proportion to their
existing shareholdings or by increasing the par
value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the balance after such issue is not
less than 25% of the registered capital.

(iiij) Treasury shares

Treasury shares mainly include the ordinary shares

repurchased but not yet cancelled.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2024, the Company did not repurchase its own
ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange.

198

21 BX - REREBE®)

(c)

RENEEREN(E)

(ii)

(iii)

o B L E # E

BIEFE (RRE) AEER
BB A R ZBAR I R B & At
R R EAFH10% BT &
BHERELERABEE B
FRFEEHEREFMER
#950% /4 LE °

HEREZREBAERRRIRE
ZBIHETT

AERBEAREREBESF
EREE (mAE) THaEkE
B RIR A BRI 1R 18 5 35 1T
A 40 B8 A0 F IR 15 A KX
A EESRRBRA  EETT
BRNEBRIIRNEMELRD
25% -

EFR G

BEEROTERFBEEBELOER
REESHH) B BAX -

#H 2202349 K2024%F12H31H
EFEARA)WEREEZF
EEEARFHE B -
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(Continued)

(c)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

Treasury shares (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company repurchased its own ordinary shares of
7,044,000 on the Stock Exchange, with an
aggregate consideration paid amounting to
approximately HK$7,174,000 (equivalent to
RMB6,408,000). As at 31 December 2022, the
ordinary shares were repurchased but not yet
cancelled by the Company and were recorded in
“Treasury shares” in the Company’s reserves at the
purchase consideration. All of these shares were
cancelled in May 2023.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 1(u).

Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9
that are held at the end of the reporting period (see
note 1(f)(i)).

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

21 BX - #EREBE®)

(c) REHMEERBNE)

(iii) EFRG (&)

B £2022F12A31B L EE
ARG REBRFTELEAR ST
A PLT7,044,0008% - B 4E R (B
49 57,174,000 7T (8 E R A
R #6,408,0007T ) ° 720224
12A318 AR R M A C B
BlMZE LB Wik
BRERAQRFEETRYAE
GRHl-FTEZERHER
202357 74 -

(iv) ERZFE

fE R RERERERINERR
B RATEEANTEIEL =
R o 2 EREMBRBEMEE(u) PTEL
T BURER

(v) XFE#FE (TrEE)
NFEEES(THHEE)BFR
BREHRRFENRBEETBEVH
HREEAESRIET RIBZATFE
FT A H 2 U a R B AR AR B
WATFERTFEE (RMT
1(f)))

199



CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « FIREZZFRA T )

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M IR R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
B 22024F 12310 1IFFZ (KA R#SE)

21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 21 BX - RERRE®

(Continued)
(d) Movements in components of equity (d) RERBREEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBIZRE B SHENE D H )
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated NREREHHHEH NGRS
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of BR - ANAEBBNBEFVEFRDY
changes in equity. Details of the changes in the EEEXEBFBEHINAT
Company’s individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
Fair value
Other reserve
Share Share  Treasury capital  Exchange (non- Retained
capital  premium shares reserve reserve  recycling) profits Total
HirER ATERE
The Company KA7 kx  RARE  ERRB B EXGE (FUER) RE&ER fit
RMB'000 RMB000  RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARET: ARETr ARETn ARETR
Balance at 31 December 2022 R2022812831R K
and 1 January 2023 NBE11ANLE 26,990 248,229 (6,408) 487,819 81,838 (3,182) 219514 1,114,860
Changes in equity for 2023 ABEERLE
Loss for the year EnEE = = - = = = (14762)  (14762)
Other comprehensive income~~ FE A 2ANE
for the year - - - - 17,081 (3,383) - 13,698
Total comprehensive income EERENRER
fo the year . . - S (%) (47)  (1064)
Cancellation of repurchased HEEERA
shares (63) (6,345) 6,408 - - - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares BLER 3092 244238 = = = = - U130
Restricted shares issued under 1R 157 2Bt &l
share award scheme EIRMRHMERE 505 = - (595) = = = =
Purchase of own shares EEXF RN = = = = = = = =
Dividends approved inrespectof  BEEEE S
the previous year RE - - - - - - (88.554)  (88,554)
Dividend declared inrespectof ~ AEEERZREH)
the current year RE = = - = = = (124880)  (124,880)
Equity settled share-based WEREERRD
payment TR = = = 5,990 = = - 5,990
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023F12B31AH
&8 30,614 486,122 - 493214 98,919 (6,565) 513718 1,153,682
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 21 BX - RERRE®

(Continued)
(d) Movements in components of equity (Continued) (d) RERBROSE (E)
Fair value
Other reserve
Share Share  Treasury capital  Exchange (non- Retained
capital  premium shares reserve reserve  recycling) profits Total
Rt EA AT ERE
The Company RAH Ra  RAGRE  ERRB ffE  EXGE (FUER) RE&ER fit

RMB00O  RMBO0 ~ RMB000  RMBOO0 ~ RMB000  RMB000 RMB000  RMB'000
ARRTT ARMTR ARETR ARBTT ARNTn ARETT  ARMTn ARETR

Changes in equity for 2024 NUFERLE

Loss for the year g = - - - = = (16352  (16,352)
Other comprehensive income ERAMZENE
for the year - - - - 22,469 263 - 22,732

Total comprehensive income ERRENREE

for the year - - - - 22,469 263 (16,352) 6,380
Issuance of ordinary shares BrLak 1,590 45,022 = = = - = 46,612
Equty settled share-based WEREERRD

payment SGE = = = 6,058 = = = 6,058

Balance at 31 December 2024 1202451283181
£ 32,204 531,144 - 499,272 121,388 (6,302) 35026 1,212,732
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21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

202

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so it can continue to provide returns for
equity shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

The results of the directors’ review of the Group’s capital
structure are used as a basis for the determination of the
level of dividends, if any, that are declared. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged and was not subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

21 BEX - REREBE®)

(e)

BEXEE

AEBEEEANTIEANERNS
RARERERQEEEN EMEHE
BE 4938 B AR 1B A B K 7 B E m & AR
BREABNERLIASERAE
BRE  TE RREECRREER
W R AEAM A SRR B R AR

AEEEGEHRRELREERLENR
Rig NEAFRSBREHRERZR
BEAMRRABEHORERE 2 HE
5¥E - X HEBE BTN ZE)FHE
BARE-

EFEHAKREEARBENRIER
KREEEEIRKS (WF) M KF
EE AEEMNEBERRBEES 2R
PRIMNBE AR TEROBR Bl
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group is not exposed to any significant currency risk or
interest rate risk. Exposure to credit and liquidity risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s
exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these
risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables and
contract assets. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with sound credit rating for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the statement of
financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. There is no significant concentration of credit
risk within the Group.

(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets

There is no significant concentration of credit risk
within the Group. The trade receivables are due
upon the date of the billing. The Group measures
loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets, including bills receivable and trade-related
amount due from related parties, at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

B ZE2024F 12318 IFF/E (XA RESIE)

BEEREEREMIAQNTE

KEIIHE%EHEK SRR

ﬂ&

ﬂhaﬁﬁ%&l

(a)

(i)

% 2 | &
R AEBNAFEEBRIETPHEREE
//|L@J§iﬂ °$§@ﬁﬁnnmu§:—
% A R 2 52 B AR DA B B 22 5 L B 9 B S
EHOERT -

FERR

EERRERXZHFIEITHEA
METMERAEEEXMBEER
MER AREENEERREIERE
BHREMBEYHBEREHNEE A
SERRASLASFEVELNGE
ERBER RARRZHFH/R
TRABRIFEEFRNSREE
BAKRERREERRBE-

AEBYEREHRAESSAKER

REERBRNTMEMBER RSE
& 2 WD?W%%%%¢%E$

BB ENREE (K H 5 AR E
BR) AEEYEEREFEER

e o
AA

ESBUSERSHEE

FEBVTEREREPEERR -BH
EYWKRIERFRER BRI S - NEER
CRHRESNERRERREFENS
HEREEBIETEE 2B UNKE
RERHEE (BIREEKER & EWEE
577 B0 8 5 MR R FRIR) B B 1R B 4
HRAEENEEEERRERY
BRI ITRAEFPENEREEASR
Ekiﬁ WEEREHEENE IR R
AR UEBRASENTRESE
ZEED e
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
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FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

22 BBEREEREMIAATE

(&)

(@) FERRGE)

Trade receivables and contract assets () EZSEUFEBERENEEE)
(Continueqd)
The following table provides information about the TREREELAEERE FHE
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade WHRIE(BIEEKEREREK
receivables, including bills receivable and trade- RAEs 5 A E S AR ) AR
related amount due from related parties: FERBLBHEEBEEMNE
ko
2024
2024%F
Gross Expected
Expected carrying credit loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHA EHEE
BEiE = HERMEE EiEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TxR
Within 6 months 618 AW 22.30% 174,919 39,008
6 months to 1 year 618 A &14 37.711% 207,383 78,207
Over 1 year HBE1E 64.06% 98,305 62,971
480,607 180,186
2023
2023%F
Gross Expected
Expected carrying credit loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHA BHEE
EE X BEEAE BB
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Within 6 months 61 A A 25.63% 258,833 66,328
6 months to 1 year 6fE A =14 47.29% 115,758 54,742
Over 1 year BiE1F 59.22% 21,905 12,972
396,496 134,042
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22 BBEREEREMIAATE

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) =ERERE)
(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets () EZEURFEREHNEEE)
(Continueqd)
The following table provides information about the TREREERAEERESNE
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for ENEERRIKEBEEEIE
contract assets: K E R -
2024 2023
20245 20236
Gross  Expected Gross  Expected
Expected  carrying creditloss  Expected carrying  credit loss
loss rate amount allowance loss rate amount  allowance
B BAHEE T BEEE
BEX AKREE HFEAR BREZX RREE BEEG
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR ARBTT ARBTR
Contract assets BREE 230% 126,694 28,254  2563% 168,530 43,187

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

Receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of customers that had a good
track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had been no significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.

EHEBEREEIRBEEEFEZ
ERBEEARBH ZEFHLX
RBAE ARBRE 28R
SHMEAEBEANN - B AR
B 7K £ 18] i B UK R IR TR B 4R 1
P E SRS B B R 2 TR R &=
Ho

B 4 780 HA 7 B ORL{B 2 B MR IR
BT Y BIER LR 2 Z R D
REFBR-

B 8 8B 3 R (B 2 FE KR IR
BEARAKRERRIFBER
BeEPRR - REBELR
BEERAS ARNEEERY
BEAEHALRIDBEER/A
BEME - B ANZT SR
TR R E R
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 22 BIREREEREMTAQAFE

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (%)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) FERRE)

(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets () EBZEUFEREHNEE (&)

(Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect FREEFHRERUARERENE
of trade receivables and contract assets during the ERANEBRERZESNT

year is as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARET T
At1danuary O RWANE 177229 69,161 _
Impairment losses recognised FANERRBEEE
during the year 31,211 108,068
At 31 December M12H31H 208,440 177,229
(i)  Credit risk arising from other receivables (i) REEMEKRFEANEERRE
In respect of other receivables, the Group monitors HEMERKIEMS A5H
the exposures and manages them based on *ETJ%J_EE EEIEE KBTS
historical settlement records and past experience, E AR R R 2R A AR R A
current conditions and forecasts of future economic TR BE 1% [ B K% B IR A A LB o
conditions.
At each reporting date, the Group measures the REREDH NEBIZE T
expected credit losses of other debtors in following ARG EEMEBNERREE
ways: &8
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 22 EREENREHMIAANFE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERK(ZE)
(iij)  Credit risk arising from other receivables (i) FREEMEKGIENESERE
(Continued) (4&)

If, at the reporting date, the credit risk on other
receivables has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for other receivables at an amount equal
to 12-month expected credit loss. The Group
measures the loss allowance for other receivables
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit
loss if the credit risk on other receivables has
increased significantly since initial recognition and
no impairment loss has occurred. The Group
measures the loss allowance for other receivables
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit
loss if impairment losses has occurred since initial
recognition.

The Directors believe that there is no material
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
balance of deposits and prepayments. Therefore,
the expected loss rate of deposits and
prepayments is assessed to be immaterial and no
loss allowance provision is made for these deposits
and prepayments during the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

HREE B H R W RR
B S B B B 1) 16 FE R A SR I
AAME LT AIREEIRAE
R1I2EANEHEEEENS
BMArEEMEKFIANEIER
BB EMERFENEER
R B YRR AR KR LT B
ABELEREBR AAEER
HEREHEREERENS
BA AT 2 H B U SR IR Y B 1R B
- EBEMNRERARE EE
MEER AIARKEEZESZR
EHEMEEERNSEITE
H A FE UK IR 1 B 1R B4 -

EEZRAE AEEREEERS
MENRBELEHRITEEREKX
EERK- Al e RTEN K
EWEHEEEREF G AL
E A BRE 220244 122023
FI2AMBILEFESERZE
e RBNRIBEFIREEREE -
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Credit risk arising from other receivables
(Continueqd)

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for other
receivables, including non-trade related amount

22

BEEREEREMIAQNTE

(%)

(a) EERRGE)

(i) RERMERTE B
(%)

TREHRABASENEER
B B H A FE W R TE (B 35 B W
BAEE DT ) FEE HARRSIR) VTR

due from related parties: H=EEEmnER:
2024 2023
2024% 2023F
Gross  Expected Gross  Expected
Expected  carrying creditloss  Expected carrying  credit loss
loss rate amount allowance loss rate amount  allowance
Al REEE B BHiEE
BEE LAFEE FBEEE BEX  QAFRE BERA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE AR®TR AREFTT ARBTET
For other receivables that  5t{= &R & 4114
the credit risk has not TR A PR 4
increased significantly KB AR EM
since initial recognition EWHIEM S 2.09% 165,763 3,458 146% 857,396 12,536

Expected loss rates are based on historical loss
experience. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view
of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 22

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Credit risk arising from other receivables (ii)

(Continueqd)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

BBEMREEREMTADTE
(#)
(a) fEEEB )

R ERMERSELEERE
(&)

FARAEEMERRAEGRNE

(b) Liquidity risk

of other receivables during the year is as follows: BRERZSHOT
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETF T
Atldanvary  UPMAIR Lot . s
Impairment losses recognised during RN HER AR EE 18
the year (9,078) 3,461
At 31 December M12H31H 3,458 12,536
(b) RENERBE
AEEBANELEERERE AR

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial

SNRLEE BRASAEKNEH
BRERRMEBEMBASHRLMEE
B3 EZEREBE TABMMARE
ENRBKFRARBRRESS
HE -AEBNBRRSEHREER
BB RREBEZNETER #
REARFENNRE HERERA
ERAEIESFARBTESRKE
IS 7 & Awn B RRE - AJE 52 B
EEHRBESFT R

institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short

and longer term.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 22

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

BEEREEREMIAQNTE

(&)

(b) REEREER ()

The following tables show the remaining contractual TRIIRAEBEETESHREBER
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the WMEMRNOFRE DR EBRER ETD
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are AERBEINRURRERERAE
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the BESZHxFEHEBEL-
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
As at 31 December 2024
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
M20214F12ANAENRERRERE
More than ~ More than
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but Carrying
1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
-k —F# MmER M2A318
REX BRER BRER LER b WEREE

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARETR

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREBTR ARBTR AR%TR

Trade and other payables B REMERNTE 222,402 - - - 222,402 222,402
Lease liabilities HEAE 4,142 645 - - 4,787 4,729
226,544 645 - - 227,189 227,131
As at 31 December 2023
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
R023F12ANBENAERR S NE
More than More than

Within yearbut 2 years but Carrying
1 year or less than less than More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
—ERY —F% MER M2A31H
REX BRER BRER nER Fehy HEEE

RMB000  RMBI000
ARBTL ARETR

RMB00O ~ RMBO000  RMBO0O  RMBI000
AREBTL ARETL ARETR ARETR

Trade and other payables B REMENTE 300,361 = = = 300,361 300,361
Lease liabilities RERE 4,107 3,497 609 - 8,213 7,846
304,468 3,497 609 = 308,574 308,207
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end
of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date;

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available;

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

/L\\\/

(i)

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

BEEREEREMIAQNTE

B

=]

BAFETEBZEMEERE
&

AFEER

TREJRBEEZEVHRELE
QB3R A FEFE RBE
HARAEHAEAEESHITA
MAFESR=EEBR -RE
BEXMAERBABRSR
BRLES2MELNATER:

F-REENE-—RBAE
SAENATE BAEREE
FEERGFEREERTST
HIRARERESE

FE_MEEUNFE-_REB@AE
ATENATE BAABER
ABREFEE -—RBAER
FRAREREXRTABRE
AB-FABENBAERYL
EMSEBA E2ENBAE:

FE=—RAEEERERTATH
R AEFERFE
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 22 BIRREEREMITAQNFE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (#)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurement (Continued) (c) AFEFEE)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () BRAFHEIAEZZHEERSE
value (Continued) &(E&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) A FEZR(E)

Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2024 categorised into

AVEFEN2024F128318 28 A

Fair value at
31 December

2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
20245

12A31H

ZAVE £-% FZR E=R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®TR AR%TR AR%ETx

Recurring fair value REMATHETE
measurements
Other financial assets: HEEMEE:
— Investment in unlisted securies — &k EZEHHHE 1,774 = 1,774 =
Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2023 categorised into
AFEER2023F12A31HDE A
Fair value at
31 December
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
14202345
12A31H
ZrYE F—H E_, F=H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR
Recurring fair value REEQNLETE
measurements
Other financial assets: B E@EE:
— Investment in unlisted securies — &k EAAHHHE 1,511 = 1,511 =
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Confinued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period in which they occur.

Principal and returns of Investment in unlisted
securities are not guaranteed. The Group invested
in investment funds which holds a combination of
term deposits, securities and futures. Fair value of
Level 2 investment funds were recognized based
on the periodic reports from investment funds.

23 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2024 and
2023 not provided for in the consolidated financial statements
were as follows:

BA %5 80 2R P E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

BEEREEREMIAQNTE

(%)

22

(c) AFEFEE)
() BAFEIEZEHMEERE
& (4&)

NFESR (B)

H Z=2024F 128318 L F & -
BB — & 7 M e
MEmE ANERE =R AE
ErHRBNELEESR RS
HAERATEERBESSR
2z

RERFLMESFZAS RE
B ERE A ERBIRENSF
EEHER B kHgds
MREES -F_HREES
MAFENREREESHNTE
HASR & P AERR -

23 RiE

RER & B IS TR N R 5T 3 2 1R20244F &
2023F12A31H RKBITE AR AN T

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Contracted for 23] 4) 1,756 2,196
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 24 EXEBARS

TRANSACTIONS

(@) Name and relationship with related parties

Name of party
BB B8

RS A B R EEAE

Relationship with the Group
BRAKEEF

Central China Real Estate Limited (“CCRE”)
(together with its subsidiaries, “CCRE Group”)

BEEMERMNARAR ([EEHME])
(EREMBAR 5 EEBESE])

Central China New Life Limited (“Central China New Life")
(together with its subsidiaries, “Central China New Life Group”)

BREFETERAR ([BEFEE])
(EREMBAR Sl [EEFEEEE])

Henan Drawin Technology Industry Group Co. Ltd (“Drawin”)
(together with its subsidiaries, (“‘Drawin Group”)

AEEREEMREXRSBEERAR ([ER])
(CEREMBAR sifE [E£REE])

Taigian County Jianrun Urban Development Co., Ltd.
(“Taigian County Jianrun”)
ARFEENTERAERAR ([ARIEEHE])

Puyang Jiancheng Development Co., Ltd.
(“Puyang Jiancheng”)
BEEMERBR AR (DESEM])

Company controlled by the ultimate
controlling shareholder, Mr. Wu Po
Sum

B AR AR R BA IR AR S AR 1 1l 2

R

Company controlled by the ultimate
controlling shareholder, Mr. Wu Po
Sum

B AR PR AR SR BA IR AR S AR 1 Il 2

NG|

Company controlled by the ultimate
controlling shareholder, Mr. Wu Po
Sum

R AR IR AR R BA TR AR S AR 45 1l 2
NG|

A joint venture of CCRE Group

EEMESENSERE

A joint venture of CCRE Group

EEMESENS LR
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(b)

E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M58 R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

24 EXEBAXRS ®)

Significant related party transactions (b) EXBEBRIRS
In addition to the related party information disclosed BRRGEBHRREMESNIRED
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Bl 5 B RN NE B R E £20244F
Group entered into the following related party 122A3MB L FEFTL A TEE A X
transactions during the year ended 31 December 2024. Z)°
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
The Group rEE Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k23 ARET T ARET T
Licensing fee to CCRE Group ZEXMEEBENTFTER (i) 17,917 15,000
Acquisition of right-of-use HEX£WESEWE
assets from CCRE Group EREEE - 6,950
Receiving other miscellaneous BHEH A BB HA4L
services from related parties R 1,030 4,611
Note: Haz
(i) Licensing fee (i) FFAIEMA

On 13 May 2021, the Company and CCRE entered into a
license agreement (the “Trademark Licensing
Agreement”) in respect of “3E %" (“Jianye”) and related
trademarks for an initial term of ten years after the listing
date. Pursuant to the license agreement, licensing fees
are charged by CCRE to the Company since 31 May
2021, the listing date of the Company in the following
manner: (i) for the first three years: RMB15,000,000 per
annum; (ii) for the fourth to sixth year: RMB20,000,000
per annum; (iii) for the seventh to tenth year:
RMB25,000,000 per annum, if applicable, calculated on a
pro-rated basis for less than an entire calendar year.
Neither CCRE nor the Group has the right to unilaterally
terminate the Trademark Licensing Agreement.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
accrued licensing fee of RMB17,917,000 (2023:
RMB15,000,000) pursuant to the license agreement,
which was included in “other operating expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

R202146F5 8130 @ A QR EEE
EVEBIZEIRBBAEZEN
Fral e (AR HEl) 98
FHE T H BB F o RIBRT
Al g EEME ] 52021658
318 (AR &E LM AB)EBEBMN
TAHRKEGFATER: () =F:
&4 AR #15,000,0007T : (i) & 7
FEFENF FF ARE20,000,000
T (i) BEEEE+FE FFAR
#25,000,0007T ° % i — fE 5 &
BE BEFAIEBIZLHIGE-
M E AN Y A B D AR
IEPIE R Al s o

H E20245F12A31B I E - A&
ERBRT Al R IRET Al B AR
17,917,0007T (20234F : A R ¥
15,000,0007T) ' Bt ARG EBEE
[HAabgam] -
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 24 EXBEBAXS ®)
TRANSACTIONS (cContinued)
(c) Balance with related parties (c) EEEEEEA MR
2024 2023
The Group REH 20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARBT T
Amounts due from: PE W FRIE
Non-trade related: FEZIEE -
CCRE Group and its joint ventures and Z¥EMEELEB N E AL %
associates 3= /NC 5,129 4,419
Amounts due to: B RRIE
Trade related: B 2k
Central China New Life Group BEFEES 39,106 38,629
CCRE Group EEMESE 8,697 5,245
Drawin Group HERE 1,000 =
48,803 43,874
Contract liabilities to related parties: BB S SN EE:
Trade related: B SR
CCRE Group and its joint ventures and E¥iESEB RHE A& B
associates A ANNG] - 1,000
Lease liabilities to CCRE Group EEMEEENHEEERE: 2,780 4,796
All the balances are unsecured, interest-free and payable FEEHAERF 28 BAREX
on demand. X fte
Trade-related amounts due from related parties are in FEW A& T 2 & 5 MR kI8 Ty B [m)
relation to provision of project management services to MESRHEMERERBEEE E
related parties. Trade-related amounts due to Central NEENMEETEB 2B FHEERE
China New Life Group include collection of service fees PRERBEMASBEEFPIREREE
on behalf of Jianye Property Management for its RO BR 5 1 A2 3 W) 5% B 38 WERAR
provision of property management services to the %5 o

customers of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
L F2024F 125315 IEFIE (UARESE)

24 EXEBAXRS ®)

(c) Balance with related parties (Continued) (c) EHEEEERHIEEER(E)
2024 2023
The Company YN 2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARBT T
Amount due from subsidiaries FE WMt B A Bl RRIR
— non-current —IERH 1,210,119 1,027,075
— current — nE 859 252,530
Lease liabilities to CCRE Group EEWERENHESRE: 190 187
(d) Key management compensation (d) FEEBEASHMH

Compensations for key management other than those

REBERMETZCESHMITEE

for directors as disclosed in note 7 is set out below: EABFHMETI AT :
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

Salaries and other short-term employee # < & E b5 B B & F

benefits 3,178 3,593
Equity settled share-based payment PARE 25 45 B AR 10 2 19 5K 408 1,316
Total &&F 3,586 4,909

Total remuneration is included in “personnel cost” (see
note 5(b)).

et ATABRA] (RKE
5(b)) °
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (cContinued)

218

(e)

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

The related party transactions in respect of licensing fees
to CCRE Group, acquisition of right-of-use assets from
CCRE Group and receiving other miscellaneous services
from related parties disclosed in note 24(b) constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules are provided in sections “Connected
transactions” and “Continuing connected transactions” of
the Directors’ Report except those transactions which
are exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules as they are below the de minimis
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

24 EXEBAXRS #)

(e)

RRERZEBEz LHRRZER
i3

WRhAEERBESBEXOFAE
A -BEXEENREERREERRA
128 Bt 77 M5 B B L A R TR AR A% (PR A
24(b) W) BB A LR ZEKR LT
HRABUAERENBER S LA
ER 5 ERAIF14AERER
BEENSENETERE [MERS]
RIFEHERS | ME - ERER
L14AT6(1) fRE FRARIR AT EH %
P ETRAIE4AEHRBERE D
BRI
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25 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 25 AEEBHMBERRR
FINANCIAL POSITION
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaF AR®B T ARBTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I ER N 895 1,581
Interests in subsidiaries NNk 24(c) 1,210,119 1,027,075
Other financial assets HihemEE 13 1,774 1,511
1,212,788 1,030,167
Current assets REEE
Amount due from subsidiaries FE UL B B & B 5B 24(c) 859 252,530
Cash and cash equivalents RekRESEFED 2,058 871
e e SN 293401
Current liabilities RBAE
Other payables H A fE < FRIE 2,046 3,405
Dividend payables FET AR B - 124,880
Lease liabilities HEAE 737 690
2,783 128,975
Netcurrentassets = *®HEFE 184 124426
Total assets less current HEERRBERE
liabilities 1,212,922 1,154,593
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25 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 25 NRIEBHEHMBERRIR 2
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR¥T T ARBET T
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 190 909
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEA G - 2
190 911
NET assets EEFE 1,212,732 1,153,682
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#HE
Share capital [N 21(a) 32,204 30,614
Reserves i 21(d) 1,180,528 1,123,068
TOTAL EQUITY S 1,212,732 1,153,682
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on N2025FE3 A24H EE = ik RIS ET
24 March 2025. o
Wu Po Sum Hu Bing
HER B K
Chairman and non-executive director Executive Director
TEFHHTEE HITEF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE 26
REPORTING PERIOD

Based on our audit procedures, we have not identified any
non-adjusting events after the reporting period that would have
a significant impact on the financial statements.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 27
NEW STANDARDS AND

INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT

YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of new and amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which
may be relevant to the Group.

B ZE2024F 12318 IFF/E (XA RESIE)

HMEHRIFRBEE

REBERMNB R HAILAREIREMA
RBESHREHYBRRELEATEN
FRAEERE-

HZ2024512831BLLEERBE
MBI RE MRS A - IHE
BIRREVRELENTE

HEAMBRERTZEARAL BEES
fAEE BMmNREE2024F12A318 (5
JE 18 R AR Z B 3 4 74 AN B 7 R R SR A O R
Rl RS ET2E R - B IR LA TN Al e B AR £ [
BEAE-

Effective for

accounting

periods

beginning on

or after

RT5 HE

ZEBRI

SITHBER

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027

BEREMBMEERNFE8S A B K 25 R 1%E=E 20271 H1H

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027

BERMEMEERE195  FARZTE LN E L AIH 15 5% 2027F1 818

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: 1 January 2026
disclosures “Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial instruments”
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Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

1 January 2026
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Amendments to HKAS 21, The effect to changes in foreign exchange rates 1 January 2025
“Lack of Exchangeability”

BRI ERFE219 (B AR) [EXLSENTE (G Al L2 202541718

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
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CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « FIREZZFRA T )

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M IR R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 — (Expressed in Renminbi)
B 22024F 12310 1IFFZ (KA R#SE)
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024 (Continued)

The application of HKFRS 18 is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial positions or performance of
the Group but may affect the presentations and disclosures of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Group is in
the process of making a detailed assessment of the impact of
HKFRS18. Except for the HKFRS 18, so far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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( 2024 ANNUAL REPORT « —E - [UfF£ R

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MEBRHEE

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated %34 2 45 bA M AR 15 AR 3R 45 By it 69 L % A L 49 /K
assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial S£E&EAESBREEHFAEE BEMEZN
years prepared on the basis as hereunder stated is as set out below: I Z 50T :

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS ZE¥E
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 202145 20204

RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETRE ARBTT ARBTET ARBTIT ARETRT

Revenue WA 252,026 468,377 605,679 1,301,449 1,152,082
Profit before taxation B 31 Bl & 93,765 247,219 403,562 1,012,878 912,337
Income tax Fris i (20,547) (45,982) (99,662)  (242,723)  (230,867)
Profit for the year FEHF 73,218 201,237 303,900 770,155 681,470
Attributable to: AT EEAG -
Equity shareholders of ZAN/NGIE Ei i e

the Company 65,131 198,571 303,900 770,155 681,470
Non-controlling interests ~ FE# A% #E 25 8,087 2,666 NATEA NATHEE NATERB
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CENTRAL CHINA MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED « FIREZZFRA T )

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MEBHIBE

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY #Z&EE  BER#EXS
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTIT ARETFIT ARETFIT ARETT
Assets BE
Non-current assets EMENEEE 40,334 42,930 42,670 50,575 35,011
Current assets RBEAE 3,052,348 3,082,641 2,650,766 2,844,456 1,640,040
Total assets LEEMAE 3,092,682 3,125,571 2,693,436 2,895,031 1,675,051
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities mENAE (542,454)  (702,341)  (514,865)  (573,793)  (662,588)
Non-current liabilities EmBELE (642) (4,015) (779) (1,609) (5,071)
Total liabilities =R t.t (543,096)  (706,356)  (515,644)  (575,402)  (667,659)
Net assets BEE 2,549,586 2,419,215 2,177,792 2,319,629 1,007,392
Equity s
Total equity attributable N B HEZE AR
to equity shareholders JEfG R 42 EE
of the Company 2,538,833 2,416,549 2,177,792 2,319,629 1,007,392
Non-controlling interests ~ FE1ZE A% #E 2 10,753 2666 NATEE NATHEA NATEB
Total equity R 2,549,586 2,419,215 2,177,792 2,319,629 1,007,392
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